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CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK
EXCHANGE OF HONG KONG LIMITED
(THE “STOCK EXCHANGE")

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to
accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which
a high investment risk may be attached than other
companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective
investors should be aware of the potential risks of
investing in such companies and should make the decision
to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small
and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities
traded on GEM may be more susceptible to high market
volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no
assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the
securities traded on GEM.

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock
Exchange take no responsibility for the contents of this
Annual Report, make no representation as to its accuracy or
completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for
any loss howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or
any part of the contents of this Annual Report.

This Annual Report, for which the directors (the “Directors”,
and each a “Director”) of Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings
Limited (the “"Company”) collectively and individually accept
full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the
Stock Exchange (the "GEM Listing Rules”) for the purpose of
giving information with regard to the Company. The Directors,
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that to the best
of their knowledge and belief the information contained in this
Annual Report is accurate and complete in all material respects
and not misleading or deceptive, and there are no other matters
the omission of which would make any statement herein or this
Annual Report misleading.

This Annual Report will remain on the “Latest Listed
Company Information” page of the GEM website at
http://www.hkgem.com for a minimum period of seven days
from the date of its publication and on the Company’s website
at http.//www.hangtaiyue.com.
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of Directors (the “Board”), | hereby
present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2021. During the year under review, the Group recorded revenue
of approximately HK$1,799,501,000 (2020: HK$1,050,847,000),
representing an increase of 71% as compared with that in
last year. The profit attributable to the shareholders (the
“Shareholders”) of the Company was approximately
HK$55,699,000 (2020: loss attributable to the Shareholders of
approximately HK$72,697,000).

OVERVIEW

During the year under review, the Group continued to adopt
a diversified business development strategy and the principal
activities of the Group were (i) mobile internet cultural business
and provision of IT services; (ii) provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia; (iii) money lending business; and (iv) assets
investments business.

Concord-Linked Limited (the “CL Borrower”), previously a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary owned as to 51% by the Company,
as the borrower, and Mr. Wong Jing Shong, as the lender (the
“CL Lender”), entered into a loan agreement on 4 September
2020 (the “CL Loan Agreement”) for the granting of the loan
in the sum of HK$30,000,000 (the “CL Loan”). As one of the
conditions precedent for the CL Lender to advance the CL Loan
to the CL Borrower under the CL Loan Agreement, the Company
executed the share mortgage dated 11 September 2020 (the
“CL Share Mortgage”) in favour of the CL Lender in securing
the repayment obligation of the CL Borrower under the CL Loan
Agreement, under which the Company mortgaged, charged and
assigned to the CL Lender 51 ordinary shares in the CL Borrower
beneficially owned by the Company (the “CL Mortgaged
Shares”), which represented 51% of the total issued share
capital of the CL Borrower, and the dividends payable under the
CL Mortgaged Shares.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
ERBES
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
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The CL Loan became mature on 4 September 2021 and on
16 December 2021, the Group received a letter from the legal
representatives of the CL Lender that owing to the CL Borrower’s
failure to repay the CL Loan and the interest accrued thereon,
the CL Lender has exercised its rights pursuant to the terms of
the CL Share Mortgage and executed an instrument of transfer
to transfer the CL Mortgaged Shares to the CL Lender on 14
December 2021, which resulted in a forced sale of the CL
Mortgaged Shares that the Company mortgaged, charged and
assigned to the CL Lender in favour of the CL Lender in securing
the repayment obligation of the CL Borrower under the CL Loan
Agreement (the “Forced Sale”).

Prior to the completion of the Forced Sale on 14 December
2021, the CL Borrower was owned as to 51% by the Company
and 49% by the CL Lender. Upon completion of the Forced Sale,
the CL Mortgaged Shares were no longer beneficially owned
by the Company, the CL Borrower and its subsidiaries (the “CL
Borrower Group”) ceased to be subsidiaries of the Company
and the financial results of the CL Borrower Group ceased to be
accounted for in the consolidated financial statements of the
Group.

The CL Borrower Group was loss-making and was in a net
liabilities position for the previous two financial years ended 31
December 2019 and 2020.

The Group considers that the Forced Sale is instead an
opportunity for the Group to cut its share of the loss and cash
outflow suffered by the CL Borrower Group, reallocate the
Group’s resources to focus on other existing businesses of the
Group with an aim to developing and enhancing other existing
businesses of the Group and is in the interest of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole. Details of the Forced Sale are set
out in the announcements of the Company dated 27 September
2021, 3 November 2021, 13 December 2021 and 16 December
2021.
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During the year under review, the Group was engaged in the
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia through its
two venues located in Victoria, Australia, namely the Balgownie
Estate Vineyard Resort & Spa Yarra Valley (“"Balgownie”)
and Cleveland Winery Resort & Events (“Cleveland”), until
Cleveland was disposed of by the Group in May 2021. The
revenue generated by the Group from this business segment for
the year under review improved as compared with that in last
year due to the closure of the resorts of the Group from March
2020 to November 2020 as a result of the Coronavirus Disease
2019 (“COVID-19") lockdown, whereas during the year under
review, Balgownie stayed open for most of the time except for
several lockdown periods (i.e. 6 days in February 2021; 22 days
from May to June 2021; 12 days in July 2021; and 85 days from
August 2021 to October 2021) and Cleveland was only closed in
the first lockdown period in February 2021 before its disposal by
the Group in May 2021.

The state of Victoria announced that it would abandon almost
all COVID-19-related restrictions from about 24 November 2021,
when it reaches the vaccination rate of 90% for people aged 12
and older; however, restrictions on those who are unvaccinated
are expected to continue throughout 2022. Although the
reintroduction of indoor density limits by the government of
the state of Victoria effected in early January 2022 regarding
COVID-19 had minimal impact on Balgownie, as there had
been an outbreak of the Omicron variant of COVID-19 since
December 2021, Balgownie faced temporary workforce shortage
due to staff having to isolate themselves as a result of either
being infected by COVID-19 or being in close contact with
COVID-19 infected persons, resulting in a temporary reduction
of the operating capacity of Balgownie. Consumer confidence
had also been affected, leading to room bookings of Balgownie
being cancelled or corporate event bookings being postponed
or cancelled by customers in January 2022. Nevertheless, the
occupancy rate of Balgownie for the two months ended 28
February 2022 was approximately 71%, which has gradually
increased from approximately 44% for the year ended 31
December 2021, and the Directors expect that the situation will
continue to improve in the second quarter of 2022 as the Premier
of Victoria had announced the easing of restrictions of density
limits in hospitality and entertainment venues on 18 February
2022. The decision to ease these restrictions is attributable to
the number of infected people being admitted into hospitals
in February 2022 having been reduced by more than half, as
compared with that in January 2022.

CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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On 8 February 2021, the Group entered into two sale and
purchase agreements with certain independent third parties
in respect of (i) the business of Cleveland (the “Cleveland
Business”); (ii) the assets used in the Cleveland Business (except
for the stocks of wine); and (iii) the site at which the Cleveland
Business operated (collectively, the “Cleveland Disposals”),
at an aggregate consideration of AUD4,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$23,803,000). In light of the declining
economic growth in Australia and the global outbreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic, the demand for the services of Cleveland
had decreased since the first quarter of 2020, and such decrease
was expected to continue until the first quarter of 2021. In view
of the above and taking into account that Cleveland had not
been performing well over the past two years, the Directors
considered that the Cleveland Disposals would provide a good
opportunity for the Group to re-allocate its resources to the
development of Balgownie, which was likely to achieve a more
rapid recovery due to its competitive advantages, including
its geographical location, which is in an area popular among
tourists.

The Cleveland Disposals were completed on 5 May 2021, upon
which the assets and the financial results of Cleveland ceased
to be accounted for in the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Details of the Cleveland Disposals are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 February 2021.

The Group's assets investment business continued to improve
during the year under review and it was primarily attributable to
the combined effects of (i) the increase in the Group's share of
the profit of one of the Group’s associates from approximately
HK$6,495,000 for the year ended 31 December 2020 to
approximately HK$24,023,000 for the year ended 31 December
2021; and (ii) the loss of approximately HK$9,034,000 resulted
from the Group's disposals of 81,378,000 shares in Town Health
International Medical Group Limited, a company whose shares
are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
3886) (“Town Health”) in March 2021, which was absent
during the year ended 31 December 2020.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the global economy is expected to remain volatile
and uncertain amid the Russo-Ukrainian War and the COVID-19
pandemic. It is vital for the Group to maintain its financial health
and resilience to overcome any challenges that may arise in
the future. In order to improve its financial performance and
generate greater value for the Shareholders, the Group had
completed the Cleveland Disposals in May 2021, which would
not only allow the Group to reduce the costs required for it to
run its business in the provision of hospitality and related services
in Australia, but also enable it to redirect its resources to the
development of Balgownie, which is expected to achieve a more
rapid recovery due to its competitive advantages, such as its
geographical location which is situated in an area popular among
tourists.
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In relation to the mobile internet cultural business and
provision of IT services, in view of the continuous growth of
and increasing adoption of technologies in the retail commerce
and e-commerce markets in Indonesia, and the Group’s plan to
expand the customer base of Walletku (a payment application
and an e-commerce platform based in Indonesia), the Group
considers that this business segment will have tremendous
growth potential and will continue to generate revenue for the
Group as (i) Indonesia is the world’s fourth largest smartphone
market with a population of approximately 270 million people
and over 60% of its population is equipped with a smartphone;
(i) currently over 50% of Indonesia’s population is unbanked due
to geographical and infrastructural barriers and hence there is
a significant population requiring some form of digital payment
solution; and (iii) the COVID-19 pandemic has seen a surge in
digital adoption among consumers and an accelerated growth of
digital payments and e-commerce.

Going forward, the Group will continue to carry on its existing
businesses by formulation and implementation of its own
business plans and strategies and leveraging its own business
model, competitiveness and strengths so as to develop, maintain
and enhance its existing businesses, which will be viable and
sustainable and will be able to create value and investment
return for shareholders of the Company.

APPRECIATION

I would like to take this opportunity to express my gratitude to all
valuable shareholders, investors and clients for their support, and
also my thanks to all the staff for their efforts and contributions
to the Group.

Ng Ting Ho
Chairman

20 April 2022
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE R am Mo

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the principal activities
of the Group were (i) mobile internet cultural business and
provision of IT services; (ii) provision of hospitality and related
services in Australia; (iii) money lending business; and (iv) assets
investments business.

The profit of the Group during the year under review was
approximately HK$10,841,000 (2020: loss of approximately
HK$104,436,000), and such turnaround was mainly due to
the combined effects of (i) the increase in the Group’s revenue
net of cost of sales from approximately HK$109,966,000
for the year ended 31 December 2020 to approximately
HK$180,762,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021,
representing an increase of approximately 64%; (ii) the gain of
approximately HK$79,013,000 recognised by the Group for the
year ended 31 December 2021 resulted from the Forced Sale of
the CL Mortgaged Shares by the CL Lender in December 2021,
representing 51% of the issued share capital of the CL Borrower,
after the CL Lender exercised his rights pursuant to the terms
of the CL Share Mortgage executed by the Company in favour
of the CL Lender as security of the CL loan of HK$30,000,000
granted by the CL Lender to the CL Borrower and executed
an instrument of transfer to transfer the CL Mortgaged Shares
to the CL Lender, as a result of the CL Borrower’s failure to
repay the CL Loan; (iii) the compensation paid by the insurance
company to the Group in relation to the fire damage to the
restaurant and the cellar door at Balgownie of approximately
HK$51,172,000 recognised for the year ended 31 December
2021 upon completion of reconstruction of such restaurant
and cellar door; (iv) the increase in the Group’s administrative
expenses from approximately HK$189,768,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2020 to approximately HK$294,472,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2021; and (v) the increase in the
Group's share of the profit of one of the Group’s associates from
approximately HK$6,495,000 for the year ended 31 December
2020 to approximately HK$24,023,000 for the year ended 31
December 2021.

Mobile internet cultural business and provision of IT
services

During the year under review, the Group’'s mobile internet
cultural business and provision of IT services recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$1,755,272,000 (2020: HK$1,014,554,000),
representing a growth of approximately 73%. The core IT
businesses of the Group include enterprise software applications,
mobile internet applications, mainframe downsizing, application
localisation and systems integration. The Group has experienced
a significant growth in its provision of IT services business during
the year ended 31 December 2021, as compared with the year
ended 31 December 2020, mainly due to the increase in the
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

demand for the Group’s IT services. In light of the outbreak
of the COVID-19 pandemic in the People's Republic of China
("PRC") in the first two months of 2020, the operation efficiency
of the Group’s provision of IT services business had been
adversely affected given that some of its staff had been put
under quarantine in their hometowns in the PRC and could not
return to the office to work or needed to work from home which
adversely affected the ability of the Group to deliver its services to
meet with its customers’ orders during the three months ended
31 March 2020. However, with the COVID-19 pandemic under
control in the PRC after the first quarter of 2020, the operation
efficiency of the Group’s provision of IT service business had
resumed to normal in April 2020, which allowed the Group to
meet the growth in the demand for its IT services.

On the other hand, in order to meet the increase in its service
demand as well as the new service requirements from its
customers (including the customers’ demand for more staff to be
assigned to the jobs), the Group had incurred substantial costs
on human resources during the period under review to retain
its existing employees and recruit new staff, while the salaries
of experienced IT professionals had already been driven up by
the strong demand in the market. As a result, the growth in the
revenue generated by the Group during the year under review
was outpaced by the increase in the aggregate salaries and
benefits of the technical staff incurred by the Group to cope with
the growth in the demand for its IT services.

The CL Borrower, previously a non-wholly-owned subsidiary
owned as to 51% by the Company, as the borrower, and Mr.
Wong Jing Shong, as the CL Lender entered into the CL Loan
Agreement for the granting of the CL Loan. As one of the
conditions precedent for the CL Lender to advance the CL Loan
to the CL Borrower under the CL Loan Agreement, the Company
executed the CL Share Mortgage in favour of the CL Lender in
securing the repayment obligation of the CL Borrower under
the CL Loan Agreement, under which the Company mortgaged,
charged and assigned to the CL Mortgaged Shares, which
represented 51% of the total issued share capital of the CL
Borrower, and the dividends payable under the CL Mortgaged
Shares.

The CL Loan became mature on 4 September 2021 and on
16 December 2021, the Group received a letter from the legal
representatives of the CL Lender that owing to the CL Borrower’s
failure to repay the CL Loan and the interest accrued thereon,
the CL Lender has exercised its rights pursuant to the terms of
the CL Share Mortgage and executed an instrument of transfer
to transfer the CL Mortgaged Shares to the CL Lender on 14
December 2021, which resulted in the Forced Sale.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE R am Mo

Prior to the completion of the Forced Sale on 14 December
2021, the CL Borrower was owned as to 51% by the Company
and 49% by the CL Lender. Upon completion of the Forced Sale,
the CL Mortgaged Shares were no longer beneficially owned
by the Company, the CL Borrower Group which was principally
engaged in the provision of IT services ceased to be subsidiaries
of the Company and the financial results of the CL Borrower
Group ceased to be accounted for in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group.

The CL Borrower Group was loss-making and was in a net
liabilities position for the previous two financial years ended 31
December 2019 and 2020. The Directors consider that the Forced
Sale is an opportunity for the Group to cut its share of the loss
and cash outflow suffered by the CL Borrower Group, reallocate
the Group's resources to focus on other existing businesses of the
Group with an aim to developing and enhancing other existing
businesses of the Group. Details of the Forced Sale are set out in
the announcements of the Company dated 27 September 2021,
3 November 2021, 13 December 2021 and 16 December 2021.

Upon completion of the Forced Sale, the Group recognised gain
on disposal of subsidiaries of approximately HK$79,013,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

The Group commenced the operation of the retail commerce
through network media business under the mobile internet
cultural business and provision of IT services segment after the
completion of its subscription for 10,200 ordinary shares of TNG
Indonesia Holdings Limited (“TNG Holdings"”), representing 51%
of the issued share capital of TNG Holdings upon completion
as enlarged by the allotment and issue of such shares, at the
subscription price of US$1,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$7,800,000) on 9 March 2021. TNG Holdings holds 79%
of the issued shares of a company incorporated in Singapore,
which holds 99% of the issued shares of PT TNG Wallet
Indonesia (“TNG Indonesia”), which is a company incorporated
in Indonesia with limited liability and an investment holding
company and 1% of the issued shares of TNG Indonesia is held
by TNG Holdings. TNG Indonesia holds 49% of the issued shares
of PT Walletku Indompet Indonesia (“TNG Indompet”), which
is a company incorporated in Indonesia with limited liability. As
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 9 March 2021,
51% of the issued shares of TNG Indompet was held by an
individual (the “Indonesian Investor”) who had pledged such
interest in favour of TNG Indonesia pursuant to the contractual
arrangements (the “Contractual Arrangements”), which were
put in place as a result of certain foreign ownership restrictions in
connection with the business activity of TNG Indompet under the
then Indonesian laws and regulations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Following changes in the laws in Indonesia under which the
relevant foreign restriction applicable to TNG Indompet having
been removed and foreign shareholders are allowed to directly
hold 100% of the interest in an Indonesian company that is
engaged in the business field of digital platform and/or web
portal/site with commercial purposes, provided that such
company shall have at least two or more shareholders and
the minimum paid-up capital to be held by the second largest
shareholder in such company shall be 10,000,000 Indonesian
Rupiahs, the respective parties to the Contractual Arrangements
had entered into a number of agreements to (i) change the
shareholding structure of TNG Indompet to the effect that
the Indonesian Investor shall transfer his 1,571 shares in TNG
Indompet to TNG Indonesia and 10 shares in TNG Indompet
to TNG Holdings (collectively, the “Share Transfers”); and (ii)
unwind the Contractual Arrangements. As at 3 June 2021,
the Share Transfers had been completed and the Contractual
Arrangements had been terminated and unwound. Following
the completion of the Share Transfers and as at the date of
this Annual Report, TNG Indonesia holds 3,090 shares of TNG
Indompet, representing approximately 99.68% of the equity
interests of TNG Indompet, and TNG Holdings holds 10 shares of
TNG Indompet, representing approximately 0.32% of the equity
interests of TNG Indompet. Further details of the Share Transfers
and the termination of the Contractual Arrangements are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 3 June 2021.

TNG Indompet is principally engaged in (i) Walletku Digital
application, which is an electronic wallet for deposit of money
as well as offline and online payment to merchants in Indonesia;
(i) sales of products of Indosat Ooredoo Hutchison (formerly
known as Indosat Ooredoo), which is the second largest mobile
network operator in Indonesia by market share; and (iii) Walletku
E-commerce, which is an online shopping platform in Indonesia.

Walletku Digital

Walletku Digital is a mobile application which has the function
of an electronic wallet and payment tool that facilitate digital
financial transactions. Through the Walletku Digital application,
the Group's customers can make online and offline payments to
the merchants who participant in the Walletku Digital application.
Walletku Digital also allows purchase of credits and mobile data,
payment of bills, transfer of electronic money to other electronic
wallet and payment for online shopping (including both third
party online shopping platforms and TNG Indompet’s own
Walletku E-Commerce platform as detailed below).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE R am Mo

Indosat Segment

According to an agreement dated 25 February 2021 (the
“Indosat Agreement”), TNG Indompet has been appointed as
an exclusive cluster management partner of Indosat Ooredoo
Hutchison in Denpasar and Gilikangkung in Bali until 30 June
2022 and the Indosat Agreement is renewable subject to
meeting certain conditions such as the sales performance of
Indosat Ooredoo Hutchison’s products by TNG Indompet. As
a cluster management partner, TNG Indompet is required to
market products of Indosat Ooredoo Hutchison including starter
packs for first time users of Indosat Ooredoo Hutchison, data and
vouchers for top-up of SIM card credits and extend the period of
Indosat Ooredoo Hutchison SIM cards. TNG Indompet conducts
the sales of the products of Indosat Ooredoo Hutchison through
co-operation with over 2,000 traditional physical sales points and
the Walletku Digital application for online sales.

Walletku E-commerce

Walletku E-commerce is a newly-developed online shopping
platform which could be accessed through Walletku Digital’s
mobile application that allows all kind of merchants to sell
their products online, including the participating merchants
of Walletku Digital. TNG Indompet has partnered with several
logistic service providers for the shipping of products purchased
via Walletku E-commerce.

From 10 March 2021 to 31 December 2021, the Group recorded
a revenue of approximately HK$149,610,000 (2020: Nil) from its
new retail commerce through network media business.

Hospitality and Related Services in Australia

During the year under review, the Group was engaged in the
hospitality business mainly through its two venues located in
Victoria, Australia, namely Balgownie and Cleveland (collectively,
the “Resorts”), until Cleveland was disposed of by the Group in
May 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Balgownie, which is located in the Yarra Valley, is a popular
winery and tourism destination in Victoria, Australia. The resort
was the winner of “Resort Style Accommodation of the Year”
awarded by Tourism Accommodation Australia (Victoria) four
years in a row from 2016 to 2019. In addition, the head chef and
executive chef of Balgownie's newest restaurant were the finalist
of Tourism Accommodation Australia (Victoria) for Best Chef
in 2021 and the winner of Tourism Accommodation Australia
(Victoria) for Best Chef in 2019 respectively, which ensure
the high quality of the resort’s food and beverage offerings.
Balgownie consists of a piece of freehold land of approximately
29 hectares with a 7-hectare vineyard growing Pinot and
Chardonnay wine grapes, and offers 70 luxury accommodation
rooms, including restaurant, cellar door, conference and function
facilities, health club facilities and day spa, which could generate
additional income from the guests.

Balgownie is partnering with Australia’s largest day spa brand,
Endota Spa (the “Spa Partner”), which has a network of
over 100 day spas in Australia, for the brand new day spa in
Balgownie. Pursuant to the agreement entered into between the
Group and the Spa Partner, the Group will provide the premises
and the Spa Partner will contribute the capital required to fit
out the spa. The Group will receive rental income from the Spa
Partner on a percentage of the revenue generated by the Spa
Partner. In addition, the Group will also sell the Spa Partner’s
products and services in the spa venues to generate additional
income related to the day spa. The day spa is expected to open
by the end of the second quarter of 2022 and in the second
half of 2022, the Group plans to launch a new “Wellness
Retreat” product/service with the Spa Partner and shall be the
first to provide the product/service in the Yarra Valley. The new
“Wellness Retreat” will introduce wellness packages/experiences
that include (i) holistic or alternative healing; (ii) nutrition and
nourishment by the provision of curated menus for a healthy
diet; (iii) calming activities such as meditation, yoga, pilates,
gigong; and (iv) medical/rehabilitation spa experiences subject to
the approval and availability of medical/health practitioners. The
Group expects to leverage on the brand and client base of the
Spa Partner and gain new visitations in the leisure and corporate
segment, and attract more customers to Balgownie.
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MANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E%F FIT FIH:E& Tﬁ

In June 2020, there was a fire that had destroyed the restaurant
and cellar door of Balgownie. The Group had insurance coverage
for rebuilding the restaurant and the cellar door. While the
reconstruction was underway, the Group set up a temporary
restaurant and cellar door to provide dining and wine tasting
facilities to the in-house guests staying at Balgownie. The Group
opened the new restaurant to the in-house guests of Balgownie
upon completion of the reconstruction in December 2021. Upon
completion of such reconstruction, the amount of compensation
paid by the insurance company to the Group in relation to such
fire damage in the amount of approximately HK$51,172,000
was recognised as other income of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2021. The new restaurant, like the restaurant
previously destroyed, began to open to the public in February
2022, which allows more income to be generated from external
customers for the Group.

The Group intends to brand Balgownie as an integrated resort-
based travel destination for traveling and event-hosting resort.
In February 2022, the new restaurant began to accept bookings
from off-site customers in addition to in-house guests staying at
Balgownie to enjoy dining experience. With the new restaurant
(together with the existing function centre) reaching a maximum
capacity of approximately 270 customers, the Group will also
provide banquet service such as hosting weddings or events to
broaden the Group’s income stream. The Group believes that the
ambience of the restaurants is important to attract customers to
host lavish events and improve their dining experience.

Cleveland is located in Lancefield, Macedon Ranges. The resort
includes a piece of freehold land of approximately 40 hectares
comprising a 3-hectare vineyard growing cool-climate Pinot,
Chardonnay and a sparkling wine grape, 50 ensuite rooms, a
restaurant and extensive conference facilities, including several
lounges and breakout areas.

On 8 February 2021, the Group entered into two sale and
purchase agreements with certain independent third parties in
respect of the Cleveland Disposals, at an aggregate consideration
of AUD4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$23,803,000).
In light of the declining economic growth in Australia and the
global outbreak of COVID-19, the demand for the services of
Cleveland had decreased since the first quarter of 2020, and
such decrease was expected to continue until the first quarter
of 2021. In view of the above and taking into account that,
Cleveland had not been performing well over the past two years,
the Directors considered that the Cleveland Disposals would
provide a good opportunity for the Group to re-allocate its
resources to the development of Balgownie, which was likely to
achieve a more rapid recovery due to its competitive advantages,
including its geographical location, which is in an area popular
among tourists.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Cleveland Disposals were completed on 5 May 2021, upon
which the assets and the financial results of Cleveland ceased
to be accounted for in the consolidated financial statements of
the Group. Details of the Cleveland Disposals are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 February 2021.

Despite the disposal of Cleveland and the implementation of
a series of government restrictions to combat COVID-19, the
revenue of the Group from its segment of provision of hospitality
and related services improved to approximately HK$37,457,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021 as compared with
approximately HK$33,946,000 for the year ended 31 December
2020, mainly due to the gradual relaxation of the government
restrictions and the fewer number of days the Resorts was
required to be closed during the year ended 31 December 2021.
No impairment loss on property, plant and equipment was
recognised during the year under review, whereas during the year
ended 31 December 2020, impairment loss on property, plant
and equipment of approximately HK$8,512,000 was recognised
as the recoverable amount of the buildings of the Resorts was
lower than the carrying amount.

The Resorts were closed from time to time during the period
from March 2020 to November 2020 as a result of the COVID-19
lockdown, whereas during the year ended 31 December 2021,
Balgownie stayed open for most of the time except for several
lockdown periods (i.e. 6 days in February 2021; 22 days from
May to June 2021; 12 days in July 2021; and 85 days from
August 2021 to October 2021) and Cleveland was only closed
during the first lockdown period in February 2021 before its
disposal by the Group in May 2021.

The global outbreak of COVID-19 has resulted in a reduction
in the demand for the services of the Resorts. In view of the
restrictions put in place by the Australian government to combat
COVID-19, the Group suspended the operation of the Resorts for
the first time on 30 March 2020. On 8 May 2020, the Australian
Prime Minister announced a three-step plan for reopening
Australia, which would be implemented by the state and territory
governments as they saw fit. The government of the state of
Victoria (the “Victorian Government”) announced the gradual
easing of the restrictions throughout Victoria with effect from
11:59 p.m. on 31 May 2020. In particular, tourist accommodation
may be re-opened to guests provided there were no shared
communal facilities, such as kitchens and bathrooms, and dine-
in service for restaurants, cafes and other hospitality businesses
may be resumed under certain restrictions and requirements,
including those on the number of patrons per enclosed space
and the spacing between the tables. The operation of the Resorts
was partially resumed in June 2020, which took place in stages
in line with the progress of the lifting of the restrictions by the
government.
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MANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E%F FIT FIH:E& Tﬁ

However, the resurgence of new COVID-19 cases on 7 July
2020 prompted the Victorian Government to reintroduce Stage
3 Stay at Home restrictions across the state of Victoria to help
slow the spread of COVID-19. With effect from 6 p.m. on 2
August 2020, the Victorian Government introduced Stage 4
restrictions for Melbourne, under which a curfew would be in
place from 8 p.m. to 5 a.m. every evening. While the curfews
were in operation, people were only allowed to leave their house
for work and essential health, care or safety reasons. Outside of
these hours, people were only allowed to leave their houses for
one of the following reasons: (i) to purchase food and necessary
supplies; (ii) to exercise; (iii) to care and health care; (iv) to work;
and (v) for personal reasons, such as visiting an intimate partner,
parenting arrangements, etc. (the “Outdoor Restrictions”).
From midnight on 6 August 2020, residents were encouraged
to stay at home unless for (a) shopping for food and supplies;
(b) receiving care and caregiving; (c) exercising and outdoor
recreation; and (d) studying and working. In view of these new
restrictions, the Group temporarily suspended the operation of
the Resorts again with effect from 9 July 2020 to 8 November
2020.

The Victorian Government announced the gradual easing of the
restrictions throughout Victoria with effect from 11:59 p.m. on
16 September 2020. Restrictions were eased to allow restaurants
and some outdoor entertainment venues to open. Restaurants
opened in a predominantly outdoor capacity, with a group limit
of 10 people, and density limits.

With effect from 11:59 p.m. on 27 October 2020, the Victorian
Government introduced stage 3 easing of restrictions for
Melbourne, under which restaurants and cafes were allowed to
open for outdoor and indoor seated service of food or drink,
subject to the limits on the number of customers and distance
between tables.

Subsequently, the Victorian Government has continued to impose
on-and-off lockdown measures from time to time depending
on the latest development of the COVID-19 pandemic. On 12
February 2021, the Victorian Government announced a five-
day “Circuit Breaker” lockdown with effect from 11:59 p.m.
on 12 February 2021 throughout all of Victoria and the Resorts
were fully closed from 12 February 2021 and were reopened on
18 February 2021. From 11:59 p.m. on 27 May 2021, a seven-
day “Circuit Breaker” lockdown was in place throughout all of
Victoria and Balgownie was fully closed from 28 May 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Victorian Government announced with effect from 11:59
p.m. on 10 June 2021, the Outdoor Restrictions would be
removed, and the travel limit from home would be increased
from 10 km to 25 km. Nevertheless, the increased travel limit
still prevented many people from travelling long distances and
therefore many bookings were cancelled. Balgownie remained
closed for an additional week and reopened on 18 June 2021.

A five-day lockdown with effect from 11:59 p.m. on 15 July
2021 was imposed throughout all of Victoria and Balgownie
was fully closed from 16 July 2021 and was reopened on 21 July
2021.

The Victorian Government announced with effect from 11:59
p.m. on 27 July 2021, bookings for accommodation would be
permitted for single households, intimate partners or single
bubbles.

From 11:59 p.m. on 5 August 2021, a seven-day lockdown was
implemented throughout all of Victoria and Balgownie was fully
closed from 5 August 2021. The lockdown was extended several
times and ended on 22 October 2021. Restrictions still remained
in place until the state reached 80% double vaccinated status,
which occurred on 29 October 2021. Balgownie was reopened
on 31 October 2021 and has remained open ever since.

All the above restrictions which spanned from early 2020 to
late 2021 have resulted in a significant decline in bookings
in tourism accommodation across the state of Victoria, and
Balgownie was also forced to remain closed for more than 200
days and 120 days in 2020 and 2021 respectively, resulting in
the underperformance of the Group’s business of hospitality
and related services in Australia for the financial years ended 31
December 2020 and 2021.

The Victorian Health Minister announced the reinstatement of
indoor density limits with effect from 11:59 p.m. on 6 January
2022, which include (i) indoor capacity limit of 1 person per
2 square metres, with seated service preferred; and (ii) indoor
dancefloors are discouraged, but not prohibited, while there is
no change to outdoor gathering settings. Notwithstanding the
above, as at the date of this Annual Report, Balgownie is allowed
and has remained open to in-house guests and the public since
the reinstatement of the limits.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE R am Mo

While the above measures of the Victorian Government regarding
COVID-19 had minimal impact on Balgownie, as there had been
an outbreak of the Omicron variant of COVID-19 since December
2021, Balgownie faced a temporary workforce shortage due
to staff having to isolate themselves as a result of either being
infected by COVID-19 or being in close contact with COVID-19
patients, resulting in a temporary reduction of the operating
capacity of Balgownie. Consumer confidence had also been
affected, leading to room bookings of Balgownie being cancelled
or corporate event bookings being postponed or cancelled by
customers in January 2022.

Nevertheless, the occupancy rate of Balgownie for the two
months ended 28 February 2022 was approximately 71%, which
has gradually increased from approximately 44% for the year
ended 31 December 2021, and the Directors expect that the
situation will continue to improve in the second quarter of 2022
as the Premier of Victoria has announced the density limits in
hospitality and entertainment venues will end and indoor dance
floors are set to reopen from 6:00 p.m. on 18 February 2022. The
decision to ease these restrictions is attributable to the number of
infected people being admitted into hospitals in February 2022
having been reduced by more than half, as compared with that
in January 2022.

Currently, Balgownie has 70 luxury rooms and a new restaurant
and there will be a rebranded day spa this year. In order to
stay competitive in the market, the Group will regularly review
and refine the interior design of Balgownie and enhance its
equipment and will arrange refurbishment if necessary.

Money Lending Business

The Group is engaged in the money lending business in Hong
Kong through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Mark Profit Finance
Limited (“Mark Profit”), which is a holder of a money lender’s
licence under the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). During the year under review, the Group
recorded interest income of approximately HK$6,772,000 (2020:
HK$2,045,000) from its money lending business, and interest
income of the Group increased mainly due to the increase in the
loans granted by the Group during the year under review. The
Group has been paying close attention to the market conditions
and will continue to monitor its resources to strive for the
development of its money lending business with prudent credit
procedures in accepting customers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Mark profit grants loans to both corporate and individual
customers as its target clients. Before entering into any loan
agreement or before granting any loan extension, the Group
carries out assessments of the potential borrower’s or borrower’s
ability to make repayments under the loan agreement and
have due regard to the outcome of the assessment in respect
of affordability. In carrying out the assessment, the Group
considers (i) the potential borrower’s or borrower’s current
income; (ii) the potential borrower’s or borrower’s ability to
make repayments under the loan agreement as they fall due over
the life of the loan agreement and (iii) without the repayments
having a significant adverse impact on the potential borrower’s
or borrower's overall financial situation. In addition, the Group
also considers (i) the total amount of the principal and interest
payable; (ii) the duration of the term for repayment of the
loan; (iii) the frequency and amounts of the repayments; (iv)
the interest rate; (v) purpose of obtaining the loan; (vi) the
employment or business of the potential borrower or borrower;
and (vii) current credit and financial information on the potential
borrower or borrower. For loan applications that pass the Group’s
credit assessment, the loan applications are subject to final
approval by the credit committee of the Group. Credit committee
members are appointed by the Board and the quorum of the
committee is at least 2 committee members.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 5 borrowers and
comprising both corporations and individuals; and the
Group's loans and loan interest receivable balance (net of
provision) amounted to approximately HK$49,816,000 (2020:
approximately HK$110,205,000), out of which approximately
HK$17,436,000 (representing approximately 35% of the total
loans and loan interest receivables of the Group) was due from
the largest borrower of the Group. As at 31 December 2021 and
2020, all loan receivables of the Group were unsecured.

As at 31 December 2021, the loans receivables had a fixed term
of 12 months (2020: 6 months to 12 months), with interest rates
being charged at from 7% to 12% per annum (2020: 7% to 9%
per annum).

The Group has recorded a provision for impairment loss on loan
and interest receivables of approximately HK$392,000 during
the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: HK$884,000). The
assessment of the Group's provision for impairment loss on
loan and interest receivables for the year ended 31 December
2021 was performed under the expected credit loss model in
accordance with HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments, details of which
are set out in note 22 to the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 December 2021.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE R am Mo

Internal control procedures

When Mark Profit is approached by potential borrowers for
the granting of loans, the designated officer of Mark Profit
will perform due diligence and credit assessment against the
potential borrowers and if applicable, the collaterals offered, such
as conducting background and other public searches, obtaining
identification documents, address proof, bank statements, tax
returns or financial statements. Loans will only be granted to
borrowers who can demonstrate capacity to repay, sound credit
history or can offer sufficient collaterals. Terms of the loans
(such as amount, interest rate and duration) will be determined
based on the prevailing market practices, taking into account
of the background of the potential borrowers and the results of
the credit assessments performed. The credit committee of the
Group will consider and approve the loan applications before the
entering into of the loan agreements with the borrowers. If the
grant of any proposed loan will constitute notifiable transaction
or connected transaction of the Company under the GEM Listing
Rules, such grant will be further subject to the consideration and
approval of the Board.

After the loans have been granted, the designated officer of
Mark Profit will monitor the repayment of the loans and interests
according to the terms of the loan agreements. Reminders will
be sent to the borrowers on regular basis to remind them of
their repayment obligations. If there is any default of the loan
agreements, the designated officer of Mark Profit will follow up
and negotiate with the borrowers for the repayment. If required,
legal advisers may be engaged to issue demand letters and/
or commence legal proceedings for recovery of the loans and
related payments from the borrowers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Assets Investments Business

During the year under review, the Group recorded a segment
profit from its assets investment business of approximately
HK$9,739,000 (2020: HK$5,157,000), and the change was
primarily attributable to the combined effects of (i) the increase
in the Group’s share of the profit of one of the Group’s
associates from approximately HK$6,495,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020 to approximately HK$24,023,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021; and (ii) the loss of approximately
HK$9,034,000 resulted from the Group's disposals of 81,378,000
shares in Town Health in March 2021, which was absent during
the year ended 31 December 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group recorded
fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss ("FVTPL") of approximately HK$345,000 (2020:
fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL of approximately
HK$2,409,000), which was mainly attributable to the fair value
gain of approximately HK$494,000 resulted from the Group’s
two unlisted investments. In addition, the Group recorded
fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") of approximately
HK$37,506,000 (2020: fair value gain on financial assets at
FVTOCI of approximately HK$1,660,000) for the year ended
31 December 2021, of which approximately HK$31,493,000
represented the unrealised loss on investment in equity
instrument designated at FVTOCI in relation to the 45,779,220
shares held by the Group in LEO Group Co., Ltd (“LEO"),
a company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 002131).

On 3 March 2021 and 10 March 2021, the Group disposed
of 4,000 shares and 81,374,000 shares in Town Health for an
aggregate cash consideration (excluding transaction costs) of
approximately HK$3,000 and HK$22,886,000, respectively, on
the open market of the Stock Exchange via Southbound Trading
of Shanghai-Hong Kong Stock Connect (the “TH Disposals”),
which resulted in an aggregate loss on disposal of financial assets
at FVTPL of approximately HK$9,034,000.

Details of the TH Disposals are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 10 March 2021.
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The Directors consider securities investments with a carrying
amount that accounts for more than 5% of the Group's
total assets as at 31 December 2021 as significant securities
investments of the Group. Details of the significant securities
investments of the Group as at 31 December 2021 are as

follows:

Name

1

Financial assets at FVTOC/

BAFEEBRMEF N
IkZ 2 BEE

LEO

B

Financial assets at FVTPL

RATFEEBRL IR EREE

Heals Healthcare (Asia) Limited
("Heals")

Heals Healthcare (Asia) Limited
([Heals ])

World Biotech Regenerative
Medical Group Limited
("World Biotech”)

REAMPRBLEREE
FfR 2 E]

([BRENMRBLER])

24

Principal activity Interest held
TEEK PR
Manufacturing and sale of 45,779,220
industrial and domestic shares
water pumps and (i.e. 0.68%)
internet services
IXRXRAKREER 45,779,220
SHE AR A8 MRS B fn
(810.68% )
Operations of a healthcare 159,720
technology platform  series B shares
(i.e. 7.69%)
BERERMTA 159,7208%
B R3IR 17
(817.69% )
Operation of a 50,000
biopharmaceutical drug shares
development centre, a (i.e. 4.65%)
production plant, and a
clinical centre
EE-RAMRBEENR 50,0008
Zh) - —HEERE R fn
R —RBRA A L (BN4.65% )

Investment
cost
RERA
HK$'000
THET

282,718

38,962

40,000

EERAREEBEASRER T _—F1+=
A=+—HEERBS%HNBLFRERNEE

MEBAZBHFRE RN

e =L ER

B AEBZEAZFREFBUT:

Percentage to

the Group's

total assets

HAEE

Fairvalue EE#EZ

AYE BO
HK$'000
FTAET

137,978 21.0%

38,996 5.9%

40,460 6.1%

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2021

Fair value change for
the year ended

31 December 2021
Bzo®B-o-F
+ZA=t-H
LEEZATEED

Unrealised loss on investment in
equity instrument designated
at FVTOCI of approximately
HK$31,493,000. No realised gain
was recorded during the year. No
dividend income was recognised
during the year.
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1,493,000/ T ° A F X

Iﬂﬁ@a ﬁWA°
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Unrealised gain on investment in
equity instrument designated
at FVTPL of approximately
HK$34,000. No realised gain
was recorded during the year. No
dividend income was recognised
during the year.

RERBATEEBERTIK
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Unrealised gain on investment in
equity instrument designated
at FVTPL of approximately
HK$460,000. No realised gain
was recorded during the year. No
dividend income was recognised

during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Prospects of the Group'’s significant securities investments
LEO

LEO is a company incorporated in the PRC with limited
liability, the shares of which are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 002131). LEO is principally engaged in
the manufacturing and sale of industrial and domestic pumps
and internet services including digital marketing business,
marketing strategy and innovation, media delivery and execution,
monitoring and optimisation of marketing results and precise
marketing, etc. Since the listing of the shares of LEO on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange, the business scope of LEO has
gradually expanded from a purely domestic pumps business in the
PRC to an industrial pump business in the PRC, covering almost
all the pump products in the entire pump industry in the country.
Given that the growth of the traditional pump manufacturing
business has stabilised, LEO has been actively seeking for a new
breakthrough in its strategic development and striving to explore
growth opportunities beyond the traditional pump industry, so
as to improve its profitability and develop new profit growth.
In 2014, LEO successfully expanded its principal business into
the internet service business through a series of acquisitions.
The internet services LEO provides include digital marketing
services and digital media agency services. In 2016, Leo formed
a partnership with a private investment institution in the PRC
to establish an equity investment fund. The fund specialises in
investment in startup companies in the internet industry as well
as established private companies that are looking to go public.
Based on LEQO’s announcement in relation to its predicted annual
results for 2021, it has predicted a net profit attributable to its
owners of approximately RMB780 million to RMB930 million
(2020: RMB4,772 million) for the year ended 31 December
2021, representing a decrease of approximately from 81% to
84% compared with that of the previous year. The decrease was
mainly attributable to the decrease of approximately RMB4,175
million in the fair value gain on financial assets during the year
ended 31 December 2021.

With regard to the prospects of LEO based on the published
information, the Directors noted that LEO had been actively
expanding its digital marketing services through both vertical and
horizontal integrations in recent years to capture the business
opportunities arising from the new internet-based interactive
entertainment pattern, which resulted in a growth in its revenue.

The Directors noted that LEO had received recognitions in the
market in recent years, being a sign of the success of LEO in its
business development.
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Heals

Heals (together with its subsidiaries the “Heals Group”) are
principally engaged in the operations of a healthcare technology
platform. The healthcare technology platform provides solutions
for its users to access and manage their healthcare from doctor
searching, making appointments and keeping medical records for
claiming medical insurance.

On 8 October 2021, the Group subscribed for 159,720 series B
shares of Heals, representing approximately 7.69% of the equity
interest of Heals and the investment cost of such investment was
approximately HK$38,962,000. As at 31 December 2021, the
fair value of this investment was approximately HK$38,996,000,
representing approximately 5.9% of the total assets of the Group
as at 31 December 2021.

The fair value of the Group’s investment in Heals as at 31
December 2021 was arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out by an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group, using the discounted cash flow
method, which is a generally accepted approach in the industry.
Assumptions used in the valuation include: (a) no material
change in the existing conditions which might adversely affect
the business of Heals; (b) the financial projection in respect of
Heals was prepared on a reasonable basis that reflects estimates
that have been arrived at after due and careful consideration by
the senior management of Heals; (c) the economic condition will
not deviate significantly from economic forecasts; (d) reliance
by the valuer on the assistance and information provided by the
Company; and (e) the information related to the valuation would
be made available to and reviewed by the valuer. Inputs including
(1) the business nature and financial reports of Heals; and (2)
reliable sources of market data were applied in the valuation.
There was neither significant change in the value of the inputs
and assumptions from those used in the valuation at the
acquisition date nor subsequent change to the valuation method
adopted.

With regard to the prospects of Heals based on the information
available to the Group, the Directors noted that Heals Group is
scaling up its business by expanding into the markets in South
East Asia through vertical and horizontal integrations.

Heals
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

World Biotech

World Biotech (together with its subsidiaries, the “World
Biotech Group”) are principally engaged in the operation of a
biopharmaceutical drug development centre, a production plant
and a clinical centre. World Biotech was founded in 2020. World
Biotech operates its businesses under the brand BioCreatrix.
On 15 October 2021, the Group subscribed for 50,000 shares
of World Biotech, representing approximately 4.65% of the
equity interest of World Biotech, and the investment cost
of such investment was approximately HK$40,000,000. As
at 31 December 2021, the fair value of this investment was
approximately HK$40,460,000, representing approximately 6.1%
of the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021.

The fair value of the Group’s investment in World Biotech as at
31 December 2021 was arrived at on the basis of a valuation
carried out by an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected to the Group, using the discounted cash flow
method, which is a generally accepted approach in the industry.
Assumptions used in the valuation include: (a) no material
change in the existing conditions which might adversely affect
the business of World Biotech; (b) the financial projection in
respect of World Biotech was prepared on a reasonable basis
that reflects estimates that have been arrived at after due and
careful consideration by the senior management of World
Biotech; (c) the economic condition will not deviate significantly
from economic forecasts; (d) reliance by the valuer on the
assistance and information provided by the Company; and (e)
the information related to the valuation would be made available
to and reviewed by the valuer. Inputs including (1) the business
nature and financial reports of World Biotech; and (2) reliable
sources of market data were applied in the valuation. There
was neither significant change in the value of the inputs and
assumptions from those used in the valuation at the acquisition
date nor subsequent change to the valuation method adopted.
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With regard to the prospects of World Biotech based on the
information available to the Group, the Directors noted that
World Biotech has recently completed the construction of a
production plant that complies with the good manufacturing
practice. It is currently expected that the production plant will
obtain the accreditation in June 2022, upon which World Biotech
will be able to manufacture its own products that obtained
authorization from the Food and Drug Administration for human
clinical trials through an investigational new drug application
("IND Application”) and to distribute the bi-products globally.
The next milestone for World Biotech is submission of the IND
Application to the authorities, enabling it to commence the
phase 1 of cancer vaccine and chimeric antigen receptor-natural
killer human clinical trials, which is currently expected to be at
the end of 2022.

Prospects of the Group’s significant investments in
associate

Luck Key Investment Limited

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held 10,650 ordinary shares
of Luck Key Investment Limited (“Luck Key"”), representing
48.33% of the equity interest of Luck Key, the investment cost
of which was approximately HK$56,511,000. As at 31 December
2021, the carrying amount of this investment was approximately
HK$108,962,000, representing approximately 16.6% of the
total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021. During the
year under review, the share of Luck Key’s total comprehensive
income of the investment attributable to the Group amounted
to approximately HK$24,023,000, no realised gain was recorded
and no dividend income was received from this investment.

Luck Key (together with its subsidiaries, the “Luck Key Group”)
are principally engaged in the provision of medical diagnostic
and health check services. It has commenced its business since
2006 and has a long and well established operating history. Luck
Key Group provides a wide range of medical diagnostic and
health check services, including high-end imaging and laboratory
examinations to the customers through operation of health
check centres and laboratories in Hong Kong. As at the date of
this Annual Report, Luck Key Group has a considerable scale of
operation as it operates eleven health check centres and two
laboratories in Hong Kong under various brand names (including
“Hong Kong Health Check (& & 4#&) "), with its flagship
centre located in Jordan, Kowloon.
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During the year under review, the revenue of Luck Key amounted
to approximately HK$308,956,000 (2020: HK$196,294,000),
representing an increase of approximately 57.4%. The profit
attributable to the shareholders of Luck Key for the year under
review amounted to approximately HK$49,707,000 (2020:
HK$13,440,000). Luck Key Group has assembled a professional
and experienced group of management personnel with extensive
experience and in-depth understanding of the industry. The
management of Luck Key will strive to improve the operational
efficiency of its health check business so as to enhance its
competitiveness in the market and its profitability.

The Group will continue to hold the investments in its portfolio,
unless there are changes in its investment strategy or potential
opportunities in realising its existing investments in securities
arise, taking into account the prospects of the issuers of the
securities investments and the Group’s objectives to optimise the
returns from its investment portfolios and create value for the
Shareholders.

IMPACT OF COVID-19 PANDEMIC

The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is complex and
continuously evolving, resulting in significant disruption to the
Group's business and the global economy. At various points during
the COVID-19 pandemic, authorities around the world imposed
measures intended to control the spread of COVID-19, including
stay-at-home orders and restrictions on large public gatherings,
which adversely affected the operation efficiency of the Group's
provision of IT services business in the first two months of 2020
and the Resorts had to temporarily close from time to time during
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2021. The COVID-19
pandemic resulted in significantly lower level of operating cash
flows for the Group during 2020 and 2021, when compared
to periods prior to the onset of the pandemic. Following the
Victorian Government’s decision to ease the density restrictions
in February 2022, the occupancy rate of Balgownie for the two
months ended 28 February 2022 was approximately 71%, a
gradual increase of approximately 44% for the year ended 31
December 2021, which is close to the average occupancy rate
of approximately 78% for the years ended 31 December 2017,
2018 and 2019, the pre-COVID-19 pandemic level. In relation to
the mobile internet cultural business and provision of IT services,
in view of this business segment generating its income through
Walletku payment application and e-commerce platform that is
based on technologies, the Group considers that this business
segment is not significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic.
However, the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the Group's
business and financial results will continue to subject to numerous
evolving factors that cannot be accurately predicted. These factors
may vary by the duration and scale of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the emergence of variants of the virus, and ongoing government
responses to the COVID-19 pandemic, which may lead to further
temporary closure of Balgownie.
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PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the global economy is expected to remain volatile
and uncertain amid the Russo-Ukrainian War and the COVID-19
pandemic. It is vital for the Group to maintain its financial health
and resilience to overcome any challenges that may arise in the
future. In order to improve its financial performance and generate
greater value for the Shareholders, the Group had completed the
Cleveland Disposals in May 2021, which would not only allow
the Group to reduce the costs required for it to run its business
in the provision of hospitality and related services in Australia,
but also enable it to redirect its resources to the development of
Balgownie, which is expected to achieve a more rapid recovery
due to its competitive advantages, such as its geographical
location, which is in an area popular among tourists.

In relation to the mobile internet cultural business and provision
of IT services, in view of the continuous growth of and increasing
adoption of technologies in the retail commerce and e-commerce
markets in Indonesia, and the Group’s plan to expand the
customer base of the Walletku payment application and
e-commerce platform, the Group considers that this business
segment will have tremendous growth potential and will
continue to generate revenue for the Group as (i) Indonesia is the
world’s fourth largest smartphone market with a population of
approximately 270 million people and over 60% of its population
is equipped with a smartphone; (ii) currently over 50% of
Indonesia’s population is unbanked due to geographical and
infrastructural barriers and hence there is a significant population
requiring some form of digital payment solution; and (iii) the
COVID-19 pandemic has seen a surge in digital adoption among
consumers and an accelerated growth of digital payments and
e-commerce.

Following the completion of the Forced Sale in December 2021,
the financial position of the Group would actually improve
and the Group considers that the Forced Sale is instead an
opportunity for the Group to cut its share of the loss and cash
outflow suffered by the CL Borrower Group, reallocate the
Group's resources to focus on other existing businesses of
the Group with an aim to develop and enhance other existing
businesses of the Group and is in the interest of the Company
and its shareholders as a whole.

Going forward, the Group will continue to carry on its existing
businesses by formulation and implementation of its own
business plans and strategies and leveraging its own business
model, competitiveness and strengths so as to develop, maintain
and enhance its existing businesses, which will be viable and
sustainable and will be able to create value and investment
return for shareholders of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Strategic Update

Entering into 2022, both regional and global markets
will unquestionably remain sensitive to geopolitical and
macroeconomic uncertainties, as well as the pandemic situation
of COVID-19. The Group's focus will be on (i) maintaining
operational resilience in times of unpredictability and challenges;
(ii) remaining competitive and forward-thinking, skillfully
executing its strategy; and (iii) exploring new opportunities,
experimenting and moving steadily and boldly towards greater
success.

The Group’s focus will remain on the successful execution of its
strategic plans and working together with the regulators and
other stakeholders to support the prosperity and sustainability of
the markets and communities where the Group operates. Also,
the Group’s commitment to strengthening its competitiveness
will remain a core focus in the years ahead. The Group is
confident that the efforts it has been making will position it
strongly for the next phase of its journey and generate value over
the longer term.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 December 2021, the total assets of the Group were
approximately HK$657,894,000 (2020: HK$1,134,050,000)
including cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$10,839,000 (2020: HK$89,480,000), among which
approximately 49% (2020: 35%) were denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, 2% (2020: 21%) were denominated in United
States dollars, 1% (2020: 33%) were denominated in Renminbi,
39% (2020: 11%) were denominated in Australian dollars and
9% (2020: Nil) were denominated in Indonesian Rupiah. As at
31 December 2021, the Group had borrowings repayable within
one year (or on demand) of approximately HK$86,827,000
(2020: HK$277,205,000). These borrowings bore interest at rates
ranging from 2.9% to 10.5% per annum (2020: 2.9% to 6.0%),
among which approximately 93% (2020: 77%) were subject to
fixed interest rates. Out of the total borrowings, approximately
32% (2020: 22%) were denominated in Australian dollars, the
balance of approximately 47% (2020: 67%) were denominated
in Renminbi and approximately 21% (2020: 11%) was
denominated in Hong Kong dollars. As at 31 December 2021,
the Group had borrowing facilities to the extent of approximately
HK$139,465,000 (2020: HK$341,876,000). As at 31 December
2021, approximately HK$134,875,000 (2020: HK$279,987,000)
of the facilities had been utilised by the Group. There is no
seasonality in relation to the borrowing requirements of the
Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE R am Mo

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s gearing ratio (calculated
on the basis of total liabilities to total assets) was 0.52 times
(2020: 0.77 times) and its net debt-to-equity capital ratio
(calculated as the total trade and other payables, accruals and
provision, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, derivative
financial liabilities, convertible loans, and lease liabilities less
pledge time deposit and cash and cash equivalents, over equity
attributable to the Shareholders) was 0.80 times (2020: 2.36
times).

Despite the fact that the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$18,687,000 as at 31 December 2021, the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2021 have been prepared on the basis that
the Group will continue to operate as a going concern. The
Directors are of the opinion that the Group is able to continue
as a going concern and to meet in full their financial obligations
as: (i) the Group has been actively negotiating with its creditors
to extend the repayment terms of its indebtedness; and (ii)
continuing financial support has been provided by a substantial
shareholder of the Company, who has confirmed his willingness
to provide funding for financing the operations of the Group to
meet its future obligations. In light of all the measures adopted
and arrangements implemented, the Directors are of the opinion
that the Group will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its
future working capital and other financial requirements and it
is reasonable to expect the Group to remain as a commercially
viable concern. Based on the cash flow projections of the Group
and having taken into account the available financial resources
of the Group with the above measures, the Directors have
concluded that the Group is able to continue as going concern
and to meet their financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the next twelve months. Accordingly, the Directors
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021 on a going concern basis.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had shareholders’ equity of
approximately HK$322,726,000 (2020: HK$298,858,000).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had borrowings of
approximately HK$134,875,000 (2020: HK$279,987,000).
Certain loans are subject to the fulfilment of covenants commonly
found in lending arrangements with financial institutions. If the
Group were to breach the covenants, the draw down facilities
would become repayable on demand. In addition, the Group’s
certain loan agreements contain clauses which give the lenders
the right at their sole discretion to demand immediate repayment
at any time irrespective of whether the Group has complied with
the covenants and met the scheduled repayment obligations.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
IE lﬂL FIH:E& *ﬁ

The exposure of the Group's borrowings is as follows: AEEZEERRBHOT
2021 2020
—B--F | Z2-FTHF
HKS$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
(Audited) (Audited)
(RERZ) (fEEZ)
Fixed-rate borrowings EEMERBE 94,165 216,513
Variable-rate borrowings FEAEEE 40,710 63,474
134,875 279,987
Secured BiEH 104,044 188,472
Unsecured A 30,831 91,515
134,875 279,987

The carrying amounts of the above ARUATHEEEN LREEZ
borrowings are repayable: FREE:

Within one year or on demand —E Nk iz Ek 86,827 277,205
In the second year - ¢ 18,663 922
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FEEFHF (BEEEMSF) 29,385 1,860
134,875 279,987

Note:

G

The ranges of effective interest rates per annum on the Group's AEEBECEFERNEGE QT

borrowings are as follows:

Effective interest rate:
Fixed-rate borrowings
Variable-rate borrowings

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-FF

TR F =
BEFEEE 3.65 - 10.50% 4.70 - 6.00%
FEREREE 2.90 - 2.91% 2.90%

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

During the year under review, the Group

SNE

REBEFERE NREZWANKAREE B
T AREVRIT BUTREIEEE - AEHE

mainly generated

revenue and incurred costs in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi,
Australian dollars, Euro and Indonesian Rupiah. The Group did
not invest in any derivative product for hedging during the year
under review. Nevertheless, the Group will keep monitoring
its foreign currency risk and when there are uncertainties or
material fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates, the Group
will consider using appropriate hedging instruments, including
futures and forward contracts in managing the Group's exposure
in relation to fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates.
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MANAGEN\ENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
E%F lﬂL FIH:E& Tﬁ

CHARGE ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2021, certain borrowing facilities of
the Group were secured by freehold land and buildings of
approximately HK$91,770,000 (2020: HK$114,859,000),
financial assets at FVTOCI of approximately HK$137,978,000
(2020: HK$164,484,000), fixed deposit of approximately
HK$Nil (2020: HK$13,000,000) and financial assets at FVTPL of
approximately HK$Nil (2020: HK$31,900,000).

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had capital commitments
contracted but not provided for amounting to approximately
HK$Nil (2020: approximately HK$3,590,000).

DISPOSAL OF ZHIQU

On 7 December 2015, ZRFEEHKM (LB)BER A A (in
English for identification purpose, Jixiang Information Technology
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.) (“Jixiang"”), a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, Mr. Xu lJialiang, Mr. Xu Xiaofeng (collectively,
the “Vendors”), /8 E B E S AR 2 F (in English, for
identification purpose, Shanghai Zhiqu Advertisement Co., Ltd.)
("Zhiqu"”) and LEO entered into a sale and purchase agreement
(as amended and supplemented by a supplemental agreement
dated 11 January 2016) (the “Zhiqu SP Agreement”), pursuant
to which LEO agreed to acquire, and the Vendors agreed to
sell, the entire equity interest of Zhiqu (the “Zhiqu Disposal”).
The Vendors and LEO also entered into the performance
compensation agreement (the “Performance Compensation
Agreement”) in relation to the adjustments to the total
consideration for the Zhiqu Disposal. The total consideration
shall be subject to adjustments (the “Adjustments”, each
n “Adjustment”) in accordance with the Performance
Compensation Agreement in the manner as stipulated below:

For the purpose of the Adjustments, the “Audited NOP" is
Zhiqu's audited net operating profit after tax, after adjustments
for, where applicable, any non-recurring and exceptional gains
or losses, whichever is lower, that are not related to the ordinary
business of Zhiqu, attributable to shareholders of the parent
company of Zhiqu as deduced from the audited consolidated
financial statements of Zhiqu for the relevant financial year
ended 31 December 2016 (“FY2016"), financial year ended
31 December 2017 (“FY2017") and financial year ended 31
December 2018 (“FY2018") (each a “Guaranteed FY").
The Vendors severally (but among Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng, jointly and severally) undertook to LEO that:

(i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016 shall be not less than
RMB58,000,000 (the “2016 Target NOP");
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2017 shall be not less than
RMB75,400,000 (the “2017 Target NOP"); and

(iii) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 shall be not less than
RMB98,020,000 (the “2018 Target NOP").

The Vendors and LEO agreed that the amount of Adjustment
(the "Adjustment Amount”) for each Guaranteed FY shall be
settled by the Vendors in the following order:

(i) firstly, by the consideration shares allotted and issued to
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, in proportion to the
consideration shares allotted and issued to them (the “Xu's
Shares”);

(ii) if the Xu's Shares shall be insufficient to settle the relevant
Adjustment Amount, secondly, in cash by Mr. Xu lJialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng in proportion to the cash consideration
received by them (the “Xu's Cash”);

(iii) if Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng have not fully
compensated LEO, thirdly, by the consideration shares
allotted and issued to the Group (the “Jixiang’s Shares”);

~

(iv) if the Xu's Shares, the Xu's Cash and the Jixiang's Shares
shall be insufficient to settle the relevant Adjustment
Amount, fourthly, in cash by the Group, which is subject to a

cap of RMB25,510,009 (the “Jixiang’s Cash"”); and

(v) if the Xu's Shares, the Xu's Cash, the Jixiang’s Shares and
the Jixiang's Cash shall be insufficient to settle the relevant
Adjustment Amount, finally, in cash by Mr. Xu Jialiang and
Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to settle the balance.

Upon the end of each Guaranteed FY and the issue of the special
audit report of Zhiqu for FY2018, LEO shall engage qualified
auditors to conduct asset impairment test and issue a report in
respect of any asset impairment. Where the asset impairment
of Zhiqu as reflected in such report shall be more than the total
Adjustment Amount compensated by the Vendors to LEO, the
Vendors shall compensate LEO a sum equal to the difference
between such asset impairment and the Adjustment Amount
then compensated by the Vendors to LEO, which shall be settled
first by the consideration shares (the value of which shall be
calculated by multiplying such number of consideration shares
with the issue price), with payment of cash to settle the balance
(if any). All liabilities of the Group under the Performance
Compensation Agreement shall at all times be capped at the
total consideration received by it.

EREH 08D T

(il BB _ZT—tUF 2 EBERLE M FEE
TN ANEBT5,400,000 T ([ZB—+ &
BELKERANZE]) X

(i) BB _ZT— )\ F 2 EBEZLE RN FEE
TN ANE#98,020,000T ([ZBB—NE
BREKERRZE]) -

B ENBGE  SERMFORAESR ([H
BB )SABETATIRFEN:

() B AEBRBETTHRESEERGER
I 5e 4 2 BB RIFR S ER % R ET
ZREBROEAEN (TR2BRE])

(i) WixRZRi TRAENBREAREE ]
F- O HEERAELERFBRELERER
FWHMzRERELPIARSEN (TR
ZBRE|):

(il) ffRESR S E RIRB g K A RBEMHER
BCRAIE = AAGEEREERETIH
EBlROEN (ERz2BEB])

(V) g2’ H Rz RERTRZBENHDTE
NEMNBEAZSRE AFEN AAEE
LAPR 58 A A R #525,510,0097T 2 3 & B 1+t
([ZEgzBE]) &

v) iR ZBD R2BE TR 2B KT
RZBAETRAENHBAFRERRE A&
BEBARERTERGREETENRSE
T ERER -

RERFRUFFEHEEREA T /\MFE
BT B BIZ IR E R - MBS RIS ERAZEE
HEITEERER AL B ER EERE L AR
T MZEREMRRIEBEEREBEBE
RN EZ BB B S ENER
HEREREERERESE T E K[ A B E
ZHBERALANEZRI SR 2B HEL
URERDEN (EREBERERERN KB
FARITEGERSHL) > MerEE (A ) AR
X - AEERKRAMERHZRDLIE A
BEEREEHGALRRZBRBERR

ERREBRZERERAAE | —T——FF#R 35
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Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2016 published by
LEO on 30 August 2017, the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016
amounted to RMB32,239,594.87, which is less than the 2016
Target NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount for FY2016
shall be RMB83,931,144.53 and shall be settled by 18,166,915
Xu's Shares (the “FY2016 Compensation”). The Group is
not required to pay any compensation to LEO in respect of the
Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2016.

As disclosed in LEO's announcement dated 31 August 2017,
Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng shall pay additional
compensation which comprises (i) an aggregate of 21,993,909
LEQO's shares to LEO; and (ii) cash in the aggregate amount of
RMB80,000,000 to Zhiqu, on or before 31 December 2017
(the “Additional Compensation”). According to LEO’s
announcement dated 19 December 2017, such shares were
returned to LEO for distribution to its shareholders in December
2017.

Based on a special audit report of Zhiqu for FY2017 published
by LEO on 14 December 2018, the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for
FY2017 amounted to RMB36,689,479.02, which is less than
the 2017 Target NOP. Accordingly, the Adjustment Amount
for FY2017 shall be RMB126,124,504.45 and shall be settled
by 3,821,856 Xu's Shares and Xu's Cash in the amount of
RMB108,467,529.73 (the “FY2017 Compensation”) taking
into consideration the Additional Compensation. However, as
disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 15 March
2019, according to LEO’s announcement dated 15 March 2019,
given that the 3,821,856 Xu's Shares were not sufficient to
settle the FY2017 Compensation and Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng were unable to provide the Xu's Cash in the amount
of approximately RMB108,468,000, in accordance with the
settlement mechanism above, the FY2017 Compensation shall
be settled by 23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares and the Group shall
also return the cash dividend in the amount of approximately
RMB506,000 received from LEO to an account designated by
LEO.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 29
April 2019, on 29 April 2019, the Group received a letter from
the Shanghai International Economic and Trade Arbitration
Commission (Shanghai International Arbitration Center)
(“SHIAC") that LEO had commenced arbitration proceedings
against the Group to pursue the settlement of the portion
of the FY2017 Compensation that Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng were unable to satisfy (the “Unsettled FY2017
Compensation”). As at 31 December 2018, the Company has
been preliminarily advised by its legal advisers as to the laws of
the PRC that the Group should have a good chance to argue
in such arbitration proceeding that the demand from LEO for
settlement of the Unsettled FY2017 Compensation should not be
upheld. The hearing of the arbitration proceeding was held on
24 September 2019 before a panel of three arbitrators.

According to the announcement of LEO dated 8 November
2019, based on the special audit report in respect of the Audited
NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018, the Audit NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018
amounted to RMB7,701,500, which is less than the 2018 Target
NOP.

According to the announcement of LEO dated 3 December
2019, in view of the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 being
RMB7,701,500, the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 shall be
RMB402,738,466.59 accordingly. The Adjustment Amount for
FY2018 shall be settled by the Xu's Shares, and where such
shares are insufficient, by the Xu's Cash received by Mr. Xu
Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng. Given that Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng no longer hold any consideration shares, they will
be required to compensate LEO in cash. LEO will issue a demand
notice for compensation to Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng
after the compensation proposal in respect of the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 has been approved by the shareholders of
LEO. If Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng do not settle the
Adjustment Amount for FY2018 in full within 30 days after
the issue of the demand notice, the Group will be required
to settle the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 by 45,779,220
Jixiang's Shares that it holds and, if such shares are insufficient,
by Jixiang's Cash. In addition, the Group will also be required to
return the cash bonus in relation to the Jixiang's Shares that it
has received from LEO, the amount of which as determined in
accordance with the amount of compensation that the Group
is required to pay. If there is still a shortfall in the settlement of
the Adjustment Amount for FY2018, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly liable for such settlement, will be
required to compensate LEO in cash. LEO will seek approval from
its shareholders in respect of the above compensation proposal.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE R am Mo

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 6
December 2019, on 6 December 2019, the Group received
a letter from SHIAC indicating that it has approved LEO's
application (the “Application”) to make the following
amendments (the “Amendments”) to certain demands made
by LEO against the Group in relation to the settlement of the
Unsettled FY2017 Compensation:

(i) the transfer of 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead of
23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) held by the Group to LEO;

(i) if the Group is unable to transfer the entire 45,779,220
Jixiang's Shares (instead of 23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) to
LEO, the shortfall shall be compensated to LEO by way of
cash; and

(iii) the return of the cash bonus in the amount of approximately
RMB989,000 (instead of approximately RMB506,000) in
relation to the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares (instead of
23,477,822 Jixiang's Shares) by the Group to LEO.

In the Application, further to the above amendments, LEO also
demands the Group to pay LEO (i) cash compensation in the
amount of approximately RMB25,510,000; and (ii) an amount
which is calculated from the date of the Application, based on
the amount of unsettled compensation due from the Group to
LEO times the one-year loan prime rate published on 21 October
2019 as authorised by the People’s Bank of China (i.e. 4.20%
per annum), as compensation for the loss suffered by LEO.

It is stated in the Application that the Amendments are proposed
taking into consideration that (i) the Audited NOP of Zhiqu for
FY2018 as reported in the special audit report in respect of the
Audited NOP of Zhiqu for FY2018 amounting to approximately
RMB7,702,000, is less than the 2018 Target NOP (i.e.
RMB98,020,000); and (i) any party in breach of the Performance
Compensation Agreement shall be liable for damages caused
to the parties not in default. It is stated in the letter that the
Group shall provide rebuttal opinion on evidence in respect
of the supplemental information attached to the Application
("Rebuttal”) within five working days after the receipt of the
letter.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 10 December 2019, the Group has instructed its PRC
legal adviser to provide the Rebuttal and an objection to the
Application (the "Objection”) to the SHIAC. In the Objection,
the Group requested the SHIAC to reject the Application, taking
into account that (i) the Application was made too late, which
would severely affect the normal process of the arbitration; and (ii)
the inclusion of the compensation for the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018 into the amended demands under the Application
would complicate the case and cause delay to the arbitration
proceedings, and more importantly, the LEQ’s claims against the
Group in relation to the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 are
subject to (a) the LEO's claims against Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu
Xiaofeng after the shareholders of LEO have given their approval
of the related compensation proposal; and (b) the failure of Mr.
Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng to settle the 2018 Adjustment
Amount in full within 30 days after the issue of the demand
notice by LEO.

On 19 December 2019, LEO issued a letter to Mr. Xu Jialiang and
Mr. Xu Xiaofeng demanding the settlement of the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018. In response to the demand letter issued by
LEO on 19 December 2019 as mentioned above, Mr. Xu Jialing
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng informed LEO in writing on 20 December
2019 that they were unable to pay the Adjustment Amount
for FY2018 due to their financial difficulties. If Mr. Xu Jialiang
and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng do not settle the Adjustment Amount for
FY2018 in full within 30 days after the issue of the demand
letter, the Group will be required to settle the Adjustment
Amount for FY2018 by way of the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares
that it holds and, if such shares are insufficient, by way of cash,
which is subject to a cap of approximately RMB25,510,000
(being the amount of cash consideration received by the Group
in relation to the Zhigu Disposal). In addition, the Group will also
be required to return the cash dividend in relation to the Jixiang's
Shares that it has received from LEO, the amount of which as
determined in accordance with the amount of compensation
the Group is required to pay. If there is still a shortfall in the
settlement of the Adjustment Amount for FY2018, Mr. Xu
Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, who are jointly liable for such
settlement, will be required to compensate LEO in cash. As set
out in LEO’s announcement dated 14 January 2020, LEO has
sought approval from its shareholders in respect of the proposal
to repurchase and cancel the 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares held by
the Group as partial settlement of the Adjustment Amount for
FY2018.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE R am Mo

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 8
February 2021, the Group received the arbitral awards (the
“Arbitral Awards”) issued by the SHIAC in respect of the
demands made by LEO against the Group in relation to the
settlement of the Unsettled FY2017 Compensation and the
Adjustment Amount for FY2018, the details of which are as
follows:

(i) the Group shall transfer 45,779,220 Jixiang's Shares it holds
to LEO and assist LEO with matters relating to the acquisition
and cancellation of such shares;

(i) if the Group is unable to transfer the entire 45,779,220
Jixiang's Shares to LEO within 45 days from 5 February 2021
(i.e. the date on which the Arbitral Awards were issued
by the SHIAC (the “Award Date”)), the shortfall shall be
compensated by the Group to LEO by way of cash, the
amount of which shall be calculated using the following
formula: Amount of cash compensation to be paid to LEO =
Ax16.17/3.5

A, being the number of Jixiang's shares in shortfall;

(iii) the Group shall pay to LEO (a) cash compensation in the
amount of RMB9,626,612.92 (the “Cash Compensation”);
and (b) damages. The amount of which shall be calculated
using the following formula: Amount of cash damages to be
paid to LEO = 9,626,612.92 x 3.85%/365 x B

B, being the number of days from 4 December 2019 to the
date on which the Cash Compensation is fully paid by the
Group to LEO;

(iv) the Group shall return the cash bonus in the amount of
RMB987,523.17 to LEO;

(v) the Group shall pay to LEO RMB500,000 of the legal fees
incurred by LEO as a result of the disputes with the Group
over the settlement of the Unsettled FY2017 Compensation
and the Adjustment Amount for FY2018 (the "Disputes”);
and

(vi) the Group and LEO shall bear 70% and 30% of the
arbitration fees incurred to settle the Disputes, respectively.
Given that LEO has fully settled the entire amount of the
arbitration fees of RMB1,632,434, the Group shall pay 70%
of such fees (i.e. RMB1,142,703.80) to LEO.

The Arbitral Awards set out above are final and they shall be
performed by the Group within 45 days from the Award Date.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 20 October 2021, the Shenzhen Stock Exchange issued a
disciplinary action advance notification (the “Notification”)
to Jixiang, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, indicating that
(i) Jixiang, Mr. Xu lJialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng had breached
Rules 1.4, 2.3 and 11.11.1 of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Shares on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (November 2018
Revision)* CRIIEHF R ZPARE LT A A (2018F 11 A&
7] ) ) (the “Shenzhen Listing Rules”) and Rule 1.3 of the
Guidelines of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange for the Standard
Operation of Listed Companies on the Small and Medium-sized
Enterprise Board (2015 Revision)* CRINBEHF X ST b %
R _ETH A TR EEEE S| (2015518 3]) ), given that (a) Mr.
Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng failed to fully compensate LEO
in accordance with the Performance Compensation Agreement;
and (b) Jixiang did not pay the compensation of RMB221 million
to LEO in accordance with the arbitration judgement made by
the SHIAC, whereas Zhiqu's audited net operating profit after tax
and other prescribed adjustments for the financial years ended 31
December 2016, 2017 and 2018 were less than RMB58,000,000,
RMB75,400,000 and RMB98,020,000, respectively; and (ii) the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange intends to impose the disciplinary
action of the circulation of a criticism notice on Jixiang, Mr.
Xu Jialiang and Mr. Xu Xiaofeng, pursuant to Rule 17.2 of the
Shenzhen Listing Rules and Rule 27 of the Standards of the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange for Imposition of Disciplinary Action
on Listed Companies (for Trial Implementation)* (RIIFEH R 5
FrEmRARIGLRRED BMIZE (H1T) ).

According to the Notification, if Jixiang, Mr. Xu Jialiang and Mr.
Xu Xiaofeng fail to submit their statements and pleadings in
writing and evidence in relation to the matters set out in the
Notification to the Shenzhen Stock Exchange by 27 October
2021, they would be deemed to have waived their rights to
make their statements and pleadings.

As at the date of this Annual Report, no such written statements
and pleadings and evidence have been submitted by Jixiang to
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange.

Details of the Notification are set out in the announcement of
the Company dated 21 October 2021.

The Group is in the course of seeking legal advice on the above
matter. The Company will keep the Shareholders and potential
investors informed of any further material developments
in connection with the above matter by way of further
announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

*  For identification purpose only

EREH 08D T

RZEZ—F+A-+8B FINBEZXSAT
MTR - REZTERGFREEBLERENLRE
BOEEEME([EHNE]) ERFRTOE
R@FEESEENRGEER LA REREE
EREREANBELEE2BHEE: RO TR
I AR IR _E G B R /E B9 R &R AR 1R I BR S
- #8 8 A R #221,000,0007T ' TS iB#HE =
TE-RFEF ZE—+FR_FE—-N\F+A
=+ HIEMERFENRBIERELEMR
ERBE I REZKE A FES ERA
R #58,000,0007T * A R #75,400,0007T & A
R #98,020,0007T ' BT R - IR1EZ L E KK
BELEEERFIEBLARZIABRELTH
Bl (2018F 11 AE5T) ([RINLTHRA])FE
1.4 23RN M MEARRINBHZ ZFTH /N
PER _ETARREEIESE S| (2015F(EE])
F135: R>()FINBHRZEFTEBE R £
MR FBI7 26 R FINBEHR F A LT A A
LEEDERIZE (H7) 327G W R &
EEEERRREEERBRILTNLERESD

RESHE WER HRESEERGTRER
ERER T _—F+tA-+LHAREH
EMEEERARIIEFRZHAREXERIL R
HRENUNMER BESERSENERLEL
BRI % BA o B0 HE )

WG A BRI EEREER S AR
BRI B R B AR -

THEZHBIARNARRBEHRR T - —F
TRAZt+—R2zaf-
ARAEREMBRSHOEREER - AR A
B B TIBE — P i MBS AL AN 2 B ik
REEBEKREERMEMSIA Z EFE—F
BERER-

* ERET

ERREBRZERERAAE | —T——FF#R 41



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BIEE R am Mo

Details of the Zhiqu Disposal and the calculation of the
Adjustment Amount for each Guaranteed FY are set out in (i)
the announcements of the Company dated 8 December 2015,
11 January 2016, 29 February 2016, 20 May 2016, 5 July 2016,
5 September 2016, 7 September 2016, 31 August 2017, 14
December 2018, 15 March 2019, 9 April 2019, 29 April 2019,
8 November 2019, 3 December 2019, 6 December 2019, 10
December 2019, 27 December 2019 and 8 February 2021; and
(ii) the circular of the Company dated 11 February 2016.

LITIGATION AND CLAIMS

The Group was involved in the following legal proceedings and
claims:

(a)

42

On 19 December 2017, Ever Robust Holdings Limited (“Ever
Robust”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, received a writ of summons with a statement of
claim (the “Writ") issued in the Court of First Instance of the
High Court of Hong Kong (the “Court”) by Convoy Global
Holdings Limited (“Convoy”), Convoy Collateral Limited (the
“Second Plaintiff”) and CSL Securities Limited (the “Third
Plaintiff”, together with Convoy and the Second Plaintiff,
collectively as the “Plaintiffs”) against, among other
defendants, Ever Robust (together with the other defendants,
collectively as the “Defendants”).

Based on the Writ, the orders sought by the Plaintiffs against
Ever Robust are as follows: (i) Convoy sought an order as
against, among others, Ever Robust, that the allotment of the
shares in Convoy by Convoy to, among others, Ever Robust
on 29 October 2015, be set aside; (ii) the Second Plaintiff
and the Third Plaintiff sought an order that the financing
facilities granted by them, including the loan (the “Convoy
Loan”) in the amount of HK$129,000,000 granted to Ever
Robust by the Second Plaintiff on 9 November 2015, and the
margin loan (the “Margin Loan”) granted to Ever Robust by
the Third Plaintiff which amounted to HK$67,574,473 as at
29 March 2016, be rescinded; and (iii) the Plaintiffs sought
against, among others, Ever Robust for (a) general or special
damages; (b) interests; (c) costs; and (d) further and/or other
reliefs (the “Convoy Proceedings”). As at 19 December
2017, Ever Robust had fully repaid the Convoy Loan and the
Margin Loan and did not hold any shares in Convoy.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

On 6 March 2018, a case management conference hearing
was held before the Honourable Mr. Justice Harris on the
Convoy Proceedings. On 9 July 2018, Ever Robust has
received an amended writ of summons and an amended
statement of claim (the “Amended Statement of Claim”).
Pursuant to the Amended Statement of Claim, the reliefs
sought by the Plaintiffs against Ever Robust are amended as
follows: (i) a declaration and order as against among others,
Ever Robust, that the allotment of the shares in Convoy
by Convoy to, among others, Ever Robust, on 29 October
2015, is null and void, or has been rescinded and set aside
(as sought by Convoy); (ii) an account of profits and an
order for payment of any sums found to be due, equitable
compensation to be assessed, and/or damages to be assessed
for breach of fiduciary, common law and/or statutory
duties, dishonest assistance, unlawful means conspiracy
and/or lawful means conspiracy, as against, among others,
Ever Robust (as sought by Convoy); (iii) an order against,
among others, Ever Robust, for an account of profits and an
order for payment of any sums found to be due, equitable
compensation to be assessed, and/or damages to be assessed
for breach of fiduciary, common law and/or statutory duties,
dishonest assistance, unlawful means conspiracy and/or
lawful means conspiracy (as sought by the Second Plaintiff
and the Third Plaintiff); and (iv) against, among others, Ever
Robust, for (a) general or special damages; (b) interests; (c)
costs; and (d) further and/or other reliefs (as sought by all the
Plaintiffs).

On 27 July 2018, Ever Robust received a sealed order
(the “Order”) dated 28 June 2018 against, among other
Defendants, Ever Robust, in which 11 parties are ordered to
join the proceedings as additional defendants. Pursuant to
the Order, it is further ordered, among other matters, as to
between the Plaintiffs and Ever Robust (among certain other
Defendants), that the Plaintiffs do have leave to file and serve
the Amended Statement of Claim.

On 30 November 2018, Ever Robust received a copy sealed
order dated 1 November 2018 against, among other
defendants, Ever Robust, in which a party is ordered to join
the proceedings as an additional defendant.

On 10 December 2018, Ever Robust filed its defence (the
"Defence”) to the Plaintiff’s claim in the Convoy Proceedings
with the Court. Pursuant to the Defence, Ever Robust avers
that the Plaintiffs are not entitled to any relief against Ever
Robust in the Convoy Proceedings.

On 30 August 2019, Ever Robust filed its amended Defence
pursuant to the order of Hon Harris J dated 12 July 2019.
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Further details of the Convoy Proceedings are set out in the
Company's announcements dated 19 December 2017, 1
June 2018, 7 June 2018 and 25 July 2018.

After seeking the legal opinion, the Group considered that
there was no assessed monetary claim by Plaintiffs and it
is premature to give opinion on the probable outcome and
estimate the ultimate liability.

On 2 January 2018, Ever Robust received a petition (the
“Petition”) issued in the Court by Zhu Xiao Yan (the
“Petitioner”) against, among other respondents, Ever
Robust. Based on the Petition, the Petitioner has held and
continues to hold 3,234,000 shares in Convoy since around
mid-2015, and the Petitioner sought the following orders
against, among others, Ever Robust: (i) a declaration that the
placement of 3,989,987,999 shares in Convoy by Convoy to,
among other placees, Ever Robust, and/or such placed shares
are void ab initio and of no legal effect or, alternatively,
be set aside; (ii) damages for dilution of the Petitioner’s
shareholding; (iii) interest; (iv) such further or other relief and
all necessary and consequential directions as the Court may
think fit; and (v) costs (the “Zhu Proceedings”). As at 2
January 2018, Ever Robust did not hold any shares in Convoy.

On 6 March 2018, a case management conference was held
on the Zhu Proceedings, in which the Honourable Mr. Justice
Harris made an order that the Zhu Proceedings be stayed
with liberty to restore, pending the outcome of the Convoy
Proceedings.

Further details of the Zhu Proceedings are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 2 January 2018.

The Group has sought preliminary opinion on the above
legal proceedings from its solicitors (or legal adviser) in Hong
Kong, who, based on the information available as of the date
of this Annual Report, is of the opinion that:

— there is no assessed monetary claim except the Plaintiffs’
claim and the Petitioner’s claims against Ever Robust for
damages to be assessed,;

— itis premature to give opinion on the probable outcome;
and

— it is premature to estimate the ultimate liability.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The litigation between, among others, the Group and LEO in
relation to the Zhiqu Disposal. Further details are set out in
pages 34 to 42 of this Annual Report.

During the years ended 31 December 2018 and 2019, a
subsidiary of the Company (the “Borrower"”) had breached
the covenant of a loan (the “Loan”) in the original principal
amount of RMB79,868,600 granted by Essence Securities
Co., Limited (the “Lender”), which is secured by certain
of the listed securities. On 17 January 2020, the Borrower
received the summons (the “Summons”) issued by the
Lender, as plaintiff, in Shenzhen Intermediate People’s
Court (the “SZ Court”) against the Borrower as defendant.
Pursuant to the Summons, the Lender demands the SZ
Court to order the Borrower to: (i) repay to the Lender the
outstanding principal amount of the Loan in the sum of
approximately RMB70,893,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$79,216,000); (ii) pay to the Lender interest at the rate of
6% per annum accrued on the outstanding principal amount
of the Loan in the sum of approximately RMB70,893,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$79,216,000) from 20
June 2019 to the date of repayment; (iii) pay to the Lender
liquidated damages at the daily rate of 0.03%, including
liquidated damages on the outstanding interest in the sum of
approximately RMB1,042,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,164,000) from 16 September 2019 to the date of
repayment and liquidated damages on the principal from 19
June 2018 to the date of repayment; (iv) pay to the Lender
its legal costs in making the claims in the sum of RMB76,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$85,000); (v) use the
proceeds from the realisation of certain of the listed securities
pledged by the Borrower (the “Pledged Assets”) through
discounting, sale or auction firstly to repay to the Lender the
outstanding amount of the Loan, the interest, the liquidated
damages and the legal costs; and (vi) bear all the litigation
costs such as case acceptance fees and security fee of this
case. As per the Summons, the aggregate amount of the
claims under (i) to (iv) up to 18 November 2019 amounted to
approximately RMB85,186,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$95,187,000).
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On or around 20 November 2020, the Borrower received the
judgement (the “Judgement”) issued by the SZ Court in
relation to the Summons, pursuant to which:

(1) the Borrower shall within ten days after the Judgement
becoming effective, repay to the Lender (a) the
outstanding principal amount of the Loan in the sum
of approximately RMB71 million and interest on the
outstanding principal amount of the Loan (consisting of
(i) interest in the amount of approximately RMB1 million
accrued from 20 June 2019 to 16 September 2019; and
(ii) interest at the rate of 6% per annum accrued on the
outstanding principal amount of the Loan in the sum of
approximately RMB71 million from 16 September 2019
to the date of repayment); (b) liquidated damages at
the daily rate of 3/10,000 on the outstanding interest
in the sum of approximately RMB1 million payable from
16 September 2019 to the date of repayment; and (c)
liquidated damages at the daily rate of 3/10,000 on the
outstanding principal amount of the Loan (consisting of
(i) liquidated damages in the amount of approximately
RMB1 million payable from 19 June 2019 to 19 August
2019; and (ii) liqguidated damages on the outstanding
principal amount of the Loan in the sum of approximately
RMB71 million payable from 19 August 2019 to the date
of repayment);

(2) the Lender shall have the right to the Pledged Assets
as a chargee and the priority to be compensated with
the proceeds from the realisation of the Pledged Assets
through discounting, auction or sale; and

(3) out of the litigation costs (consisting of case acceptance
fees and security fee) in the aggregate amount of
approximately RMB473,000, approximately RMB465,000
and approximately RMB8,000 shall be borne by the
Borrower and the Lender, respectively.

Save for the above, the orders the Lender demanded the SZ
Court to make against the Borrower in the Summons were
rejected by the SZ Court.

Further details of the Summons and the Judgment are set out
in the Company’ announcements dated 18 January 2020 and
20 November 2020.

As set out on page 23 in this Annual Report, the Group
completed the TH Disposals on 3 March 2021 and 10 March
2021 to partially repay the loan and the liabilities owed to
the Lender under the Loan as required by the Judgment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

(e) As set out in the paragraph headed “Business and Financial

Review” in the Management Discussion and Analysis in this
Annual Report, the CL Borrower and the CL Lender entered
in the CL Loan Agreement for the CL Loan, which was
secured by the CL Mortgaged Shares.

The CL Loan became mature on 4 September 2021 and on
27 September 2021, the Group received letters from the legal
representatives of the CL Lender that owing to CL Borrower's
failure to repay the CL Loan and the interest accrued
thereon, the CL Lender has initiated legal proceedings (i)
against the CL Borrower and the Company for, among other
things, repayment of the CL Loan and the interest accrued
thereon; and (ii) to obtain the court order/judgment for
transfer of the CL Mortgaged Shares to the CL Lender or the
buyer nominated by the CL Lender pursuant to the CL Share
Mortgage.

On 3 November 2021, the Company received a letter from
the legal representatives of the CL Lender that a hearing in
relation to the litigation is scheduled to be heard by the High
Court of Hong Kong (the “High Court”) on 10 December
2021 (the “Hearing”) and the orders or directions the
CL Lender intends to seek at the Hearing include, among
others, (i) the CL Borrower do pay the CL Lender the sum
of HK$31,541,095.89, being the outstanding principal and
interest calculated up to 20 September 2021 and interest on
the sum of HK$30,000,000.00 at the rate of 5% per annum
from 21 September 2021 until payment; and (ii) the CL
Lender is at liberty to sell the CL Mortgaged Shares and apply
the sales proceeds towards satisfaction and/or reduction of
the sums due under the CL Loan.

At the Hearing, the Master of the High Court determined
that the originating summons (the “Originating
Summons”) served by the CL Lender as the plaintiff of
the litigation to the CL Borrower and the Company as the
defendants were defective and irregular mainly due to the
CL Lender’s failure to serve the Originating Summons to the
appropriate address of the CL Borrower and the Company
respectively. Accordingly, the CL Lender was granted leave to
withdraw the Originating Summons.

On 16 December 2021, the Group received a letter from
the legal representatives of the CL Lender that owing to
the CL Borrower's failure to repay the CL Loan and the
interest accrued thereon, the CL Lender has exercised its
rights pursuant to the terms of the CL Share Mortgage
and executed an instrument of transfer to transfer the CL
Mortgaged Shares to the CL Lender on 14 December 2021,
which resulted in the Forced Sale.

EREH 08D T

() MMAFHmIERE S EOW] A XK

N B %5 [ml R — B P& 17 BB 5 SR A B2 1hp
BRE R AR B ERRET M 0 B E R
195 B2 B 7k DA 195 B 4 RC A £ (R HE 4R o

HEEFNR _ZE-_—FNAWBEIH m
N—EBE-—FNA=-++H NEEERE
HHERAZEERRAZEL Z K-8
MR EERAREEERBERLERE
B HBERAEBRBEERARK
NERBEEFROER(EFhBE)E
BBEERKEETHE &) LB E R
BEROHEEAREERAXBEERAE
EZEHE R BEIFLIKRMOIGEER D
2/ R

AZE-_—F+—A=8 K2R E®
BERAZEERRZEE EREMT
BEeErRk(BEER ER = =—
F+_A+BmZFRETRN(IE
) mMBBEERABRRERA LS K S
SHETEE(EF8E) () BBEERA
[ 1% B3 B 2 A X £31,541,095.89/% jt (Bl
REBAEGERHBE_ET-_—ENA=-1+H
1EZ R B) A & 4 %830,000,000.00% 7T B
TE T —FEhAA -+ HEEREREH
BEMES% FTE 2FE: Ri)HBEER
ATEHREERERCERYD  TEHERT
BRBEBAREER KB BEERET
2 BIHAZROA -

RRAL SFEGEREEHTE HEE
RN (ERZFRIRE) R HEBRA
RARE (ERHE) RENRFER (1R
FER|FERBETEER TBREA
SHEERARERRFERD RIXZE W
BERARKRARZEE i - Fit - #
BERABERERFER-

JiN

RCBZ—F+ A+ B AEEEE
HEERAZRERRAZEL 2 118
B A 15 B 6 R AR BEEUE R B B3k I EL e
aHAIR - 1 B B SR A B AR IR 155 B2 A {0 4 RC
ZIERRTEEENUR =T = —F+— A
+ P B 8 3785 8 SCHR DA S 163 BB RC AR £ 82
ETHERERA SEORFHE -

ERREBRZERERAAE | —T——FF#R 47
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Prior to the Forced Sale, the CL Borrower was owned as to 51%
by the Company and 49% by CL the Lender. Upon the Forced
Sale, the CL Mortgaged Shares are no longer beneficially owned
by the Company and the CL Borrower Group have ceased to
be subsidiaries of the Company and the financial results of the
CL Borrower Group have ceased to be accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group. As a result of
the Forced Sale, the Group recorded a gain on disposal of a
subsidiary of approximately HK$79,013,000.

Further details of the Hearing and the Originating Summons are
set out in the Company’s announcements dated 27 September
2021, 3 November 2021 and 13 December 2021.

The Group has made provisions for the above legal proceedings
except for items (a), (b) and (e) above as the Group is not able to
reliably assess the amount of potential liabilities under the cases
in items (a) and (b) above and the Forced Sale was completed
on 14 December 2021 for item (e). The Company will, in
accordance with the applicable laws, make every effort to protect
the interests of the Company and the Shareholders, proactively
respond to the above cases and defend its position vigorously.
The Company will closely monitor the development of the above
matters and make further announcements if and when there are
any significant developments in relation to each of these legal
proceedings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Litigation and
Claims” in the Management Discussion and Analysis in this
Annual Report, as at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have
any material contingent liabilities (2020: Nil).

EMPLOYEES" REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had approximately 300
employees (2020: 6,200). The significant decrease in the number
of employees as at 31 December 2021 as compared with that
as at 31 December 2020 was mainly due to the Forced Sale.
Staff costs (including the Directors’ salaries, allowances and
bonuses totaled approximately HK$1,503,898,000 for the year
under review (2020: HK$965,257,000), of which approximately
HK$1,347,001,000 (2020: HK$852,871,000) was included in the
cost of services. The Group continues to maintain and upgrade
the capabilities of its workforce by providing them with adequate
and regular training.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Remuneration of employee is determined by reference to industry
practices and performance, qualifications and experience of
individual employees.

The emolument policies of the Directors are decided by the
Board, taking into account the recommendations of the
remuneration committee of the Board, having regard to merit,
qualifications and competence of the Directors.

On top of regular remuneration, discretionary bonus and share
options may be granted to employees and the Directors by
reference to the Group's performance as well as individual
performance of such employees and/or Directors, and other
benefits including contributions to pension scheme and medical
scheme are also provided to the employees.

The Company adopted the share option scheme pursuant to an
ordinary resolution of all the then Shareholders passed on 4 June
2020, and the Board is authorised, at its absolute discretion,
to grant options to eligible participants including any eligible
employee, any directors (including non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company, any
subsidiary of the Company or any invested entity; any supplier of
goods or services to any member of the Group or any invested
entity, any customer of any member of the Group or any invested
entity, any person or entity that provides research, development
or other technological support to any member of the Group or
any invested entity, any shareholder of any member of the Group
or any invested entity or any holder of any securities issued by
any member of the Group or any invested entity, any professional
adviser, consultant, individual or entity who in the opinion of the
Directors has contributed or will contribute to the growth and
development of the Group, and any other group or classes of
participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to
the development and growth of the Group. There was no share
option outstanding as at 31 December 2021 (2020: Nil). Details
of the share options outstanding during the year under review
are set out in the paragraph headed “Share Option Scheme” in
the Directors’ Report in this Annual Report.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Ng Ting Ho, aged 37, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director and the chairman of the Board (the
“Chairman”) with effect from 17 September 2021. Mr. Ng
obtained his Bachelor of Commerce in Finance and Financial
Economics Degree from the University of New South Wales in
2008. Thereafter, Mr. Ng further completed his Master of Science
in Financial Mathematics Degree from the Cass Business School
of the City University in London in 2014. Mr. Ng is experienced
in banking and finance, and previously worked in various banks
and financial institutions. Mr. Ng was appointed as an executive
director of China Demeter Financial Investments Limited (“China
Demeter”), a company whose shares are listed on GEM (Stock
Code: 8120), with effect from 5 February 2016, was redesignated
to a non-executive director with effect from 16 June 2017 and
has been re-designated from a non-executive director to an
executive director with effect from 3 July 2018. He has also been
appointed as the chief executive officer of China Demeter since
1 December 2020. Mr. Ng is the younger brother of Mr. Ng Ting
Kit, a substantial shareholder (having the meaning ascribed to it
in the GEM Listing Rules) of the Company, who, as at the date of
this Annual Report, beneficially owns 763,780,000 shares of the
Company (the “Shares”) and the entire issued share capital of
King's Group Capital Limited (which owns 345,660,000 Shares
as at the date of this Annual Report).
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lam Ching Yee, aged 40, has been appointed as an
executive Director and the chief executive officer (the “Chief
Executive Officer”) of the Company with effect from 5 June
2019. She has been appointed as the company secretary and the
authorised representative of the Company since 2013. Ms. Lam
was the financial controller of the Company from September
2013 to June 2019. Ms. Lam obtained her Bachelor of Business
Administration (Honours) in Finance from the City University of
Hong Kong in 2006 and she is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Lam has more than
ten years of experience in the areas of corporate restructuring,
financial management, merger and acquisition and auditing.
With effect from 23 June 2016, Ms. Lam has been appointed
as an executive director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on GEM (Stock Code:
8018).

Mr. Fong Chak Kiu (formerly known as Fong Hing Lun), aged
41, has been appointed as an executive Director, the compliance
officer and an authorised representative of the Company with
effect from 19 August 2021. Mr. Fong obtained a Double Degree
of Commerce and Business Systems from the Monash University,
Australia in October 2004, and a Master of Finance degree
from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in October 2009.
Mr. Fong has more than seven years of experience in business
development. Mr. Fong has been a business development
manager of a securities company in Hong Kong since April 2017,
which is licensed to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4
(advising on securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO"). Mr. Fong is also
licensed to carry out type 1 (dealing in securities), type 4 (advising
on securities) and type 9 (asset management) regulated activities
under the SFO.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. WONG Siu Keung, Joe, aged 57, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 15
December 2011. Mr. Wong holds a Degree of Master of Arts in
International Accounting from the City University of Hong Kong
and a Master’s Degree of Corporate Governance from The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University. He is an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants.
Mr. Wong has extensive experience in the taxation, accounting,
financing, audit fields and public listed companies for many
years. Mr. Wong has been appointed as an executive director of
DeTai New Energy Group Limited (“DeTai"”) (Stock Code: 559), a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, with effect from 25 March 2022. Mr. Wong is also an
independent non-executive director of (i) China Water Industry
Group Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 1129); (ii) Worldgate
Global Logistics Limited, a company whose shares are listed on
GEM (Stock Code: 8292); and (iii) Affluent Partners Holdings
Limited ("Affluent Partners”), a company whose shares are
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code:
1466). He is the chairman of each of the audit committee, the
nomination committee and the remuneration committee of the
Company.

Mr. Chan Ming Kit, aged 42, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director with effect from 2 September
2021. Mr. Chan has more than ten years of experience in the
compliance and legal industry. From April 2007 to August
2011, Mr. Chan worked at G2000 (Apparel) Limited and left as
a compliance officer. From April 2015 to June 2017, Mr. Chan
worked as an assistant solicitor at M.C.A. Lai Solicitors LLP, a law
firm. From June 2017 to February 2018, Mr. Chan worked as a
consultant solicitor at C.K. Charles Ho & Co. (currently known
as Chan & Ho Solicitors), a law firm, and became a partner in
March 2018. Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor’s degree in laws
from University of Sheffield in the United Kingdom in June 2005.
Mr. Chan obtained a postgraduate certificate in laws from City
University of Hong Kong in July 2011. Mr. Chan was called to
the barrister in Hong Kong in April 2012 and he was admitted
as a solicitor of the High Court of Hong Kong in March 2015.
Mr. Chan has been an independent non-executive director of
Haina Intelligent Equipment International Holdings Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: 1645), since 4 May 2020. Mr. Chan was
an independent non-executive director of Nexion Technologies
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on GEM (Stock Code:
8420), for the period from 31 May 2017 to 2 November 2020.
He is a member of each of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.
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Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul, aged 84, has been appointed as
an independent non-executive Director with effect from 10
September 2021. Mr. Tong obtained his bachelor’s degree in arts
from the University of Hong Kong in November 1963. He went to
Yale University and obtained a master’s degree in sacred theology
in July 1971. He then furthered his studies in the University of
Cambridge, England, and obtained his bachelor’s degree in arts
in June 1987. Mr. Tong was called to the barrister in Hong Kong
in 1989. Mr Tong then further pursued a master’'s degree in arts
in the University of Cambridge, England in February 1991. Mr.
Tong was a panel member of the Securities and Futures Appeals
Tribunal for the period between April 2009 and March 2011.
Mr. Tong was appointed as a life fellow of St. John’s College,
the University of Hong Kong in 2008. Mr. Tong has been an
independent non-executive director of Ching Lee Holdings
Limited, a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 3728), since 10 March 2016.
He is a member of each of the audit committee, the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee.
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The Directors present herewith their report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2021. The Management Discussion and Analysis in
this Annual Report forms part of this Directors’ Report.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in
note 45 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group's revenue for the year under review was derived from
its business activities carried on in Hong Kong, Australia, the PRC
and Indonesia. An analysis of the Group's performance for the
year ended 31 December 2021 by operating segments is set out
in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

The business review of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2021 is set out in the paragraph headed “Business and Financial
Review” in the Management Discussion and Analysis on pages
10 to 29 in this Annual Report.
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PRINCIPAL RISK AND UNCERTAINTIES
Risks which are relevant to the Group and its business

(i) Mobile internet cultural business and provision of IT

services

On 14 December 2021, the Group ceased its provision of IT
services business in the PRC as a result of the Forced Sale.
The Group will continue to carry out its retail commerce
business under the mobile internet cultural business and
provision of IT services segment through its non-wholly
owned subsidiaries which are principally engaged in (i)
Walletku Digital application; (i) sales of products of Indosat
Ooredoo Hutchison; and (iii) Walletku E-commerce. The
Group’s mobile internet cultural business and provision of
IT services is sensitive to the general economic conditions. A
severe or prolonged downturn in the global or the Indonesian
economy could materially and adversely affect the Group’s
business, financial conditions, results of operations and
prospects.
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The IT industry is characterised by rapid technological
changes, changes in consumer preferences, quick
development and enhancement of services and products and
emerging industry standards. The introduction of services or
products embodying new technologies and the emergence
of new industry standards and practices can render existing
services or products obsolete and unmarketable. The
Group's future success will depend, in part, on its ability
to: (i) develop new products and services that address the
increasingly sophisticated and varied needs of prospective
customers; and (ii) respond to technological advances and
emerging industry standards and practices on a timely and
cost-effective basis. If the Group is unable to develop and
introduce new products in a timely manner in response to
changing market conditions and/or customer requirements,
or if its new products and services do not achieve market
acceptance, the Group’s business will be harmed. The
Group's development of new products and services entail
significant technological risks. The Group cannot assure that
it will succeed in using new technologies effectively, adapting
its services and products to emerging industry standards,
developing, introducing and marketing enhancements of its
services and products, or introducing its new products and
services.

As the market for the retail commerce business is highly
competitive, when the Group develops new applications
and software in the future, it may face further operating
and marketing challenges. If the Group fails to successfully
develop and launch new products in the competitive
markets or if the products developed by the Group lack
popularity, the Group may not be able to capture the growth
opportunities associated with these new products or recover
the costs associated with developing and marketing such
products, which may materially and adversely affect the
Group's business, financial conditions, results of operations
and growth strategies. The Group manages its retail
commerce business through the adoption of cost controls,
the establishment of an internal control system and the
maintenance of a positive corporate culture that attracts and
retains talents.

In addition, details of the concentration risk and credit risk
associated with the major customers of the Group in relation
to its provision of retail commerce business are discussed in
the paragraph headed “Relationships with Stakeholders” in
this Directors’ Report.
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(ii) Provision of hospitality and related services in Australia

The local business risks in Australia in relation to the Group’s
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia could
have material impact on the businesses, financial conditions,
results of operations and growth prospects of the Group’s
provision of hospitality and related services in Australia.
The Group is, and may increasingly become, exposed to
different and changing political, social, legal, tax, regulatory
and environmental requirements at the local, national or
international level in Australia. Also, new policies or measures
introduced by the governments in Australia, whether fiscal,
tax, regulatory or environmental, or other changes taking
place which affect market competition, may lead to an
increase in the Group's operating expenses and capital
expenditures, an increase in market competition, a decrease
in the overall investment return of the Group’s businesses
and may delay or disrupt the commercial operation of a
business resulting in a loss of revenue and profit, which may
adversely affect the Group’s businesses, financial conditions,
results of operations and growth prospects. In May 2021,
the Group completed the Cleveland Disposals. Despite the
implementation of a series of governmental restrictions
to combat COVID-19, the occupancy rate of Balgownie in
the first quarter of 2022 has gradually improved and the
Directors expect that the Group’s business in the provision
of hospitality and related services in Australia will continue
to improve in the second quarter of 2022 as the Victorian
Government has eased the restrictions in February 2022.
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The results of the Group are reported in Hong Kong dollars
but its subsidiaries may receive revenue and incur expenses
in other currencies. Any currency fluctuations arising from
the translation of the accounts of these subsidiaries, and the
repatriation of earnings, equity investments and loans may
adversely affect the Group’s businesses, financial conditions,
results of operations and growth prospects. A depreciation or
fluctuation in the currencies in which the Group conducts its
operations relative to the Hong Kong dollar could adversely
affect the Group’s businesses, financial conditions, results of
operations and growth prospects.

The Group is in the process of implementing its strategy of
achieving a diversified business portfolio to reduce its reliance
on revenue and income generated from one single major
segment or geographical location, so as to minimise the
risks related to fluctuations in the foreign exchange rates.
The Group may also consider to use appropriate hedging
instruments, including futures and forward contracts in
the management of exposure caused by fluctuations in the
foreign exchange rates.
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(iii) Money lending business

The money lending business of the Group is exposed to
possible default from the customers, which involves the risk
of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of customers
to meet their contractual obligations. If the customers of
the money lending business of the Group fail to meet their
contractual obligations, the Company may need to incur
additional costs to realise the collaterals for the relevant
secured loans. The risks of losses will be higher for unsecured
loans in the event of default. However, the Group has
adopted prudent credit procedures in customers’ acceptance
so as to minimise the credit risk of the Group.

(iv) Assets investments business

For the Group’s business of trading of securities in Hong
Kong, the Group aims at maximising the profits of the
Company for the Shareholders and will revamp its investment
strategy and explore securities investment opportunities with
due care and diligence. Due to the volatility and uncertainties
of the securities market in Hong Kong, the Group may suffer
losses on securities trading in the future if the investment
strategy the Group has adopted does not fit the then market
conditions. The Group will regularly review its investment
portfolio and determine a suitable investment strategy to
cater for the changes in the market conditions.

Risks which are relevant to the industry and market in
which the Group operates

The Group’s success will depend, in part, on its ability to respond
to technological advances. The Group may not be successful
in responding quickly, cost-effectively and sufficiently to these
developments. If the Group is unable, for technical, financial
or other reasons, to adapt in a timely manner in response to
technological advances, it will not be able to compete effectively
and the business of the Group will be adversely affected.
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The Group may face risks and uncertainties posed by local
political, regulatory and religious environments and failure to
comply with country-specific regulatory restrictions may expose
the Group to fines, penalties and liabilities. There is no assurance
that the current government policies, economic and social
conditions in the regions where the Group’s business operates
will not undergo significant changes in the future. Any new
rules and regulations introduced and implemented in the future
which regulate the business in mobile internet cultural business
and provision of IT services, hospitality and related services in
Australia, money lending and assets investments, may adversely
affect the business, international expansion and growth prospects
of the Group. The Group will from time to time obtain updates
on relevant rules and regulations from external professionals to
review and ensure the Group is in compliance with the applicable
regulations and requirements.

Financial Instrument Risks

The Group is subject to market risks, such as those in relation
to currency fluctuations and volatility of interest rates, price
risk, credit risk, and liquidity risk in the normal course of the
Group's business. Particulars of the nature and extent of financial
instrument risks of the Company are set out in note 43 to the
consolidated financial statements.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING YEAR

The Directors are not aware of any significant event after the
reporting period for the Group and up to the date of this Annual
Report.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the consolidated financial results and the
consolidated assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years are set out on page 308 in this Annual Report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year under review are set
out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 145. The Board does not
recommend the payment of a dividend for the year ended
31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Sales to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 84.8% of the total sales for the year under review,
and sales to the largest customer included therein amounted
to approximately 76.0%. Purchases from the Group's five
largest suppliers accounted for approximately 9.8% of the total
purchases for the year under review, and purchases from the
largest supplier included therein amounted to approximately
4.1%.

As far as the Directors are aware, none of the Directors, their
close associates or any Shareholders (whom to the knowledge of
the Directors own more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital) had any interest at any time during the year under review
in any of the Group's five largest customers or suppliers.

DONATIONS

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year
under review amounted to approximately HK$10,000 (2020:
HK$411,000).

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s acquisitions and disposals during the
year under review and the particulars of the subsidiaries of the
Company are set out in notes 33, 34 and 45 to the consolidated
financial statements, respectively.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the year under review are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company are set out
in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.
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RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the year under review are set out in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 149 in this Annual
Report and note 32 to the consolidated financial statements
respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had distributable
reserve of approximately HK$46,837,000 (2020:
HK$181,894,000) including accumulated losses of approximately
HK$1,161,684,000 (2020: HK$1,021,647,000). Under the
Company’s memorandum of association, the bye-laws of the
Company (the “Bye-laws”) and the Company Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), the contributed surplus and share
premium of the Company of approximately HK$693,308,000
and approximately HK$510,233,000, as at 31 December 2020
and 2021, respectively, are distributable to the Shareholders.
However, the Company cannot declare or pay a dividend, or
make distribution out of the distribution reserve if:

(@) the Company is, or would after the payment be, unable to
pay its liabilities as they become due; or

(b) the realisable value of the Company would thereby be less
than the aggregate of its liabilities, its issued share capital
and share premium accounts.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries, of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 December 2021.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, there were
changes in the information required to be disclosed pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 17.50(2) of the GEM Listing
Rules in the course of the term of office of a Director.
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Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe (“Mr. Wong"), an independent non-
executive Director, has been appointed as an executive director
of DeTai with effect from 25 March 2022, Mr. Wong has been
appointed as an independent non-executive director of Affluent
Partners with effect from 14 January 2022.

Save as disclosed above, there are no other matters that need
to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 17.50A(1) of the GEM Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS’ SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The Directors who held office during the year under review and
up to the date of this Directors’ Report were:

Non-executive Director:

Mr. Ng Ting Ho (Chairman)
(appointed with effect from

17 September 2021)
Executive Directors:

Ms. Lam Ching Yee
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu

(Chief Executive Officer)

(appointed with effect from
19 August 2021)

(Chairman)

(resigned with effect from
2 September 2021)

(resigned with effect from
19 August 2021)

Mr. Hui Chun Sum

Ms. Pauline Lam

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
Mr. Chan Ming Kit (appointed with effect from
2 September 2021)
(appointed with effect from
10 September 2021)
(resigned with effect from
2 September 2021)
(resigned with effect from
1 January 2022)

Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul

Professor
Tsui Ka Kin Kevin
Mr. Mui Wai Lun

In accordance with Bye-Law 83(2) of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Ng Ting
Ho, Mr. Fong Chak Kiu, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin
Sum Paul will retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company and, being eligible,
offer themselves for re-election.
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In accordance with Bye-Law 84 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Wong Siu
Keung, Joe will retire and being eligible, will offer himself for
re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company.

None of the Directors who are being proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by
the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without
payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Each of Ms. Lam Ching Yee and Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, had
been re-appointed for a term of 12 months commencing from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive). Mr.
Fong Chak Kiu has been appointed for a term from 19 August
2021 to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive). Mr. Chan Ming
Kit has been appointed for a term from 2 September 2021 to
31 December 2022 (both days inclusive). Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul
has been appointed for a term from 10 September 2021 to 31
December 2022 (both days inclusive). Mr. Ng Ting Ho has been
appointed for a term from 17 September 2021 to 31 December
2022 (both days inclusive).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

Pursuant to the requirement of the GEM Listing Rules, the
Company has received an annual written confirmation of his
independence from each of the independent non-executive
Directors. The Company considers that all of the independent
non-executive Directors are independent in accordance with Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save for disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no Director or an entity connected with a Director
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, in any
transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisting
during or at the end of the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

Mr. Hui Chun Sum, a former executive Director who resigned
with effect from 2 September 2021, is the ultimate sole
shareholder of Chinese Financial Limited, which is a company
principally engaged in the money lending business in Hong Kong.

Ms. Pauline Lam, a former executive Director who resigned with
effect from 19 August 2021, is the sole director and the sole
shareholder of Jin Li Da Limited, which is a company principally
engaged in the money lending business in Hong Kong.
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Mr. Ng Ting Ho, a non-executive Director since 17 September
2021, is a director of each of Way Union Finance Limited and
Delight Sky Finance Limited, which are principally engaged in the
money lending business in Hong Kong, that are wholly-owned
subsidiaries of China Demeter.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, controlling
shareholder of the Company or their respective close associates
had an interest in any business, apart from the businesses of
the Group, which competes or may compete either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group during the year under
review.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of
the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company
was entered into or existed during the year under review.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during or at the end of the year under review was
there any arrangement where rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or children
under 18 years of age, or were any such rights exercised by
them; or was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party
to any arrangement to enable the Directors or their respective
spouse or minor children to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

DIRECTORS" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
THE SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors or chief executive
of the Company had, or was deemed to have, any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) as recorded in the register
required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
required standard of dealings by the Directors as referred to in
Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2021, the following persons (other than
Directors or chief executive of the Company) had, or was deemed
to have, interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying
Shares of the Company as recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Substantial Shareholders — long position in the shares of
the Company

TERR 2 ER

RZBE-_—F+-_A=+—H THAL(E
BRARAITERBHERIN) RAR R G5 48
AR P EAE SR AEE L ARRDAIRE
BENMEAEIENEICIEREAFE 2 E LM
ZHEmIAE

FERR-REQXARBZ2HR

Number of
ordinary
shares  Approximate
(the “Shares”) percentage
Name of Shareholder Capacity involved (Note)
B R
BiERR 5 BB
IRt & 5 5 ([l BE (H3E)
Ng Ting Kit (“Mr. Ng") Beneficial owner 763,780,000 14.31%
REFE(TREE]) EREAA
Interest of a controlled corporation
(Note 2)
REEER 2 #Em (H5E2) 345,660,000 6.48%
King's Group Capital Limited ("KGCL") Beneficial owner (Note 2) 345,660,000 6.48%
RBERERBR AT ([REBER]) BEnEA A (M5E2)

Notes:

1. This is based on the total issued Shares as at 31 December 2021, i.e.
5,336,235,108 Shares.

2. Based on the notices of disclosure of interests of Mr. Ng and KGCL
filed with the Stock Exchange on 6 July 2021, such Shares were
held by KGCL, which is a company wholly-owned by Mr. Ng. As
such, Mr. Ng is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by KGCL
by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, there were
no Shareholders or other persons (other than Directors or chief
executive of the Company) who had, or was deemed to have,
interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying Shares,
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company recorded in the
register as required to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

Details of the emolument policy of the Company are set out in
the paragraph headed “Employees’ Remuneration Policies” in the
Management Discussion and Analysis on page 48 in this Annual
Report.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Under the terms of the Scheme, the Board is authorised, at
its absolute discretion, to grant options to eligible participants
including any eligible employee, any directors (including non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors) of
the Company, any subsidiary of the Company or any invested
entity; any supplier of goods or services to any member of the
Group or any invested entity, any customer of any member of the
Group or any invested entity, any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support to any
member of the Group or any invested entity, any shareholder of
any member of the Group or any invested entity or any holder
of any securities issued by any member of the Group or any
invested entity, any professional adviser, consultant, individual or
entity who in the opinion of the Directors has contributed or will
contribute to the growth and development of the Group, and
any other group or classes of participants who have contributed
or may contribute by way of joint venture, business alliance or
other business arrangement to the development and growth of
the Group.

The purpose of the Scheme is to provide incentives or rewards
for eligible participants’ contribution to the Group and/or to
enable the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees
and attract human resources that are valuable to the Group and
any invested entity.

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Scheme
would not exceed 1% of the aggregate number of shares for the
time being issued and issuable in any 12-month period under the
Scheme.

A nominal consideration of HK$1 is payable on acceptance of
the grant of an option.

The exercise price will be determined by the Directors, but may
not be less than the highest of the closing price of the shares on
the GEM on the date of the grant of the option or the average
of the closing price of the shares on the GEM for the five trading
days immediately preceding the date of the offer of grant of the
option or the nominal value of the shares.

The Scheme shall remain in force for the period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date of the Scheme which was
9 June 2020.

The maximum number of shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all options that may be granted under
the existing Scheme limit is 533,623,510 shares of HK$0.01 each
(representing approximately 10% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at the date of this Annual Report). During the
year ended 31 December 2021, no options have been granted
under the existing Scheme limit.
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An option may be exercised at any time during the period to be
determined and identified by the Board to each grantee at the
time of making an offer for the grant of an option, but in any
event no later than 10 years from the date of grant but subject
to the early termination of the Scheme.

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held or
no performance target which must be achieved before any of the
options can be exercised.

As at 1 January 2021 and 31 December 2021, there were no
share options outstanding, granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Scheme.

Details of the Scheme are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.

ISSUE OF CONVERTIBLE LOANS

On 15 December 2021, a subsidiary of the Company,
Endless Foison Limited (“EFL"), issued the convertible loan
notes (“Convertible Notes”) with maximum amount of
HK$20,000,000, the principal amount of HK$7,000,000 of
which were issued by EFL to parties independent of the Group
in December 2021, for funding general working capital of the
Group. The Convertible Notes will mature on 31 March 2024
(“Maturity Date”) and do not carry interest. The Convertible
Notes may be convertible into fully paid ordinary shares of
EFL at the option of the holders of the Convertible Notes
(“Noteholders”), based on the outstanding principal amount
of the Convertible Notes, the agreed valuation of the Company
and the then number of issued shares of EFL in accordance with
the terms and conditions of the Convertible Notes. Based on
the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes of
HK$7,000,000 and the number of issued shares of EFL as at 31
December 2021 and the terms and conditions of the Convertible
Notes, the full exercise of the conversion right of such
outstanding Convertible Notes will not result in issue of more
than 5% of the existing issued shares of EFL. The Noteholders
may also request for early redemption of the Convertible Notes
by EFL at 105% of the par value of the Convertible Notes during
the period from the first business day immediately after 31 March
2023 and the date which is 10 business days immediately before
the Maturity Date.
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There was no conversion or redemption of the Convertible Notes
during the year ended 31 December 2021. The gross proceeds of
the issue of the Convertible Notes of HK$7,000,000 received by
EFL were fully utilized as general working capital of the Group in
the year ended 31 December 2021.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save that the related party transactions as disclosed in notes (i) to
(i) and (v) to note 37(a) to the consolidated financial statements
constituted continuing connected transaction or connected
transaction as defined in Chapter 20 of the GEM Listing Rules
of the Company, the related party transactions disclosed in note
37(a) to the consolidated financial statements do not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions of
the Company.

The Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with
the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 20 of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Save for disclosed in note 37 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transactions, arrangements and contracts of
significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries and fellow subsidiaries was a
party and in which a Director and the Director’s connected party
or a controlling shareholder had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at any time during the year under
review.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND
PERFORMANCE

The Group encourages environmental protection and promotes
awareness towards environmental protection to its employees.
The Group has adopted paperless systems and practices in its
daily operations, such as human resources and procurement, as
appropriate. Creating a paperless working environment not only
alleviates environmental damages but also fits the commercial
goals of the Group, which saves physical space, facilitates
information sharing via IT networks, and reduces complicated
documentation procedures for the Group. Moreover, duplex
printing and copying have become the norm within the Group,
greatly reducing paper consumption and saving costs. Data on
printing is regularly collected and assessed, in order to monitor
the efficacy of the Group’s paperless environment. Details of
the Group’s commitments and efforts are summarised in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report in this Annual
Report.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees are valuable assets of
the Group. The Group ensures all employees are reasonably
remunerated, and continues to improve, regularly review and
update its policies on remuneration and benefits, training,
occupational health and safety. Employees are encouraged to
devote their time to participate in local fund-raising activities.

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good
relationship with its suppliers, customers and business partners to
meet its immediate and long-term goals. Based on the Group's
business nature, most of the customers are occasional and non-
routine, except for the major customer in relation to the Group'’s
provision of IT services, which is a sizable corporate client
which has over ten years of relationship with the Group until
14 December 2021 upon the completion of the Forced Sale. To
minimise credit risk, the Group in general does not allow credit
sales for individual customers. On the other hand, credit terms
ranging from 30 days to 180 days are given to sizable corporate
customers and major customers with long-term business
relationships with the Group. The Group values the feedback
from its customers and always tries to understand their needs
through regular communication and business updates.
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In particular, the largest customer in relation to the Group's
IT services business has accounted for approximately 77.9%
(2020: 94.5%) of the total revenue of the Group from the
corresponding business and 76.0% (2020: 91.3%) of the total
revenue of the Group during the year ended 31 December 2021.
Such customer is a leading Chinese multinational networking
and telecommunications equipment and services company.
The contractual credit period agreed with such customer was
generally 90 days, whereas the maximum extension of credit
period was 6 months. During the year ended 31 December
2018, the Group changed its accounting policies in relation
to the assessment of the recoverability of accounts receivable
following the initial adoption of Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standard (the “HKFRS") 9 “Financial instruments”. The expected
credit loss model requires an ongoing measurement of credit
risk associated with a financial asset. Under this model, the
Group has made a reversal of impairment of contract assets of
approximately HK$Nil (2020: HK$536,000); and a reversal of
impairment loss of approximately HK$292,000 (2020: impairment
loss of approximately HK$1,691,000) on accounts receivable,
loan and interest receivables for the year ended 31 December
2021.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year under review, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations
such as the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”), the GEM Listing
Rules, and other applicable local laws and regulations in various
jurisdictions that has a significant impact on the business and
operations of the Group.

In addition, the Group is subject to the requirements under
various laws in relation to its different business segments.
The laws and regulations that have significant impacts on the
business and operations of the Group are as follows.

Business Primary legislation/regulations
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Implication
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Provision of hospitality and
related services in Australia

Competition and Consumer Act 2010
(Australia)
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The Competition and Consumer Act 2010 covers most
areas of the business market in the Australia including
the relationships between suppliers, wholesalers,
retailer, and consumers by promoting fair trading and
competition and through the provision of consumer
protections.

Qo0EHRFRHEELR) RERNBRMSHAS
gan BREMER HER TEARBEEL
MNBER SERELRTEZRBF URBEER
iR

ERREBRZERERAAE | —T——FF#R 71



Business

%

Primary legislation/regulations

TEHR AR

Implication

2B

Money lending business

e

Mobile internet cultural business and
provision of IT services

BHEBBXCEBR
REEABBRS

Mobile internet cultural business and
provision of IT services

BRERBEBR
REEARBRS

Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163
of the Laws of Hong Kong)

(REAG) (BAEHIF163F)

Bank Indonesia regulation No. 22/23/PBI/2020
on the Payment System (“PS Regulation”)

BN RS R 5E22/23/PBI/202055%
ENRRITHRA ([PSEHI])

Government Regulation No. 80 of 2019
on Trade through Electronic Systems
("GR 80/2019")

(Q019F E80RBBETEHR
ETESNBRFAG)
([BUF#H 51580/2019% | )

The Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) (i) provides for the control and
regulation of money lenders and money-lending
transactions and the licensing of persons carrying
on business as money lenders; and (i) provides
protection and relief against excessive interest rates
and extortionate stipulations in respect of loans. The
Group has to carry on its money lending business
in compliance with this ordinance, such as the
requirements on entering into loan transactions and
the restriction on the interest rates of the loans.

BREPIFE163E (WEA KD ()RHE T HEARSE
EXHZEFNMBEENREERBARHZALE
MEEZRTE  R(i) REFHE B RAFFR R
ERMELRE FEEERBNGANEAREE
R WAL EHRR G RREVEHM R 2 RE o

PS Regulation introduces a framework and principles for
the new Indonesian payment system regime which
shift the traditional regulatory approach for Indonesian
payment systems from being “entity-based” to
becoming more “activities and risk-based” that covers
regulations including (i) operator classifications; (ii)
licensing; and (iii) ownership/control.
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GR 80/2019 provides legal certainty for the continuous
development of electronic-based trading activities
in Indonesia, and covers, among other things,
E-Commerce parties, the general requirements
and obligations for E-Commerce, the protection of
consumers and personal data and administrative
sanctions for violations of GR 80/2019.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

A permitted indemnity provision that meets the requirements
specified in section 469(2) of the Companies Ordinance for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the year under review. The Company has taken out
and maintained directors’ liability insurance during the year under
review, which provides appropriate cover for the directors of the
Group.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors as at the latest
practicable date prior to the date of this Annual Report, the
Company has maintained sufficient public float under the GEM
Listing Rules as at the date of this Annual Report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Bye-Laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares of the Company on a pro-rata
basis to existing Shareholders.

AUDITOR

PKF Hong Kong Limited resigned as the auditor of the Company
with effect from 27 November 2019 as the Company was unable
to reach an agreement with PKF Hong Kong Limited on the
auditor’s remuneration for the year ended 31 December 2019.
The Board has resolved that, with the recommendation of the
audit committee of the Board, to appoint Ascenda Cachet CPA
Limited as the new auditor of the Company with effect from 27
November 2019 to fill the causal vacancy left by the resignation
of PKF Hong Kong Limited.
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Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited resigned as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 7 January 2021 because, as part
of their normal procedures including an annual consideration
of whether they would wish to continue to act for their audit
clients, having taken into account the level of audit fees and
their available internal resources in light of their current work
flows in respect of the professional risk associated with the audit,
they decided to tender their resignation as the auditor of the
Company. The Board has resolved that, with the recommendation
of the audit committee of the Board, to appoint McMillan Woods
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited as the new auditor of the Company
with effect from 7 January 2021 to fill the causal vacancy left by
the resignation of Ascenda Cachet CPA Limited.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited will retire and being
eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the
re-appointment of McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited as
the auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Ng Ting Ho
Chairman

20 April 2022
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

INTRODUCTION

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, “the Group”) adopts a diversified business
development strategy and has established its firm footing in
four business segments, namely (i) mobile internet cultural
business and provision of information technology (“IT") services;
(ii) provision of hospitality and related services in Australia; (iii)
money lending business; and (iv) assets investments business
during the financial year ended 31 December 2021 (“FY2021").

This Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report”) summarises the environmental, social and governance
("ESG") initiatives, plans and performances of the Group and
demonstrates its commitment to sustainable development.

The ESG Governance Structure

The Group conducts a top-down management approach
regarding its ESG issues. The board of Directors of the Company
(the "Board”) oversees the Group's ESG performance, sets
out ESG strategies and periodically reviews the progress of the
identified material ESG issues. The Board is also responsible for
ensuring the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal controls.

The Group has designated personnel to systematically identify
and cater to ESG issues. The said personnel are responsible for
collecting and analysing relevant ESG data and identifying the
Group’s ESG issues, reviewing the progress of the goals and
targets which are set to minimize the environmental impacts
from the Group’s operations. In addition, these designated
personnel will periodically report to the Board for the evaluation
and subsequent implementation or revision of the Group’s ESG
strategies.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

This ESG Report only covers the Group’s businesses in relation
to the provision of hospitality and related services in Australia,
money lending business and assets investments business in Hong
Kong. The Balgownie Estate Vineyard Resort & Spa Yarra Valley
(“Balgownie”) and a general administrative office in Hong
Kong will therefore be included in this ESG Report. The scope
of reporting is differed from that in the financial year ended
31 December 2020 (“FY2020") where Bellinzona Resort Cellar
Door & Dining (“Bellinzona”), which was disposed of in August
2020, and Cleveland Winery Resort & Events (“Cleveland”),
which was disposed of in May 2021, are excluded.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BE HeREARE

The KPIs gathered are shown in this ESG Report and are
supplemented by explanatory notes to establish benchmarks.
The Group will extend the scope of disclosure when and where
possible.

REPORTING FRAMEWORK

This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (“ESG
Reporting Guide"”) as set out in Appendix 20 to the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied
the reporting principles stipulated in the ESG Reporting Guide as
follows:

e "“Materiality” — The materiality assessment was conducted to
identify material issues during FY2021, thereby adopting the
confirmed material issues as the focus for the preparation of
this ESG Report. The materiality of issues was reviewed and
confirmed by the Board. Please refer to the sections headed
“Stakeholder Engagement” and “Materiality Assessment”
for further details.

e “Quantitative” — Supplementary notes are added along with
guantitative data disclosed in this ESG Report to explain
any standards, methodologies, and source of conversion
factors used during the calculation of emissions and energy
consumption.

e “Consistency” — The approach adopted for the preparation
of this ESG Report was substantially consistent with the
previous year, and explanations were provided regarding
data with changes in the scope of disclosure and calculation
methodologies.

Information relating to the Group’s corporate governance
practices can be found in the Corporate Governance Report on
pages 112 to 128 of this Annual Report.

REPORTING PERIOD

This ESG Report specifies the ESG activities, challenges, measures
taken, compliance and results of the Group during FY2021.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group values its stakeholders and their feedback regarding
its businesses and ESG performance. To understand and
address their key concerns, the Group has maintained close
communication with its key stakeholders, including but not
limited to shareholders and investors, customers, employees,
suppliers, loan and debt holders, media, and the public as well as
government and regulatory authorities.

In formulating its operational and ESG strategies, the Group
considers stakeholders’ expectations through a diverse range of
engagement methods and communication channels, as shown

below:

Stakeholders
A HEER

Engagement Methods
287
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Expectations
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Shareholders and investors

BRRRREE

Customers
BP

Employees

E&

Suppliers
HER

Loan and debt holders
ERkEEA

Media and the public
L SN
Government and regulatory authorities

B R EE#E

e Annual general meeting and
other shareholders" meetings
BRERBFAGRAMBREAS

e Financial reports

o Sustainable economic performance
AREN K ERR

e Risk management

HBRS BRER

e Announcements and circulars e Sound corporate governance practices
NGl RENEEERER

o Company websites o long-term growth of the business
AR FHRREAER

o Front desk manager e Good customer service
EIE=gSE BENEFRE

o Customer satisfaction survey e Customer privacy protection
EFmEERE ZFLERE

o Training, seminars, and briefing sessions o Remuneration and benefits
Bl e REHRe ELEER

o Performance reviews e  Good employment practices
BHER RIFHERER

o Emails o Safe and healthy work environment
BB T2 RERNIERE

o Supplier management meetings and events o

Fair procurement

HEBERGENLED AV
o Supplier audit o Sustainable development of supply chain
GEESA HEREASEER
e Regular meetings e Reqular discussions
THeR bRk
o Compliant operation
BREE
o ESG Report o Transparent information disclosure
RE - HERELRRE BRANELSRE
o Written or electronic correspondences o Compliance with local laws and regulations
EEHEFEA ST T AR AR
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ENVIRONMENI&E SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

A materiality assessment in the form of surveys was conducted
during FY2021, where the Group's stakeholders evaluated the
materiality of different ESG issues of the Group based on several
criteria including but not limited to direct financial implications
and the level of impact the Group's activities on the environment
and society. Sustainability factors that were material to the
Group's business operations have been reviewed by the Board,
management and employees who are responsible for the key
functions of the Group.

REPORT
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During FY2021, the Group has developed its strategies based on R T - —BMF KNEERBFEIUTEEHEE
the materiality matrix as follows: il 7E SR
Materiality Matrix
High
=) Occupational Health and Safety
BERREZS
Customer Health and Safety|_‘
Training and Development ZEERERETE
EFIRER L
Business Ethics
Employees' Rights and Welfare [GEIEL
ETERNREF Product Quality and Safety [-®
2 - — EnBEERTE
i Equal Opportunity and Anti-discrimination
3 Community Engagement | FEHRSRRER Talent Attraction and _T
O o HE2E = = Retention
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<¥E bR Customer Data Protectionand [ g Customers Services and RES
=N Privacy Complaint Management
2 da EFHERERTLE EFRERFFRER Greenhouse Gas ("GHG”)Emissions (-
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i Use of Other Resources
LR Hib & REA .\i Protection of Intellectual Property Rights
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; Supply Chain Management |—‘ Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation
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Low IMPACT ON BUSINESS High
& HERZHERE =)
The Group confirms that it has established appropriate and ASE#EREER-_T-_—PFRE HLSTK
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effective management policies and internal control systems for
ESG issues for FY2021 and confirms that the disclosed contents
are in compliance with the requirements of the ESG Reporting
Guide.
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CONTACT US

The Group welcomes stakeholders to provide their opinions and
suggestions. You can provide your valuable advice with regard
to this ESG Report or the Group’s performances in sustainable
development by writing to 9/F, HKHC Tower, No 241-243 Nathan
Road, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

A. ENVIRONMENTAL

A1.Emissions

Environmental protection and sustainable development
rely on concerted and continuous efforts from all
industries and society. Therefore, the Group has
continued to refine and improve its mitigation policies to
reduce both its direct and indirect negative environmental
impacts arising from its business operations.

The Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with laws and regulations relating to
air and GHG emissions, discharges into water and land,
and the generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste that would have a significant impact on the Group
during FY2021. The said laws and regulations include
but are not limited to the Road Traffic Ordinance, the
Waste Disposal Ordinance, the Water Pollution Ordinance
of Hong Kong, the State Environment Protection Policy
(Ambient Air Quality) and the Environment Protection Act
2017 of Victoria, Australia.

Air Emissions

Due to the Group’s business nature, only an immaterial
amount of air emissions was generated from the use of
company vehicles. Description of mitigation measures of
emissions will be provided in the following section — GHG
Emissions.

RE g8 RERBRE

b 5 3 1P

AEBBABHMEREELAREZ BT
AEEBARE HehEARENAEETA
BERRRBNEEERAUNEEARBFTE
AT otk - 3 78 N RE A B BB 241-2435 &
kRN AR =

AIRIE
A1 e

RERELAAFEEZREBESTER
EHENERFELS H Al NEE
BMETE NN EERBEBUR AR A
-E%ﬁ‘“%@ﬁﬁ—f EHIRIBEKNE
EZLkEZEamyE-

RZZEZ—0MF AEETTABE
MEEEREBERNMBAE REER-
MR LT SUREEREERESE
MEARZEREZEAMBASEELS
ARENEH L EREERER
TRV EBH CERBIEH) « CEE
YR B AR ~ OB RE HHER) -
}i}J\lz’Eyf'J MNE) GRIBIREBUR (R

FEREE) ) M (CE—LFRER
x/i‘:>>

BRI

R ARENEHBEEL AEEER
ERRARIEMELELENBEREHRMR-
T—EB—REREBHREN A RBEE
i

EXMEEZRARAAF | —FT——FFH 79



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BE HeREARE

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

80

A1.Emissions (Cont’d)

GHG Emissions

The principal GHG emissions of the Group were
generated from the combustion of petrol and diesel
from the use of vehicles and yachts (Scope 1), purchased
electricity (Scope 2) and paper waste disposal at landfills
(Scope 3).

Scope 1 — Direct GHG Emissions

To reduce fuel usage and thus air emission, the Group
has provided the following guidelines to its business
operations:

e Switch off the engine when the vehicle is idling;

e Plan driving routes ahead of time to optimise fuel
consumption and reduce air emissions; and

e Provide regular maintenance service for the vehicles
to ensure optimal engine performance and fuel use.

Scope 2 — Indirect GHG Emissions

Electricity consumption accounts for the largest indirect
GHG emissions within the Group. The Group has
implemented a series of measures to reduce energy
consumption, such measures will be mentioned in the
section headed “Aspect A2 — Use of Resources”.

Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions

Due to the travel restrictions caused by the COVID-19
pandemic, all business travel was temporarily suspended
and was replaced by web conferences or teleconferences.
Measures on reducing the disposal of paper waste will be
mentioned in the section headed “Non-hazardous Waste
Handling Method”.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D) AIRIE (88)
A1.Emissions (Cont'd) A1 B R (&)
GHG Emissions (Cont’d) BEREHL (E)
Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions (Cont’d) HE-AMEEEEREHK (&)
Total GHG emissions in FY2021 has significantly HR-ZE_THFHEEMREA R
decreased compared to that in FY2020 due to the T WFHERERE — T = —
disposal of Bellinzona in FY2020 and Cleveland in MENRERBENEER_Z_F
FY2021. During FY2021, the Group set a target of MEREBRLD RZTEZ—F KK
maintaining or reducing the total GHG emissions intensity ERENEERERR=ZFRHN HEZ
(tCO,e/million revenue) in the next 3 years compared to == —ﬁ7f¢$ﬁ bb - #E R SR ERER
that in FY2021. BoakREE (B_SLREE B
BUA) o

Summary of GHG emissions performances: mEREEEMRIEME
Indicator’ Unit? FY2021 FY2020
BEE B8 {2 —E--BE —T-_TWF

Scope 1 - Direct GHG emissions
HEN-HEAEREBEHMN
e Petrol and diesel consumption tCOe 14.45 170.45
YU & S E ﬂ¢ﬁ_’£ﬂtﬁ BEE
Scope 2 — Indirect GHG emissions
HE2—FEAEREBEHER
®  Purchased electricity tCOe 791.55 939.77
SNBE ) W= ’%Mtﬁr?é‘
Scope 3 — Other indirect GHG emissions
#HE3—H R ERBHR
e Air travel and paper waste disposed

at landfills tCO,e 4.95 6.28
i 28 HiR 1T R 4y SRR AR 5
BERER “atixEE
Total GHG emissions tCO e 810.95 1,116.50
BERBHMEE Wk R
Intensity tCO,e/million revenue?® (HK$) 18.34 31.51
BE W= %{t REE/ BERAERL)
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A1.Emissions (Cont’d)

82

GHG Emissions (Cont’d)

Scope 3 — Other Indirect GHG Emissions (Cont’d)

Note:

1.

GHG emissions data is presented in terms of carbon
dioxide equivalent and is based on, but not limited to,
“The Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting
and Reporting Standards” issued by the World Resources
Institute and the World Business Council for Sustainable
Development, “How to prepare an ESG report — Appendix
2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by
the Stock Exchange, the Global Warming Potential Values
from the IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, 2014 (AR5), the
Sustainability Report 2020 issued by Hong Kong Electric
and the National Greenhouse Accounts Factors issued
by the Department of the Environment and Energy of
Australia.

tCO,e is defined as tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent.

During FY2021, the Group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$44,229,000 (FY2020: HK$36,293,000)
under the reported segments. This data is also used for
calculating other intensity data.

Sewage Discharge

Due to the Group's business nature, the sewage
discharge into land is insignificant. Similarly, there was no
significant and unreasonable amount of sewage water
discharged; used water was discharged to the municipal
sewage network to the regional water treatment plant.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A1.Emissions (Cont'd)

Waste Management
Hazardous Waste Handling Method

Due to the Group's business nature, no material
hazardous waste, according to the list of waste
considered as being hazardous under the Hazardous
Waste (Regulation of Exports and Imports) Act 1989 of
Australia and Waste Disposal Ordinance of Hong Kong,
was generated during FY2021.

Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method

The majority of the non-hazardous waste generated
by the Group was office paper. A policy on reducing
wastage can also be found in the respective Employee
Handbook for both the Group’s head office in Hong
Kong and Balgownie, it reminds employees to take
extra care during normal duties when handling tools,
equipments, supplies and food so that the Group can
minimise its non-hazardous waste production.

In the office, a number of green measures are encouraged:

e Use double-sided printing or photocopying;

e Print electronic correspondences only when necessary;
and

e Reuse one-sided printed paper.

At Balgownie, the Group has incorporated sustainability
measures into its daily operations by introducing a robust
recycling system. The Group engaged one of Australia’s
largest recyclers to recycle the plastic bottles and paper
generated by the Group’s operations. The Group is
also planning on transitioning away from single-use
plastic items and replacing them with more sustainable
alternatives in the future.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

84

A1.Emissions (Cont’d)

Waste Management (Cont’d)
Non-hazardous Waste Handling Method (Cont’d)

Due to the development of the data collection system,
the Group has expanded the records of different
categories of waste disposal during FY2021, therefore
direct comparison of the disposal amount is not
applicable. During FY2021, the Group set a target
of maintaining or reducing the total non-hazardous
wastes intensity (kg/million revenue) in the next 3 years
compared to that in FY2021.

Summary of major non-hazardous waste discharge
performance:

REPORT

AIRIE ()

A1

B ()

EBERYEE (H)
BEZEEYEIETE (B

HRAZETHERERR AREC
R-B-_—MFERERTEREYRIE
M E A HREREETE
&tbfﬁ?kﬁﬁ R —MF K
BRENBRERERAR=ZFA &
:gi—ﬁﬁiffﬁtt M REESE
BEEMRERE (TR /BA8RA) -

TEEEEEVMHRRAMRE:

Categories of waste Unit FY2021 FY2020
BRYER B ZB--HEFE _—T-_THF
Office paper Kg 1,030.35 1,308.98
WARK T=

General waste Kg 119,400.00 14,387.20
—MRREEY) T

Cans and Bottles Kg 47,300.00 -
1 M RF TR

Wasted packaging materials Kg 3,960.00 -
FEZ B EM L TR

Total non-hazardous waste Kg 171,690.35 15,696.18
BEERVES T

Intensity Kg/million revenue (HK$) 3,881.85 442 98
nE FTr/BEBRA (BT
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A2.Use of Resources

The Group recognises its responsibility to take the initiative
in efficiently utilising finite resources and carry out its
corporate social responsibility to introduce additional eco-
friendly approaches to enhance the Group’s sustainability
performance.

Water Consumption

The Group is committed to reducing water usage by
promoting and nurturing employees’ awareness of water
conservation. A number of green measures have been
adopted in the Group's business operations:

e Water collected from the roofs of Balgownie will be
reused for various purposes to reduce reliance on
external water supply;

e Effluent treatment systems are installed at Balgownie
to capture and treat all waste on-site, water is then
reused on all irrigation to the vines and landscaping;

e Water-saving slogans and posters are displayed as
reminders; and

e Dual flush water cisterns in toilets and faucet aerators
in sinks are installed in washrooms.

Water consumption in FY2021 has significantly decreased
compared to that in FY2020 due to the disposal of
Bellinzona in FY2020 and Cleveland in FY2021. During
FY2021, the Group set a target of maintaining or
reducing the total water consumption intensity (m3/
million revenue) in the next 3 years compared to that in
FY2021.

Due to the business nature, the Group did not encounter
any problem in sourcing water that is fit for purpose
during FY2021.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D) AIRIE (88)
A2.Use of Resources (Cont'd) A2 ERER (&)

Water Consumption (Cont'd) KIFEFE (#&)

Summary of water consumption performance: AKKRBEHRE:

Indicator Unit FY2021 FY2020

BE B “B--ME _—T_THF

Total water consumption® m?3 4,787.00 7,366.02

BREKE MK

Intensity m3/million revenue (HK$) 108.23 207.89

BE MEX/BBRA GBT)

Note: Bt 5 -

4. Data excludes water consumption in the Hong Kong 4. BETEEDBNEE LT KED
office and Cleveland as water usage is included in the KIBBFE WIBREERAERAK
management fee in the Hong Kong office and water tanks EEEEEREN MrREXE (ZZ
were used in Cleveland (for FY2020), no meter reading is ZEBF)FERKE - FTAT R &
therefore available. FKEH -

Energy Consumption BEIRH #E

The Group has established relevant policies and initiatives rEEE %Ufﬁﬁﬁ BE MR R R FE i

on energy conservation to monitor and maximise its LA BE 12 ERSEERMIE  LH

energy efficiency. All employees are duly notified of the H1TE#A LB( SYSEE ﬁm%ﬂgi\ﬁ%’iﬁé\ °

implementation of such policies and measures. Regular REBEFE BT LR B IR B KiF4

review is conducted on the Group's energy objectives HEASERNGERBEERSE- 1ﬁ$’§

for continuous improvement in the Group's energy B E A EBHERERAE TS IEIE M

consumption performance. Should the energy usage in REBBAEHH NIZERAEHFE

any of the Group’s operations increase unreasonably, the pEH-N-(]:

Group will send reminders via email to remind relevant
departments of energy conservation.

In the office, a number of green measures have been ERAE BB ZERRER:
encouraged:
e Purchase energy-efficient equipments on replacement e HEEMERBEBRE(RE:

of retired equipments;

e Switch off unnecessary lightings and electrical e THAKBATHENRARS
appliances when not in use; and RN

e Set all computer screens and printers to standby e KMMABKFRERITHMERE
mode after a certain period of idling. —BREEEERERGHE-
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A2.Use of Resources (Cont'd)

Energy Consumption (Cont’d)

At Balgownie, the Group stresses the importance of
environmental sustainability; sustainable designs can be
observed throughout Balgownie. A number of elements
have been incorporated to reduce energy usage, as
shown below:

e Power-saving devices have been installed to all units
which automatically de-activate all air-conditioning
and lighting when the units are left unattended;

e Appropriate insulation and shading to the building
have been added to optimise temperature control;

e Skylights and glazing are installed to bring more
natural light into the facilities;

e Solar heating systems are installed to complement
gas heating systems and electric efficient heat pumps;
and

e Natural flow through ventilation to all units reduces
the reliance on air-conditioning usage.

Energy consumption in FY2021 has significantly
decreased compared to that in FY2020 due to the
disposal of Bellinzona in FY2020 and Cleveland in
FY2021. During FY2021, the Group set a target of
maintaining or reducing the total energy consumption
intensity (kWh/million revenue) in the next 3 years
compared to that in FY2021.
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A.

88

ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D) A IR (8)
A2.Use of Resources (Cont'd) A2.ERER (&)
Energy Consumption (Cont’d) BEIRHFE (#8)
Summary of energy consumption performance: BERBEFRREHME
Types of energy Unit FY2021 FY2020
RERER By e s R
Direct Energy Consumption kWh 58,020.54 359,723.85
BEERERER TR
e Diesel kWh 50,315.91 334,871.04
o L TR
e Petrol kWh 7,704.63 24,852 .81
o M TR
Indirect Energy Consumption kWh 878,978.83 960,904.24
5 B RO #E FRE
e Electricity kWh
o T TR
Total Energy Consumption kWh 936,999.37 1,320,628.09
AR E R E TRE
Total Energy Consumption Intensity kWh/million revenue (HK$) 21,185.18 37,271.13
B RRRTE TRE/BERA (BT)
Use of Packaging Material BEHEEA
Though the Group owns a vineyard in Balgownie, its BEASENEREAECHRBEER"
wine production has been subcontracted to a third party. BEEBREEEDBET HRE=FH-
Therefore, the use of packaging material for the said wine Bt 584 ER B EMER
production is not under the direct operational control of FERIAEAEE E’JEE .g. EE
the Group. Having considered all the reported segments, REFTBERE D HE  BRMAE
the use of packaging material is not considered as a ATERABARE li;zﬁ’]f%i% -
material ESG aspect of the Group. NEREM -
Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2021
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)

A3.The Environment and Natural Resources

The Group is committed to minimising negative
environmental impacts occasioned by the Group’s
business operations. The business activities of the Group
do not significantly impact the environment and natural
resources. The Group does, however, continue to be
vigilant to the potential environmental impacts arising
from its business operations.

Use of Other Resources

During the procurement process for furniture
and amenities, the Group takes sustainability into
consideration and prefers procuring from organisations
that offer responsibly sourced goods. For the provision
of hospitality and related services in Australia, the
Group intends to further minimise the use of single-use
disposable items, consider the environmental impacts and
life cycle of the products to be purchased and explore
more environmentally friendly alternatives.

Noise Control

The Group recognises that entertainment venue noise
may be generated at Balgownie. The Group abides by
the State Environment Protection Policy (Control of Music
Noise from Public Premises) No. N-2 which is incorporated
in the venues’ current liquor licences. Balgownie actively
control the music level and limit loud music at the
prescribed hours to ensure that guests and neighbours
will not be severely disrupted.
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A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)
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A4.Climate Change

Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation

The Group is aware of the threat posed by climate
change and is adamant in doing its part by offsetting its
carbon footprint. The Group recognises the importance
of the identification and mitigation of significant climate-
related issues, therefore closely monitors the potential
impact of climate change on our business and operations
and is committed to managing the potential climate-
related risks which may impact the Group’s business
activities. In accordance with the reporting framework
developed by the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures, there are two major categories of climate-
related risks, physical and transition risks. The Group has
implemented risk management exercise in identifying and
mitigating climate-related risks.

Physical Risks

The increased frequency and severity of extreme weather
events such as typhoons, storms, heavy rains, and
extreme cold or heat bring acute and chronic physical
risks to the Group’s business. The Group’s productivity
will be reduced under extreme weather events as the
safety of the Group's employees is threatened and the
power grid or communication infrastructures might be
damaged, which exposes the Group to risks associated
with non-performance and delayed performance, leading
to direct negative impact on the Group’s operations and
financial performance.

To minimize the potential risks and hazards, the Group
has established mitigation plans, including flexible
working arrangements and precautionary measures
during bad or extreme weather conditions. The Group
will explore emergency plan to further reduce the
vulnerability of our installations to extreme weather
events in order to enhance business stability.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

A. ENVIRONMENTAL (CONT'D)
A4.Climate Change (Cont'd)

Transition Risks

To achieve the global vision on carbon neutrality, the
Group expects evolution of the regulatory, technological
and market landscape due to climate change, including
the tightening of national policies, the emergence of
environmental related taxes, and shifting of customer
preference to an eco-friendlier resorts operation.

In response to the policy and legal risks as well as the
reputation risks, the Group constantly monitors any
changes in laws or regulations and global trends on
climate change to avoid cost increments, non-compliance
fines or reputational risks due to delayed response. In
addition, the Group has implemented solar photovoltaic
("PV") systems in Balgownie to aid the transition towards
renewable energy. The Group has set targets to gradually
reduce the Group’s energy consumption and GHG
emissions in the future.
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B. SOCIAL

92

B1. Employment

Human resources are the cornerstone of the Group. The
Group recognises that its continued success is dependent
on its employees’ talents and their dedication.

Employment policies for each of the Group’s operations
have been established in detail with regard to recruitment
and remuneration, compensations, working hours and
rest periods, diversity and equal opportunities, etc. These
policies and employment practices are put under review
periodically for revision to ensure the Group continues to
improve its employment standards and competitiveness
against companies in a similar industry.

The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with employment-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the
Group, including but not limited to the Fair Work Act
2009 and the Workplace Gender Act 2012 of Australia,
the Equal Opportunity Act 2010 of Victoria, Australia
and the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum Wage
Ordinance, the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance,
the Sex Discrimination Ordinance and the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance of Hong Kong, during FY2021.
As at 31 December 2021, the Group's operations covered
in the scope of this ESG Report had a total of 101
employees.
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Number of
employees
EE A
Total number of employees BB HE 101
Gender 2= 14 5l
Male S 54
Female Z 47
Age Group FieE R
Below 30 years old 304N 45
30 - 50 years old 30—5053% 41
Over 50 years old 5004 & 15
Geographical region B E
Australia SEM 87
Hong Kong BB 14
Employment Type ERER
Full-time sl 41
Part-time FEE 60
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B. SOCIAL (CONT'D)

B1. Employment (Cont'd)

During FY2021, the Group recorded an overall turnover
rate of 64%, which was mainly due to the disposal
of Bellinzona in FY2020 and disposal of Cleveland in
FY2021. The breakdown is as follows:

RE e MEARSE

B.tt® (48)
B1.{E{&E (&)

R-ZEBE-Z—MF AEEBEENES
MAREELA% TEHRN_Z_ZH
FHEEMEMR S -_—FELE
TERBATER - T

Turnover rate (%)

K E(%)
Gender % 51
Male S 48%
Female g 80%
Age Group FHeE R
Below 30 years old 305 AR 62%
30 - 50 years old 30—505% 61%
Over 50 years old 504 £ 73%
Geographical region RibE
Australia BN 68%
Hong Kong A 10%

Talent Attraction and Retention

The Group’'s employees are recruited via a robust,
transparent and fair recruitment process based solely
on their experience and expertise and without regard to
their age, ethnicity, origin, gender identity, marital status,
sexual orientation and religion.

Employees are assessed by their ability and potential to
fulfil the Group’s current and future needs. All employees
responsible for the recruitment process will periodically
review the selection criteria to ensure that existing
policies remain relevant and that the policies do not
unlawfully discriminate. Recruitment interviews will also
be carried out by more than one person where possible.

Promotion and advancement will be based on merits
and are in line with the Recruitment and Selection Policy
that is formally documented in the Employee Handbook.
The Group will conduct an annual performance and
salary review to determine any salary adjustments and/or
promotion opportunities. Written and verbal performance
evaluations will be given to all employees at least once a
year, such evaluations are intended to give recognition of
the hard work of the employees and provide them with
comments for improvement.
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B1. Employment (Cont’d)

Employees’ Rights and Welfare

The Group’s basis for remuneration is job-related skills,
qualifications and performances. Remuneration packages
include annual leave, maternity leave, compassionate
leave and community service leave, etc. Also, the Group
has formulated policies in determining the working
hours and rest periods for employees according to local
employment laws.

Compensation and Dismissal

All compensation made by the Group is given based
on the provision of Workmen’s Injury Compensation
Insurance Policy under the Workplace Injury Rehabilitation
and Compensation Act 2013 of Victoria, Australia and
the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance of Hong Kong
which cover the rehabilitation of injured workers and
compensation in relation to injuries or deaths arising out
of accidents and diseases in the workplace.

Unreasonable dismissal under any circumstances is
prohibited. A detailed list of major offences regarded as
justifiable reasons for immediate dismissal can be found
in the Employee Handbook.

Equal Opportunities, Diversity and Anti-discrimination

The Group recognises the value of diversity in its talent
pool and is committed to creating and maintaining an
inclusive and collaborative workplace culture in which
all employees can thrive. The Group prohibits any
discrimination, physical or verbal harassment based
on race, religion, colour, gender, physical or mental
disability, age, place of origin, marital status and sexual
orientation in the workplace. Deliberate acts of unlawful
discrimination or harassment are also considered serious
misconducts which may result in the termination of
contract without notice. The Group does not tolerate
sexual harassment or abuse in the workplace of any
form.
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B2. Health and Safety

In the midst of the global pandemic, the Group has
heightened its awareness and commitment towards
ensuring a safe and healthy working environment for
its employees. A comprehensive policy on occupational
health and safety is in place to safeqguard the interest
of the employees. During induction training, relevant
policies and procedures will be explained and/or provided
to the employees to mitigate the occurrence of accidents.
Relevant policies are reviewed annually, or soon after
an incident arises, to make sure that the said policies
continue to be of relevance.

The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with health and safety-related laws and
regulations that would have a significant impact on the
Group including but not limited to the Occupational
Health and Safety Act 2004 and the Occupational Health
and Safety Regulations 2007 of Victoria, Australia and
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance of Hong
Kong, during FY2021. During FY2021, there were no
reported cases of work-related fatalities and no lost
days due to work injury. The Group has achieved zero
work-related fatalities for the past three years (including
FY2021).

Occupational Health and Safety

The Group recognises that employees are its most
valuable assets, therefore the Group is keen on providing
a safe and pleasant working environment to retain
talents and ensure that their well-being is taken care
of. Relevant health and the safety policies are indicated
in the Employee Handbook, said policies are regularly
reviewed and/or reviewed upon trigger events to ensure
that the provisions continue to provide protection to its
employees. At Balgownie, a front office training session
has been held to familiarise its employees with various
emergency scenarios such as gas leaks, wildlife or bomb
threats. Uniform and/or personal protective equipment
are provided for relevant employees.
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B2. Health and Safety (Cont’d)

Safety Training and Inspections

The Group makes use of safety training and inspections
to ensure employees are aware of the importance of
complying with safety requirements. An induction
training on relevant health and safety policies with regard
to their particular position is provided to every employee
at the beginning of the employment to minimise the
likelihood of accidents or workplace injuries. Personnel,
whether employed directly or indirectly by the Group, is
required to abide by all applicable laws, regulations and
safety requirements imposed by relevant government
authorities.

Occupational health and safety meetings are held
regularly to address concerns and identify possible
alternatives or solutions in an expedited manner. Regular
meetings were held in FY2021 and minutes have been
taken during all these meetings. Meetings are considered
crucial to the improvement of the health and safety of
guests and employees as issues are directly dealt with
and persons-in-charge are designated to ensure that the
actions or plans are followed through.

Preventative Measures on COVID-19

In response to the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic,
the Group has implemented a series of measures to
ensure the health and safety of its employees and
guests of the hospitality business. To reduce infection
risk the Group has complied with the public health
and safety policies set out by the HKSAR government
and the Australian Government Department of Health
during the year under review. For example, guests and
employees are required to check their temperature and
wear a surgical mask before entering any of the Group's
premises.
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B2.

B3.

Health and Safety (Cont’d)
Preventative Measures on COVID-19 (Cont’d)

As the Group is also responsible for the health and safety
of its guests, the Group has enhanced its health and
safety protocols and carried out additional measures in
Balgownie. Internal training regarding COVID-19 was
held in Balgownie during the year under review to ensure
compliance with the state and federal health directions
regarding COVID-19 and train its employees with
essential hygiene practices to reduce cross-contamination.
Employees of Balgownie are asked to remind guests
to maintain social distancing at all times and to advise
guests not to share rooms with others not from the same
household. Back-to-back usage of rooms is avoided, all
surfaces whether in rooms or public areas of Balgownie
are subject to rigorous disinfection and sanitation
practices.

Development and Training
Training and Development

Training and continuous development are indispensable
to the Group’s employees to keep abreast of the ever-
changing trend of the industry. To incentivise employees
to acquire new skills and to increase their professional
knowledge, the Group has policies in place to encourage
its employees to pursue training for the advancement
of their careers that will benefit the Group and the
employees. The training cost may be borne by the Group
subject to the approval of the Group.

Training contents are regularly updated to be in line with
the industrial standards and provide maximum benefit to
the employees.
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B3.

B4.

Development and Training (Cont’d)
Training and Development (Cont’d)

During FY2021, the Group recorded a total of 1,150
training hours. The summary is as follows:
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Percentage of Average
employees trained training hours
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Gender 5l

Male S
Female g
Employee Category EEXER
Senior Management BREEE
Middle Management RREERE
General —fREE

Labour Standards
Prevention of Child and Forced Labour

The Group prohibits the recruitment of child and forced
labour as prescribed by laws and regulations. The Group
strictly complies with local laws and shall not provide job
opportunities to those who are under the legal working
age of respective jurisdictions.

To avoid illegal employment of child labour and underage
workers, the Human Resources department of the Group
is responsible for verifying personal data such as the
identification card during the recruitment process. If
violation is involved, the Group would not provide job
opportunities to those who are under the legal working
age. No employee shall be compelled to work against his
or her will through force or intimidation of any form or
subjected to corporal punishment or coercion of any type
related to work.

The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with child and forced labour-related laws and
regulations, that would have a significant impact on the
Group including but not limited to the Child Employment
Act 2003, the Fair Work Act 2009 of Victoria, Australia
and the Employment Ordinance of Hong Kong, during
FY2021.

43% 6.32
57% 10.15
7% 30.00
3% 10.00
90% 6.85
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B5. Supply Chain Management

Supply Chain Management

During the supplier selection process, the Group takes
into account the supplier’s job references, prevailing
market price, delivery time and reputation. In addition,
the Group also considers suppliers who incorporate
ESG issues into their policies and general business
development strategies. Preferential consideration will be
given to suppliers who utilise recycled or reused materials
in their production process. Furthermore, the Group is
keen on supporting the local economies, where possible,
the procurement is sourced locally in Australia and Hong
Kong. During FY2021, the Group engaged 334 suppliers,
of which 328 were in Australia and 6 were in Hong
Kong.

Procurement policy is present within the Group. Where
possible, competitive quotes should be obtained from at
least two suppliers. For procurement of a higher value,
an additional analysis should be run through beforehand,
such as its cost and benefit, presence of other alternatives
and implications if the said purchase is not made. The
Group strives not to over-rely on a specific supplier in
order to ensure the stability of the supply chain.

To monitor the continuous efforts from the suppliers
in minimising their environmental and social impacts,
a regular assessment will be conducted on existing
suppliers to ensure compliance with the Group’s
expectations. Contracts with suppliers may be terminated
if the expectation of the Group is not met.
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B6. Product Responsibility
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The Group is committed to providing the highest quality
of service to its customers, not only because it is crucial
to the health and safety of its customers and clients,
but also the potential of attracting future business
opportunities.

The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with laws and regulations that would have
a significant impact on the Group, including but not
limited to the Privacy and Data Protection Act 2014, the
Liquor Control Reform Act 1998 of Victoria, Australia
and the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong,
concerning health and safety, advertising, labelling and
privacy matters relating to products and services and
methods of redress during FY2021. During FY2021, the
Group did not receive any cases of product or service-
related complaints.

Business Ethics

The Group advocates ethical practices and is determined
to mitigate any potential misconduct or poor services
in all its business segments. Therefore, the Group has
established different policies, as shown below, to better
guide its employees and nurture them the importance of
upholding ethical practices from the beginning of their
professional careers.

Product Quality and Safety

In maintaining and ensuring the quality of products
produced in the Group's vineyards, strict requirements
have been imposed on the storage environment and the
production facilities. Since wine production is outsourced,
the Group conducts quality control inspections upon
receiving wine from its subcontractor. Due to the Group’s
business nature, disclosure on product recall procedures
and number of products recalled are not applicable.
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B6. Product Responsibility (Cont'd)

Customer Health and Safety

The Group places great emphasis on ensuring customers'’
health and safety. Detailed policies and guidelines have
been in place to ensure employees provide the highest
quality and safe services to the Group's customers and
guests. In doing so, the occurrence of unfortunate
accidents or illnesses can be avoided. Disciplinary actions
will be taken against employees who participate in
activities that would threaten the health and safety of
concerned parties, his/her colleagues or others.

Marketing and Labelling

The Group conforms with wine labelling guidelines
pursuant to the Wine Australia Act 2013. As for alcohol
marketing, the Group abides by the requirements set
out in the ABAC Responsible Alcohol Marketing Code.
Relevant guidelines have been provided to the relevant
employees.

Advertising Management

Guidelines on the special requirements in money lending
business advertisements are formally documented.
In addition, the Group abides by the stipulated legal
requirements that pertain to the Money Lending Licence
under the Money Lenders Ordinance.

Customer Services and Complaint Management

The Group maintains an open and welcoming attitude
to feedback and complaints from the Group’s customers
and guests, as the Group views it as an opportunity to
improve its service. Procedures for handling complaints
are detailed in the Service Handbook for the reference
of relevant employees. Should the Group receive any
complaints, the Group will strive to act immediately to
resolve the issue with effective corrective actions.
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Product Responsibility (Cont’d)
Customer Data Protection and Privacy

The Code of Conduct states that the Group’s employees
have an obligation to maintain the confidentiality of
information acquired during the course of employment.
Access to sensitive data and the Group’s network is
granted on an ‘as needed’ basis. Employees are also
required not to transmit highly confidential data through
the use of electronic communications as it is not
completely private. The Group has implemented firewall,
anti-virus, and anti-spam solutions for the Group’s IT
systems to safeguard confidential information and are
routinely upgraded.

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights

Policies and measures regarding the protection of
intellectual property rights are in place. For any
infringement of the Group’s intellectual property rights,
the Group will urge infringers to cease such action. The
Human Resources Department of the Group shall take
further action should such infringement continue.

Anti-corruption
Anti-corruption

The Group strives to maintain the highest standards
of honesty, integrity and fairness. Thus, the Group
takes a zero-tolerance stance on corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering. Policies on the
aforementioned matters are clearly stated within the
Employee Handbook.

The Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
of bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering,
including but not limited to the Criminal Code Act 1995
of Australia and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance
of Hong Kong that would have a significant impact on
the Group during FY2021. During FY2021, there were
no concluded legal cases regarding any forms of fraud
brought against the Group or its employees.
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B7. Anti-corruption (Cont’d)

Anti-money Laundering and Counter-financing of
Terrorism

As the Group provides money lending business, the
Group may be subjected to the risk of unintentionally
engaging in money laundering and financial crimes.
Therefore, in addition to the compliance with laws and
guidelines set up by regulatory authorities, the Group
has set out guidelines to safeguard the interests of the
Group, such as conducting background investigation,
due diligence and loan approvals for loan financing
applications.

Whistle-blowing Mechanism

The Group has a whistle-blowing policy in place to
encourage employees to report any suspicious fraudulent
activities. The Group intends to protect the whistle-
blower from common concerns such as confidentiality
and potential retaliation. Therefore, the employee(s)
reporting in good faith under this procedure shall be
assured of the protection against unfair termination or
victimisation, even if the reports are subsequently proved
to be unsubstantiated.

In December 2021, the Group adopted the whistle-
blowing policy by amending its Employee Handbook and
provided the Group’s employees (including directors of
members of the Group) with training on the whistle-
blowing policy and anti-corruption practices of the
Group.
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Community Engagement

The Group is committed to bringing value and supporting
its community by various means of social participation
and financial contribution. As the Group endeavours to
inspire a sense of social responsibility within its corporate
structure, the Group has established guidelines on
community engagement, focusing on contributing to
society’s needs. Employees are encouraged to participate
in the Group's charitable activities that focus in areas
such as health and education through monetary
contribution; associated costs will be borne by the Group.
The Board also conducts a periodic review on its effort in
community engagement and believes its existing effort is
satisfactory.

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the Group temporarily
postponed organising mass gatherings or community
visits in support of social distancing guidelines in
FY2021. The Group has made charitable donations of
approximately HK$10,000 during FY2021 (FY2020:
HK$411,000).
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LIMITED

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

e
-

RE g8 RERBRE

ZFTER R A Gr
& SR ¥R %Ta%|>> DES

KPIs Description Section/Declaration
FERER-Em-
—REERERENIESTE WA i1
Aspect A1: Emissions
EBEA1 : BEY
General Disclosure Information on: Emissions
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse
gas emissions, discharges into water and
land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
— PRI R EHBERMAEREHER MK RLHAEES . BB
EELEEREYNELEEFRN:
(@ BE: &
b) BFHETABEARTENHEBERZLA
AEN-EEE
KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions ~ Emissions — GHG Emissions, Waste

BB AE IR IR AL

KPI'A1.2

BB S IR IR A2

KPIA1.3
FASEMIEIRAL3
KPIA1.4

FAS A I IRAT 4
KPI A1.5

BB SRR A5

KPI'A1.6

BB E IR RA16

data.
BER W 1E $8 N 48 B HE IR B -

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)
greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and,
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BHiE (BE) RREE (SE2))RER “EF
ME (AR E) R (ER) & E (A

E2BU BERXMTE) -
Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and

intensity.
EXAEEEYEE (UMBAE) REE-

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes)
and intensity.

FEAREREEMAE (ABAE) REE-

Description of emission target(s) set and steps
taken to achieve them.

MMV BEMEE R R RENELAR
P ERER &Y 25 8 o

Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and
steps taken to achieve them.

R EIEEERESEZYR A Riwat by
B] M B R EE B R R R E B 5E L B IR P ERER

EXMEEZRARAAF | —FT——FFH

Management

R —RERBEN BEEDE
I

Emissions — GHG Emissions

ey — i

= SRR BEN

Emissions — Waste Management
Not applicable — Explained

e — BB E IR

NEA—B e

Emissions — Waste Management

R — R W) & 3R

Emissions — Air Emissions, GHG
Emissions, Waste Management

BERY) — BESRBERR R = RS HF X
K EEE Y 'SR

Emissions — Waste Management

B -EERUERE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and
KPls

FEHE -EHE-
—BREERERENER

Description

i

Section/Declaration

Y- L

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

BEA2  ERER
General Disclosure
— PRI TR

KPI A2.1

B A IR A2.1
KPI' A2.2

FASAR IR IEIRA2.2
KPI A2.3

FREAAMIETRA2.3

KPI' A2.4

FRRAAMIERA2.4

KPI'A2.5

FRR AR BIEIRA2.5

Policies on the efficient use of resources,
including energy, water and other raw
materials.

EAAMERER (BEEIR KEEMERM
) B BUR o

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by
type in total and intensity.

REANEDMNEER SMEEEREEE RS
o

Water consumption in total and intensity.

REKERRE-

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set
and steps taken to achieve them.

AR L RER R B ERAERE
LE B AR P ERER B 2P 5% -

Description of whether there is any issue in
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to
achieve them.

i 32t SR EXGE B KO £ 7T 8 (0] 8 - BA K AT RT
VHRAKRZ AR BEDSLEZMER
HUE) 228

Total packaging material used for finished
products (in tonnes) and with reference to
per unit produced.

HEmAAABEMNEE (UEAE)RE
GEBUGE-

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

BEA3 BERRXRARER

General Disclosure

— MR R

KPI A3.1

BA B 45 IR 1R A3

106

Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant
impact on the environment and natural
resources.

BRABEBEZETAHRREERAEREKERKR
TENBER -

Description of the significant impacts of
activities on the environment and natural
resources and the actions taken to manage
them.

HAEBEHHRBERRARERNERTE
MEERERBABATENTH-
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Use of Resources

BIRfEM

Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption

BIRER —RERERE

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption

BIREEA KRB

Use of Resources — Energy
Consumption

BIRE A —REIRERE

Use of Resources — Water
Consumption

BIRE A — KR #E

Use of Resources — Use of
Packaging Material

Not applicable — Explained

BRER-—BEMEER

TER-C e

The Environment and Natural
Resources

RERRAREIR

The Environment and Natural
Resources — Use of Other
Resources, Noise Control

BREMRKABR-EMEIRER -

R 5 42 5



Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and
KPIs

FEHE -EHE-
—BREERERENEER
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Description

i

RE e MEARSE

Section/Declaration

Y- L

Aspect A4: Climate Change

EBEAL : RIxRE1L

General Disclosure

— MR ER

KPI A4.1

BA B 45 IR 1R A4

Aspect B1: Employment
EEB1 : EfE

General Disclosure

— MR R

KPI'B1.1

FASR AR IE1RB1 .
KPI B1.2

B84 A I 1R B1 .2

Policies on identification and mitigation of
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the
issuer.

BB NEHERRAIEEHBETAEL
TENBEARKEBEENBER -

Description of the significant climate-related
issues which have impacted, and those which
may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken
to manage them.

OB RAREHETAELETENERXR
RIFEBAEE REHTTE-

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination,
and other benefits and welfare.
BRI EEE BB, TERHE- R
H-FPEREe Zabt REEAREMETS
NABHH :
(@ BUK: &
b) BFHEITABEARZENHBEERNE
REE R
Total workforce by gender, employment type (for
example, full-or part-time), age group and
geographical region.
BRI EEEAR (M2 BERE)  FicdErn!
K[ 8l 5 78 B 428 -
Employee turnover rate by gender, age group
and geographical region.

IR FheAR R RE D HER MR K-

ERREBRZERERAAE | —T——FF#R

Climate Change — Climate Change
Mitigation and Adaptation

RSB — W R R IR MY,
Climate Change — Climate Change

Mitigation and Adaptation

RIRE L —RA& MBI RIREE

Employment

=

Employment

=
Employment

=
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and

KPIs Description
TEEHE -EH-
—REBERBRENIEE HH

Section/Declaration

Y- L

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
EEB2  REREZZ
General Disclosure Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to providing a safe
working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards.
— PRI R EHEREZE2THERERREES R 2B E
HEEN:
(@ BUK: &
(b) EFHBITATEAZENEBER X
R EHL -
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities
occurred in each of the past three years
including the reporting year.

B9 2 48 5 1R B2.1 BE=F (BHRERFE)SFEAITHRNA
FRt &

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury.

BB 4E B 1R B2.2 RIGHRATERS-

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and

safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored.

FABE s 517823 Fid L P BR A B B SR A FR B 2 245 s - UA AR B
MITRERT A

Aspect B3: Development and Training

FEEB3 : # & KIEI

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge
and skills for discharging duties at work.
Description of training activities.

—MR R ERRAEEBBRITIIEBENAZ LK
R - B FEE o
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by

gender and employee category (e.g. senior
management, middle management).

B8 52 48 B 1R B3.1 ZERREEER (NS RERE HPRER
B)EINHXIMEEBD L -

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per
employee by gender and employee category.

B9 2 48 MIE 1R B3.2 rIERREEERE D BREE TKEIIN
TR B
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Health and Safety

Health and Safety

(ERREge

Health and Safety
RREHERE
Health and Safety

T e

Development and Training

R MR

Development and Training

R R E
Development and Training
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Description

i

RE e MEARSE

Section/Declaration

Y- L

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

FEEBS : & T XA

General Disclosure

—RIE

KPI B4.1
FASAR R E15 B4
KPI B4.2

BB 45 512 B4.2

Information on:
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on
the issuer relating to preventing child and
forced labour.
BN IEE T H 8T :
(@) B &k
b) BEFHBITATEAZENHEBREZRA
BIey & £
Description of measures to review employment
practices to avoid child and forced labour.
it A 5 48 BE A8 1 B $5 B LA B 2 E T K 98
Mo
Description of steps taken to eliminate such
practices when discovered.
4 1 7 B T 40 A R B O B4 5 B 1 % PR R
B -

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

[EEBS - HEHEEE

General Disclosure

—REE
KPI B5.1
A2 4E M IE 1R B5.1
KPI B5.2

B8 52 45 X H5 15 B5.2

KPI B5.3

BA B 45 A5 132 B5.3

KPI B5.4

FABE 4 NIE 1R B5.4

Policies on managing environmental and social
risks of the supply chain.

BRATEHEENRE R §RMEABER

Number of suppliers by geographical region.

iR E S HHEREA -

Description of practices relating to engaging
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

Ml EEERHERNEN MERTERE
Pl EmEE - ARBEEBITMERT A

Description of practices used to identify
environmental and social risks along the
supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

HABERBNMHERTHERANRERLE
R\ B AR EEHRITREERE A

Description of practices used to promote
environmentally preferable products and
services when selecting suppliers, and how
they are implemented and monitored.

A EREHRERAREREZRARRFRE D &R
BEVED - AR BRAMIT RERTT -

Labour Standards

%
H
i

Labour Standards
& T XA
Labour Standards

TR

Supply Chain Management

HEEE IR
Supply Chain Management
HEHEE IR
Supply Chain Management

HEgEE e

Supply Chain Management

e =3

Supply Chain Management

HrEgEE e
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Subject Areas, Aspects,

General Disclosures and

KPIs Description
TEEHE -EH
—REBERBRENIEE HH

Section/Declaration

Y- L

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
[EEB6 : EmEE
General Disclosure Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters
relating to products and services provided
and methods of redress.

— PRI FE BRAMREERMBRENERERLZS BEE
EHRLRLEEEURBR T AR
(@ BE: &
b) BFHETABERTENEBERNLA
ESEZEEE
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped
subject to recalls for safety and health
reasons.
BA52 45 IR 1R B6.1 EEXCEXEmBHTREL T EERIER
AR B 5t o
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related
complaints received and how they are dealt
with.
RS2 AE NIE1RB6.2 BREBREMMRBENRFEEARELT
i
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing
and protecting intellectual property rights.
BA 248 IE 1R B6.3 Tl it B2 4 o8 % (RS NGB RE B ARV 1B A1
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and
recall procedures.
RS AE NIE1RB6.4 i 2 4 B AR N E @ AR FF o
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection

and privacy policies, and how they are
implemented and monitored.

B9 52 48 MHE 12 B6.5 i R B & B RHRE R AL BB - A RABRE#
TRERR A
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Product Responsibility

mt
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il
m

Product Responsibility

EmBE

Product Responsibility

EmBE

Product Responsibility — Protection
of Intellectual Property Rights
EmBT-NBEERE
Product Responsibility — Product
Quality and Safety
EmBEE-EREERLE
Product Responsibility — Customer
Data Protection and Privacy

EmB T -FPEIRRERLE
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures and
KPIs

FEHE -EHE-
—BREERERENEER

Description

i

Section/Declaration

Y- L

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption

[EEB7 : RES

General Disclosure

— MR IR

KPI B7.1

BR R AR B 1R BT

KPI B7.2

BAS4E M IE1RBT .2
KPI B7.3

FA SR AE 512 B7 3

Information on:
(@) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and
regulations that have a significant impact
on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering.
BRI #%  MEFRERER
(@) B &
b) BTHETABERAZENHEBEEZRZNLA
AENEEE
Number of concluded legal cases regarding
corrupt practices brought against the issuer
or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the cases.
RERPBAHBITAREBERLNEELE
MBESHLARMTHEE RFRER-
Description of preventive measures and
whistleblowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored.
et By S5 18 i SR R IRAR T A KA BT R B
R7IE
Description of anti-corruption training provided
to directors and staff.
HmEEREIRHEOREFEI-

Aspect B8: Community Investment

[EEB8 : HERE

General Disclosure

— AR R

KPI B8.1

A AE 5 1R B8
KPI B8.2

Bl 52 45 515 B8.2

Policies on community engagement to
understand the needs of the communities
where the issuer operates and to ensure
its activities take into consideration the
communities’ interests.

EENTE2ERTHREEMELETEM
BREER TS EZERTEFRABOR -

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education,
environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport).

ErEREE (A BREEE -BIFR
@ -3t -85 ) -

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to
the focus area.

EEIBBABAER (ML EHKHE) -

Anti-corruption

REF

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption

RES

Anti-corruption

RES

Community Investment

HERITE

Community Investment

HERE
Community Investment

HERIRE

ERMEEZRERAA | — T - —FFW
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICE

The Company is committed to achieving and upholding
good corporate governance practices that promote greater
transparency and quality of disclosure as well as more effective
internal control.

During the year under review, the Company adopted the code
provisions (the “Code Provisions”) set out in the Corporate
Governance Code contained in Appendix 15 to the GEM Listing
Rules then in force as its code of corporate governance. The
Board is responsible for performing corporate governance duties
including (a) developing and reviewing the Company’s policies
and practices on corporate governance; (b) reviewing and
monitoring the Company's policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements; (c) reviewing and
monitoring the training and continuous professional development
of Directors and senior management; and (d) reviewing the
Company’s compliance with the Code Provisions. The Board had
carried out the said corporate governance functions during the
year under review. The Company complied with all the Code
Provisions then in force throughout the year ended 31 December
2021.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board,
taking into account the recommendations of the remuneration
committee of the Board, having regard to merit, qualifications
and competence of the Directors.

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the year ended 31 December 2021 are set
out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

TRERD M

ARTBNERRBREF 2 DEEARR
BARAEAZRE REBEEAREHH
2R

REBESFE ARF D HRAGEM £ iR A
ISP B RERTIHERFHRLZ T
AMEX (FRMRX ) RECEEARTR &
ZRRERTEEERBE BHEEE: (3
EXRBHERARBEREAZIBREFER
OB RERARRANERREEREAR
TEHZBRRER: OBRSEAERESTES
RERBZzBIRGEEXRRER: RARR
ARBE TR ZETER - REEFE -
EFEECLETLACKE RRE-RE_T
——F+ZA=t—BILFE ARFE—HE
ST A A FT A ST RIMERSC -

5 =%

EENMehESTeRERESTEE T 2%
MEZEEenERER Y2RESZER &
FE K2 e 1 T & 7€ °

EELAEERFMALTREBEE T - —F
+ A=+ BUHEFENMESFBENLES
B RRMIZE3 ©
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company had adopted a code of conduct regarding the
Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less exacting than
the required standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67
of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company had also made specific
enquiry of all Directors, that the Directors have complied with the
required standard of dealings and the code of conduct regarding
the Directors’ securities transactions during the year ended
31 December 2021.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board composition

As at the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises six
members, one of which is a non-executive Director, namely
Mr. Ng Ting Ho, who has been appointed with effect from 17
September 2021, two of which are executive Directors, namely
Ms. Lam Ching Yee and Mr. Fong Chak Kiu, who has been
appointed with effect from 19 August 2021, and the remaining
three members being independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit, who has
been appointed with effect from 2 September 2021, and Mr.
Tong Hin Sum Paul, who has been appointed with effect from
10 September 2021. While each of Ms. Pauline Lam and Mr.
Hui Chun Sum resigned as an executive Director with effect
from 19 August 2021 and 2 September 2021, respectively, each
of Professor Tsui Ka Kin Kevin and Mr. Mui Wai Lun resigned
as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 2
September 2021 and 1 January 2022, respectively.

The members of the Board, who come from different
backgrounds, provide a diverse range of business and
professional expertise to the Company. The biographical details
of the Directors are set out in the Directors Profile on pages 50 to
53 in this Annual Report. All Directors are subject to retirement
by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the
Company at least once every three years in accordance with the
Bye-Laws. The Company has arranged appropriate insurance
cover for the Directors. As at the date of this Annual Report, save
as disclosed in the Directors Profile in this Annual Report, none of
the Directors has any relationship (including financial, business,
family or other material/relevant relationship) with each other.

ERMEEZRERAA | — T - —FFW

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE |
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Roles and responsibilities of the Board and delegation to
the management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the
Company and oversees the Group’s business, strategic decisions
and performance, and is responsible for promoting the success
of the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. In
practice, the Board takes responsibilities for decision making
in all major matters of the Company which include approving
and monitoring all policy matters, overall strategies, material
transactions, appointment of directors and other significant
financial and operational matters. The day-to-day management,
administration and operation of the Company are delegated to
the senior executives who are responsible for implementing the
decisions of the Board, the coordination and direction of day-to-
day operation and management of the Company in accordance
with the management strategies and plans approved by the
Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to the
entering by the Group into any significant transactions. These
senior executives provide full support to the Board in order for
the Board members to discharge their responsibilities.

Practices and conduct of board meetings

The company secretary (the “Company Secretary”) of the
Company is responsible to the Board for providing Board papers
and related materials, for ensuring that all Board procedures and
all applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed, and for
reporting to the Chairman on governance matters. All Directors
have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the
Company Secretary. The Company Secretary also keeps minutes
of all meetings of the Board which are available for inspection at
any reasonable time on reasonable notice given by any Director.

The Board meets regularly and held 20 board meetings during
the year ended 31 December 2021. The Directors attended
the meetings in person or through other means of electronic
communication in accordance with the Bye-Laws. During the
regular Board meetings, the Directors discussed and formulated
the overall strategies of the Group, reviewed and approved the
annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discussed and
decided on other significant matters of the Group. All Directors
have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as
the advice and services of the Company Secretary, with a view
to ensuring that Board procedures and all applicable laws and
regulations are followed. Each Director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company'’s expense, upon making request to the Board.
The Company will, upon request, provide separate independent
professional advice to the Directors to assist them to discharge
their duties to the Company.

EXevACREEREERZRE

EXZ2RaREREEARANUREELRE
B2 X% RETHRRRE WEBEERE
BARRER AESIERAARERKY -E
BEL EZQREARAMBEESEH 2R
R BREMERERMEBREE  BRRE
ERXRZ EFEnLAMERMBREES
H-ARRMZAEER TREEEEBHE
KTERITBRAERE SRTRABREE
TEFERR REEFEEMCEERE R
el LESIARRIAREERERE A%
BRFILEMERRZMHAESESTS L
e MEFERETEFEXNERBERTE
AZEBMITBAE R X F-

ESEaR 2R AREST

ARRzralwE ((RAME)AERES
SREESS X REBE N A RERER
FPBESERF LB ZAD  RAI MR
fl Y EREEREFEER ABEEFGT
PERHMERRMERTER MRS - A7
WENRAEESEERIFHh R £
EXTAEIMNAERERAFLEERANER
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ZEGHELE
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In case where a conflict of interest arises involving a substantial
Shareholder or a Director, such matter will be discussed
through an actual meeting and will not be dealt with by written
resolutions. Independent non-executive Directors with no conflict
of interest will be present at meetings dealing with such conflict
issues. The Board committees, including the audit committee,
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee,
have all adopted the applicable practices and procedures used
in Board meetings for all committee meetings. If considered to
be necessary and appropriate by the Directors, they may retain
independent professional advisors at the Group’s expense.

Individual attendance records of each Director at the respective
Board and committee meetings are set out in the table on page
121 of this Annual Report.

Directors’ continuing professional development

All Directors have been updated from time to time on the latest
developments and changes in the GEM Listing Rules and other
applicable regulatory requirements to ensure the Company’s
compliance and to enhance the Directors’ awareness of good
corporate governance practices. The Directors understand
the importance of continuous professional development and
are committed to participating in any suitable training or to
studying relevant materials in order to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills.

Mr. Ng Ting Ho, Ms. Lam Ching Yee, Mr. Fong Chak Kiu,
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin
Sum Paul have confirmed that they had complied with Code
Provision A.6.5 during the year ended 31 December 2021
by participating in continuous professional development to
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. During the year
under review, the Company has provided trainings and relevant
materials regarding the GEM Listing Rules to the Directors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANC

REPORT
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Chairman provides leadership to the Board, manages the
Board and oversees the strategic planning of the Group, whereas
the Chief Executive Officer is responsible for the Group's business
development and daily management generally. According
to Code Provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the
chief executive officer should be separate and should not be
performed by the same individual. Mr. Hui Chun Sum was the
Chairman from 1 December 2018 to 1 September 2021, while
Mr. Ng Ting Ho has become the Chairman with effect from 17
September 2021. With effect from 5 June 2019, Ms. Lam Ching
Yee has become the Chief Executive Officer.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has been in compliance with Rules 5.05(1) and (2),
and 5.05A of the GEM Listing Rules during the year under review,
with the appointment of the three independent non-executive
Directors representing at least one-third of the Board and at least
one of whom having appropriate professional qualifications,
or accounting or related financial management expertise. The
Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of his independence,
and the Company considers such Directors to be independent in
accordance with each and the various guidelines set out in Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, was appointed for a term of 12
months commencing from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021
(both days inclusive) and has been re-appointed for a term of 12
months commencing from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022
(both days inclusive). Mr. Chan Ming Kit has been appointed for
a term commencing from 2 September 2021 to 31 December
2022 (both days inclusive) and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul has been
appointed for a term commencing from 10 September 2021 to
31 December 2022 (both days inclusive). Professor Tsui Ka Kin
Kevin (who resigned with effect from 2 September 2021) was
appointed for a term commencing from 14 December 2020 to
31 December 2021 (both days inclusive). Mr. Mui Wai Lun (who
resigned with effect from 1 January 2022) was appointed for a
term commencing from 8 December 2020 to 31 December 2021
(both days inclusive).

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

During the year under review, with effect from 17 September
2021, Mr. Ng Ting Ho has been appointed as the Chairman
and a non-executive Director for a term commencing from 17
September 2021 to 31 December 2022 (both days inclusive).
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the audit
committee, the remuneration committee, and the nomination
committee, each with its specific terms of reference. Their terms
of reference have been approved and reviewed by the Board and
have been posted on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. During the year under review, these committees have
adhered to their principles, procedures and arrangements set out
in their respective terms of reference. The respective committee
secretaries took full minutes of the meetings of these committees
and the work of these committees was reported to the Board
regularly during the year under review.

Audit Committee

An audit committee of the Board (the “Audit Committee”)
was established with written terms of reference in compliance
with Rules 5.28 and 5.29 of the GEM Listing Rules and Code
Provision C.3.3 in force during the year under review. The Audit
Committee must consist of a minimum of three members, all of
whom must be non-executive Directors, at least one of whom
must have appropriate professional qualification or accounting
or related financial management expertise. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are mainly to review the Group's financial
information, reporting process, internal control procedures,
risk management system, audit plan, relationship with external
auditors and to review arrangements to enable employees of
the Group, in confidence, to raise concerns about possible
improprieties in the financial reporting, internal control or other
matters of the Group.

From 1 January 2021 to 1 September 2021, the Audit Committee
comprised three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Professor Tsui Ka Kin Kevin and Mr.
Mui Wai Lun. From 2 September 2021 to 9 September 2021,
the Audit Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Mui
Wai Lun and Mr. Chan Ming Kit. From 10 September 2021
to 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee comprised four
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu
Keung, Joe, Mr. Mui Wai Lun, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong
Hin Sum Paul. From 1 January 2022 to the date of this Annual
Report, the Audit Committee comprised three independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan
Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe
has been the chairman of the Audit Committee during the year
under review and as at the date of this Annual Report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee
held six meetings to review and provide supervision over the
financial reporting system and internal control procedures of the
Group and to review the Company’s annual report and accounts,
half-year report and quarterly reports and to provide advice
and comments to the Board as to whether such reports were
prepared in accordance with the applicable accounting standards
and requirements. The Audit Committee also met with the
external auditors to discuss auditing, internal control, statutory
compliance and financial reporting matters of the Group before
recommending the annual financial reports to the Board for
approval.

The Group's quarterly, half-yearly and annual results for the year
under review have also been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Remuneration Committee

A remuneration committee of the Board (the “Remuneration
Committee”) was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with Code Provision B.1.2. The principal
responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure in relation to the remuneration of all Directors and
senior management of the Company and to review and approve
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the
goals and objectives set by the Board for the Company.

From 1 January 2021 to 1 September 2021, the Remuneration
Committee comprised three independent non-executive
Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Professor Tsui Ka
Kin Kevin and Mr. Mui Wai Lun. From 2 September 2021 to
9 September 2021, the Remuneration Committee comprised
three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong
Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Mui Wai Lun and Mr. Chan Ming Kit. From
10 September 2021 to 31 December 2021, the Remuneration
Committee comprised four independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Mui Wai Lun, Mr. Chan
Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul. From 1 January 2022 to
the date of this Annual Report, the Remuneration Committee
comprised three independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin
Sum Paul. Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe has been the chairman of
the Renumeration Committee during the year under review and
as at the date of this Annual Report.
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During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Remuneration
Committee held five meetings and adopted the approach under
Code Provision B.1.2(c)(ii) to make recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior
management of the Company. The Remuneration Committee
had reviewed the policy for the remuneration of the executive
Directors, assessed the performance of the executive Directors
and had reviewed and approved the appointment letters and/
or the service contracts of the Directors and the terms thereof
as well as the remuneration and the discretionary bonus of the
Directors during the year under review. No Director was involved
in deciding his/her own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

A nomination committee of the Board (the “Nomination
Committee”) was established with written terms of reference
in compliance with Code Provision A.5.2. The principal
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment or
re-appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

From 1 January 2021 to 1 September 2021, the Nomination
Committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Professor Tsui Ka Kin Kevin
and Mr. Mui Wai Lun. From 2 September 2021 to 9 September
2021, the Nomination Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr.
Mui Wai Lun and Mr. Chan Ming Kit. From 10 September 2021
to 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee comprised
four independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu
Keung, Joe, Mr. Mui Wai Lun, Mr. Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong
Hin Sum Paul. From 1 January 2022 to the date of this Annual
Report, the Nomination Committee comprised three independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe, Mr.
Chan Ming Kit and Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul. Mr. Wong Siu Keung,
Joe has been the chairman of the Nomination Committee during
the year under review and as at the date of this Annual Report.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Nomination
Committee held five meetings to review the policy for the
nomination of Directors, the procedures, process and criteria
adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and recommend
candidates for directorship, the structure, size and composition
of the Board, to recommend candidates for directorship and
to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
Directors.

The process for the nomination of Directors, which is on merit
basis, is led by the Nomination Committee. The Company has
adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) which sets out
the approach to achieve and maintain diversity of the Board in
order to ensure good governance.
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In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length
of service and any other factors that the Board may consider
relevant and applicable from time to time. High emphasis
is placed on ensuring a balanced composition of skills and
experience at the Board level in order to provide a range of
perspectives, insights and challenge that enables the Board to
discharge its duties and responsibilities effectively, support good
decision making in view of the core businesses and strategy of
the Company and support succession planning and development
of the Board. For achieving an optimal Board, additional
measurable objectives/specific diversity targets may be set and
reviewed from time to time to ensure their appropriateness.

Selection of candidates will be based on the Policy and will take
into account this Policy. The ultimate decision will be based on
merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring
to the Board, having due regard to the benefits of diversity on
the Board and also the needs of the Board without focusing on
a single diversity aspect. On 19 August 2021, Mr. Fong Chak
Kiu was appointed as an executive Director. On 2 September
2021 and 10 September 2021, each of Mr. Chan Ming Kit and
Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director respectively. On 17 September 2021, Mr. Ng
Ting Ho was appointed as a non-executive Director. As these
Directors have different experiences in securities, investments,
banking, finance and law, their appointments have further
enhanced the diversity of the Board.

The Board will take opportunities to increase the proportion
of female members over time when selecting and making
recommendation on suitable candidates for Board appointments.
The Board would ensure that appropriate balance of gender
diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices, with
the ultimate goal of bringing the Board to gender parity.

The Nomination Committee reviews this Policy at least once
annually to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee
will discuss any revisions to the Policy that may be required
and make recommendation to the Board for approval. The
Nomination Committee also monitors the implementation of this
Policy by conducting review of the Board’'s composition at least
once annually taking into account the benefits of all relevant
diversity aspects and adhering to the Policy when making
recommendation on any Board appointments. The Nomination
Committee also ensures that Board diversity is considered as part
of the evaluation of the Board's effectiveness. During the year
ended 31 December 2021, relevant trainings were provided to
the Directors from time to time to equip themselves with the
attributes and competencies required for the Board in light of
the strategic needs of the Group and the environment in which it
operates.
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DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE RECORD AT

MEETINGS

Details of the attendance of the Directors at the meetings of
the Board and its respective committees and general meeting of
the Company during the year ended 31 December 2021 are as

—
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follows:
Audit Remuneration  Nomination
Committee Committee Committee General
Board Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting Meeting
Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/ Attended/
Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to Eligible to
attend attend attend attend attend
HE/AER HE/RER WE/GER
LR/ S8R HEER i 7 5 HERE HR/AEK
LEEEE® ZE8% ZEE8Y ZEBEE HERRKE
Name of Directors EEnE BEAH R RE R R
Number of meetings held during RMBERERAETZ
the financial year SRNRH 20 6 5 5 1
Non-executive Director ERITES
Mr. Ng Ting Ho (appointed with REERE (R —F
effect from 17 September 2021) NATEBREZRT) 33 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
Executive Directors YiTES
Ms. Lam Ching Yee MEER T 20120 0/0 0/0 0/0 1/1
Mr. Fong Chak Kiu (appointed with ~ Ti28%4 (R T -4
effect from 19 August 2021) NA+NBREZE) 8/8 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/0
Mr. Hui Chun Sum (resigned with FBRHREE (RS =_—F
effect from 2 September 2021) NAB - BEHE) 11/14 0/0 0/0 0/0 0/1
Ms. Pauline Lam (resigned with WEEZT (RZT=—F
effect from 19 August 2021) NATNBEE) 8/12 0/0 0/0 0/0 1N
Independent non-executive BUFHTES
Directors
Mr. Wong Siu Keung, Joe BkREE
(Committee Chairman) (ZEETE) 19/20 6/6 4/5 4/5 171
Mr. Chan Ming Kit (appointed with ~ FREGEEL A (R-T=—4F
effect from 2 September 2021) NAZBEZME) 5/6 112 213 23 0/0
Mr. Tong Hin Sum Paul mERLE (RZE-—F
(appointed with effect from NA+REZME)
10 September 2021) 3/5 22 212 212 0/0
Professor Tsui Ka Kin Kevin RERER (N_T_—F
(resigned with effect from ABZBEF)
2 September 2021) 1214 4/4 12 112 171
Mr. Mui Wai Lun (resigned with BRETE (K22
effect from 1 January 2022) —R—HE) 18/20 5/6 5/5 5/5 1/1

Note: Attendances of the Directors who resigned during the year ended
31 December 2021 were made by reference to the number of

such meetings held during their respective tenures.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the fees paid/payable
to the Group's external auditor, McMillan Woods (Hong Kong)
CPA Limited, for the audit and non-audit services provided
to the Group amounted to approximately HK$838,000 and
approximately HK$120,000 respectively. The total amount of
fees paid/payable to other audit firm for providing audit and
non-audit services for the year ended 31 December 2021
amounted to approximately HK$569,000 and approximately
HK$246,000 respectively. The non-audit service fees incurred
consist of fees of approximately HK$246,000 for taxation review.

DIRECTORS" AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES
ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibility to prepare
the accounts of the Group and other disclosures required under
the GEM Listing Rules, and management will provide information
and explanations to the Board to enable it to make an informed
assessment of the financial and other Board decisions.

A statement by the Company’s external auditor, McMillan Woods
(Hong Kong) CPA Limited, about their reporting responsibilities
is included in the Independent Auditor’s Report in this Annual
Report.
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Despite the fact that the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$18,687,000 as at 31 December 2021, the
consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2021 have been prepared on the basis that
the Group will continue to operate as a going concern. The
Directors are of the opinion that the Group is able to continue
as a going concern and to meet in full their financial obligations
as: (i) the Group has been actively negotiating with its creditors
to extend the repayment terms of its indebtedness; and (ii)
continuing financial support has been provided by a substantial
shareholder of the Company, who has confirmed his willingness
to provide funding for financing the operations of the Group to
meet its future obligations. In light of all the measures adopted
and arrangements implemented, the Directors are of the opinion
that the Group will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its
future working capital and other financial requirements and it
is reasonable to expect the Group to remain as a commercially
viable concern. Based on the cash flow projections of the Group
and having taken into account the available financial resources
of the Group with the above measures, the Directors have
concluded that the Group is able to continue as going concern
and to meet their financial obligations as and when they fall
due for the next twelve months. Accordingly, the Directors
are satisfied that it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31
December 2021 on a going concern basis.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary is an employee of the Group and has
day-to-day knowledge of the Group's affairs. The Company
Secretary is responsible to the Board for ensuring the Board
procedures are followed and that the Board is briefed on
legislative, regulatory and corporate governance developments.
During the year under review, the Company Secretary has
taken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training as
required by the GEM Listing Rules.
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INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for establishing and maintaining the
Group's systems of risk management and internal control
and for reviewing the effectiveness of these systems. The risk
management and internal control systems are designed to meet
the particular needs of the Group and to mitigate the risks which
it is exposed to. By their nature, however, such risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can provide only reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The Board has engaged
an independent advisor to review the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, covering
all material financial, operating and compliance controls for
the year ended 31 December 2021. Such review is conducted
annually. The scope of the review has been previously determined
and approved by the Board and the Audit Committee. The
independent advisor has reported major findings and areas of
improvement to the Board. All the recommendations have been
properly followed up by the Group to ensure that they will be
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Board is of
the view that the Group’s current risk management and internal
control systems are adequate and effective.

As might be expected of a Group of its size, a key control
procedure is the day-to-day supervision of the business by the
executive Directors, supported by managers responsible for
operations and the key central and divisional support provided by
the Group’s financial information systems and human resources.
Key elements of the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group as described below have all been in place
throughout the year under review and up to the date of this
Annual Report and are reviewed regularly by the Board:

e clearly defined management structure, lines of responsibilities
and delegation of authority;

e high recruitment standards and formal career development
and training to ensure the integrity and competence of the
staff;

e regular and comprehensive information provided to
management, covering financial performance and non-
financial measures;
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e procedures for the approval of capital expenditure,
investments and acquisitions;

e detailed budgeting process in which top management is
involved in budget setting, constant monitoring of key
statistics and review of management accounts on a monthly
basis, noting and investigating major variances; and

e consideration of progress made against significant business
risks at monthly management review meetings, with quarterly
briefings to the Board.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification

e |dentifies risks that may potentially affect the Group’s
business and operations.

Risk Assessment

e Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

e (Considers the impacts of the risks on the business caused
by the adverse events associated with the risks and the
likelihood of occurrence of these adverse events.

Response to Risks

e Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessments; and

e Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid and mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

e Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risks and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place and resolve material internal control defects (if any);

e Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

e Reports the results of risk monitoring to management and
the Board regularly.
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Inside Information

e The Group has in place, as an element of its risk management
and internal control systems, a policy on disclosure of inside
information, to ensure that inside information is handled
and disseminated properly and in accordance with the
applicable laws and regulations. The finance manager of the
Company and the department heads within the Group are
responsible for monitoring the changes and developments in
their respective areas of operation and report any potential
or suspected inside information events to the Board. Based
on the information obtained through internal reporting, the
Board assesses whether any of the information constitutes
inside information which needs to be released to the public.
Should public disclosure be required, the Board will determine
the scope of information to be disclosed and the timing of
disclosure. If and when appropriate, the Board may seek
independent professional advice to ensure that the Company
complies with the disclosure requirements.

The Board has considered the need for an internal audit function,
and concluded that, given the size of the Group and its risk
management and internal control systems in place, it is not
necessary at present. The Board will review this issue on an
annual basis.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy with effect from
1 January 2019. Dividends may be paid out by means of cash
or by other means that the Directors consider appropriate.
Declaration and payment of any dividends would require the
recommendation of the Board and will be at its discretion. In
addition, any dividends for a financial year will be subject to the
approval of the Shareholders. A decision to declare or to pay
any dividends in the future, and the amount of any dividends,
depends on a number of factors, including the financial
performance and future funding needs of the Company and
other factors the Board may deem relevant.

Declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject
to compliance with the Bye-laws and the laws of Bermuda.

The Board will review the dividend policy from time to time and
may exercise its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the dividend policy at any time as it deems fit and
necessary.

There is no assurance that dividends will be declared or paid in
any particular amount for any given period.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

Communication with the Shareholders is given a high priority by
the Company. The Company aims to provide the Shareholders
with high standards of disclosure and financial transparency
through the publication of annual, interim and quarterly reports,
announcements and circulars made through the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange.

The Board also maintains an on-going dialogue with the
Shareholders and use general meetings to communicate with
the Shareholders. The Company encourages all the Shareholders
to attend general meetings of the Company which provide a
useful forum for the Shareholders to exchange their views with
the Board. The Chairman and members of the relevant Board
committees and senior management of the Company are also
available to answer the Shareholders’ questions in the general
meetings.

To safeguard the Shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate
resolution is proposed for each substantially independent issue
at general meetings of the Company, including the election
of individual Directors. All resolutions put forward at general
meetings of the Company will be voted by poll pursuant to the
GEM Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted on the
websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after each
general meeting of the Company.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company keeps on promoting investor relations and
enhancing communication with the existing Shareholders and
potential investors. It welcomes suggestions from investors,
stakeholders and the public. Enquiries to the Board or the
Company may be sent by post to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no
significant change in the Company’s memorandum of association
and the Bye-Laws.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHT

Procedures for Shareholders to convene a general meeting

Pursuant to Bye-Law 58 of the Bye-Laws, any one or more
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at
all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require a special general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one
(21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene
such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do
so in accordance with the provisions of Section 74(3) of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Such written requisition (i) must state the object of business to
be transacted at the meeting; and (ii) must be signed by the
requisitionists; and (iii) must be deposited at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong in hard copy form
for the attention of the Board or the Company Secretary. The
requisition may consist of several documents in like form, each
signed by one or more of the requisitionist(s).

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

Save for the procedures for the Shareholders to convene a
general meeting as set out above and for the Shareholders to
nominate a person for election as a Director pursuant to Bye-Law
85 of the Bye-Laws, there are no other provisions allowing the
Shareholders to put forward proposals at a general meeting
of the Company under the Bye-Laws or under the laws of
Bermuda. Shareholders may follow the procedures set out above
to convene a special general meeting of the Company for any
business specified in such written requisition.

Shareholders’ enquiries

Shareholders may send their enquiries requiring the Board's
attention to the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal
place of business in Hong Kong. Questions about the procedures
for convening or putting forward proposals at an annual general
meeting or a special general meeting of the Company may also
be put to the Company Secretary by the same means.
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McMillanWoods

Professionalism at the forefront

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF

HANG TAl YUE GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands and re-domiciled and
continued on 1 December 2015 in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hang
Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “"Group”) set out on
pages 145 to 307, which comprise the consolidated statement
of financial position as at 31 December 2021, consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of
Hong Kong).

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2R R E S
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B 2R E S

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“"HKSAs") issued by HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING
CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2 to the consolidated financial
statements which reveals that as at 31 December 2021,
the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$18,687,000. These conditions indicate the existence of a
material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. Notwithstanding
the above, these consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the basis that the Group will continue to operate as
a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. In addition to the matter described in the Material
Uncertainty Related to Going Concern, we have determined
the matters described below to the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report. The key audit matters we identified
are:

i) Revenue recognition from contracts with customers in
relation to provision of information technology (“IT") services
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2R R E S

s EZEE (8)

i) Allowance for impairment of accounts receivable, loan and i) FEURERTX  FEUE X K F &8 2 R E B

interest receivables

iii) Provision for litigations

i) FFEABSE

iv) Determination of the fair value of financial assets at fair value  iv) A FEFEBERVE([RATFEEB

through profit or loss (“FVTPL")

BEIIRceREEZATVEEE

v) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment  v) EFSEIMNIREEE MAARBIRGE B BRYE -
relating to the provision of hospitality and related services in B I 58 2 B AT

Australia
vi) Impairment assessment of goodwill
Key Audit Matter
FARERSEE

vi) BEBER A

(i) Revenue recognition from contracts with customers in relation to provision of IT services

() FRARHEANRBREZEFSORAER

Reference is made to notes 4 and 5(i) to the consolidated
financial statements for the disclosures of the related
accounting policies, judgements and estimates and note
7 to the consolidated financial statements for further
information.

BLMEE M B WMERWEARS() ¥ A8 25 BUR - A
M2 RBERGEM BRI TI 2 E— L ER -
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group
recognised revenue from contracts with customers in
relation to provision of IT and maintenance services of
approximately HK$1,605,662,000 of which, approximately
HK$1,376,345,000 with respect to provision of IT services
which were recognised progressively over time using the
input method.
BE_ZT-_—F+-A=+—HLFEE E£EH
REHEEBAMERBLEERBEBEREPSHKBALN
1,605,662,000/ 7T HP R B IRHEE AR B ARG 04
1,376,345,000/8 T £ AR AVEBE s IR E #ERR o
Revenue recognised progressively over time using the input
method is based on the Group's efforts or inputs to the
satisfaction of the performance obligation, with reference
to the total cost incurred up to the end of the period as a
percentage of estimated total contract cost.
ERARANEERRREZERNBATIER E5ER
TRBHEEMNENE NS RA - TRL2EHEHR
EENBEKA LT RS OKANA DA HE -

Our procedures in relation to management’s
assessment of the revenue recognition from contracts
with customers in relation to provision of IT services
included:
REREEHABARHEEARMERBZEPLPEOKA
R RPIRMITOREF B

— Obtaining an understanding of how management
estimated the budget cost and how management
determined the progress;

- THREEBWMAGERERAINNERENf[E
EHEE:

— Obtaining a detailed breakdown of the total
estimated costs to completion for all IT services
in progress during the year and comparing, on a
sample basis, actual costs incurred to the reporting
date and future cost (i.e. labour cost or labour
hours) to be further incurred and estimated by
management in its assessment of the estimated
costs to completion;
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBEHRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)
Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)
HREZER (&)

s EZEE (8)

(i) Revenue recognition from contracts with customers in relation to provision of IT services (cont’d)

() FERHEANERB2EFSHWARR (&)

Management reviewed and revised the estimates of
revenue and contract costs for each IT services by
comparing the most current budgeted amounts with
corresponding actual amounts as the contract work
progresses, which involve significant judgements and
estimates.
EREERAAIREE BN OHNTEESRE
&ﬁﬁm§“$ﬁ2m1ﬁbﬁtﬁ§ﬂﬂﬁﬁﬁmw
ARERKANEE - ME S REBRARKAEE -

Due to the contracting nature of the business, revenue
and profit recognition involves a significant degree of
judgement and estimates made by the management, we
identified the revenue recognition from contracts with
customers in relation to provision of IT services as a key
audit matter.
HEBHNEQEERERN WAL NERTREIEE
TE B AR A KA Bt P EEREEAMRK
BB EFAHNBAINSEREZER-

Discussing with management the performance
of IT services in progress during the year, on a
sample basis, and challenging the key estimates
and assumptions adopted in the forecasts for
budget costs by management based on the past
experience, including estimated costs (i.e. labour
cost and labour hours) to completion, the adequacy
of contingency provisions and extra costs incurred
for work behind schedule, by obtaining and
evaluating relevant information in connection to
the assumptions adopted, including checking with
the corresponding services orders, subsequent
issued invoices and subsequent settlement for
contract assets, the correspondence with customers
regarding the subsequent confirmation of services
orders; and by considering historical outcomes for
similar contracts; and
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)
Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)
BREZSBE (&)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2R R E S

AR EZSEE (E)

(i) Revenue recognition from contracts with customers in relation to provision of IT services (cont'd)

() FRARHEANRBREZEFSOBRARR (&)

Inspecting on a sample basis of agreements and/
or services orders with customers to identify key
terms and conditions, including the contracting
parties, the contract period, the contract sum, the
scope of work, the methodology for calculating
liquidated and ascertained damages, and evaluating
whether these key terms and conditions had been
appropriately reflected in the total estimated
revenue and costs to completion in the forecast of
the outcome of the contracts.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B 2R E S

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)
Key Audit Matter (Cont’d)
BAREZSEE (&)

FAREZEE (E)

(ii) Allowance for impairment of accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables

(i) BYARF - BWER KA B 2 ERE

Reference is made to notes 4(aa), 5(d) and 5(e) to the
consolidated financial statements for the disclosures of
the related accounting policies, judgements and estimates
and note 22 to the consolidated financial statements for
further information.

B2 B4R M IS M 5 4(aa) » 5(d) K&5(e) ¥ HH A & 51 I
R H T R fhat 2 B M M B mRM 222 8 — 2
B¥to

The net carrying amounts of the Group's accounts
receivable, loan and interest receivables were approximately
HK$7,061,000 and approximately HK$49,816,000,
respectively, as at 31 December 2021.
RZEZ—F+=ZRA=+—H' EBESEHEWKER E
WE KA Bz BREFE 7 Bl & 497,061,000% 7T &4
49,816,000/ 7T ©

During the year, the Group recognised (i) an allowance for
impairment of accounts receivable of approximately HK$Nil
and (ii) a reversal of impairment of loan and interest
receivables of approximately HK$292,000, in accordance
with HKFRS 9.

FR BEEEREBEFBEMBREEDFEIRERG) M
JE W R TR T B R 1B 28 48 40 T 08 T % (i) ¢ [0 e W B R % A
SR 1B 49292,0007% 7T ©

134

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment
of allowance for impairment on accounts receivable,
loan and interest receivables included:

FLETEE H AR R E R R A B 2 R ER AR

it

BT REFELE:

Obtaining an understanding of control and
procedures over the allowance for impairment on
accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables
and evaluating the historical accuracy of the
impairment estimation by management, including
revision of the purchase orders from customers and
loan agreements, the controls over the approval,
recording and monitoring of accounts receivable,
loan and interest receivables and assessment of the
collectability of the debtors and the borrowers;

T AR FE AR TR FE U E R R M B 2 BB B e O BR
Z AR WAL E R E R AL ARERE (8
RIEFI KRBT RER ERERE  BiE -
OB N B AR R TR E R R B R R BF 2
il A R A (& 15 R E R E rT U Bl 1 ) 2 ZEREE
Assessing the reasonableness of the Group’s
expected credit losses ("ECLs”) models,
including the model input, model design, model
performance for significant portfolios. We assessed
the reasonableness of the Group’s criteria for
impairment by assessing if there has been a
significant increase in credit risk that allowances
for impairment of accounts receivable, loan and
interest receivables should be measured on a
lifetime ECLs basis. We also assessed whether
historical experience is representative of current
circumstances and of the recent losses incurred in
the portfolios and assessed the reasonableness of
forward-looking adjustments;

Hh EEERHREEER ((AHREEBRIE
ANEBEE EREZHNERBARE K
AR BARE - R FIFE SEEBEMMARRE
HERARERE HARTAEERRELEBEBZE
B mBEEKERSR BREREFE ZRE
BERETHEREEERELEETTE &M
NHEELERERTERRERNNBERALES
AT ERERIEN - KAt AR AN ST
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BREZSBE (&)

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2R R E S

AR EZSEE (E)

(ii) Allowance for impairment of accounts receivable, loan and interest receivables (cont’d)

(i) BWAR  BRERKFE ZRERE (H)

The measurement of impairment loss, based primarily on
ECLs, requires the application of judgement and estimation
by the management. The Group’s policy for recognition
of an allowance for impairment on accounts receivable,
loan and interest receivables is based on the evaluation
of recoverability, ageing analysis and on management’s
judgement. A considerable amount of judgement is
required in assessing the recoverability of the accounts
receivable, loan and interest receivables including the
current creditworthiness and the past collection history of
the debtors and the borrowers.
FERBERBEEERETREERNGAEERERERE
ERAE NG BEEEEBMEBRERER BRERK
M B 2R E B T RBUR Ty E R AT M B MR BRER
MEREBEHE MET T EERERR BYEREF
EWAlEMZE2ELREHE (BREEHARERA
BIR 5 B MRE WRED 8 ) o

For this reason, we have identified the allowance for
impairment of accounts receivable, loan and interest
receivables as a key audit matter.

Bl bt~ S APT %F E W BR R R MR E SR R ) B 2 R (B R 5
REAREZER-

Assessing the basis of management’s assessment
of recoverability of accounts receivable, loan
and interest receivables with reference to the
management’s evaluation of the debtors or
borrowers’ creditworthiness, debtors or borrowers’
credit history including default or delay in
payments, debtors or borrowers’ settlement
records, subsequent settlements from debtors or
borrowers and ageing analysis of each individual
debtor or borrower; and

AEEREEREUERERS BRERENEZAIE
WHEHAEMNEE TREEREHEBR AKX
ERANGEE EBAXNBRANGEELER (S
BIERIENFKIA) EHAXERANEESR
HBEBARERANEREE RN FHEEK
HAE R ERER AT EL 2 7P &

Recalculating the amount of the allowance for
impairment under ECLs approach on accounts
receivable, loan and interest receivables and
assessing the sufficiency of the allowance for
impairment as at 31 December 2021.
BIEEHEEEBR D ZENAERKERN B
EXRRMBEZREREESE WA HR T _—
F+_A=+—BRBERERESEH-

ERREBRZERERAAE | —T——FF#R 135



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B ZBEHRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONT'D)
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BREZEE (A

(iii) Provision for litigations

(iii) SRR 4B

Reference is made to notes 4(bb) and 5(h) to the
consolidated financial statements for the disclosures of the
related accounting policies, judgements and estimates and
notes 26 and 38 to the consolidated financial statements
for further information.

s 2 B4R S B 5 R i sE4(bb) K5(h) ¥ AE BE & 5T IR
FIET R 2 BB RGE B RER W26 %382 —
Bx}o

As at 31 December 2021, the Group was involved in
several litigations (the “Litigations”) either in Hong Kong
or the PRC.

RZE-_—F+-_A=+—"H BEEEREENTH
BN E T ([8RR]) -

Included in the carrying amount of the Group’'s trade
and other payables, accruals and provision were provision
for litigations of approximately HK$44,395,000 (the
“Provision for Litigations”), as at 31 December 2021.
RZTEZ—F+ZA=+—H " FaA%## 444,395,000
BT (B [RABARE DA ESEBEZRHEMEN
HIE A EALBECREE

The measurement of the Provision for Litigations
requires the application of judgement and estimation
by management. The Group’s policy for recognition
of the Provision for Litigations is based on the prior
experience, legal advices and management’s judgement. A
considerable amount of judgement is required in assessing
the possible outcome of the Litigations.
Dﬁﬂ\%ﬁ{%ﬁ‘ﬁggii@ﬁﬁ#u%ﬁ&1ﬁu+};f7u E%
=5 7 o FA B S FE SR BUR Eﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁm,iémﬁ&
ERBHEMEE - FAFLAATRERNERTEED
A& FIlEf -

For this reason, we have identified the Provision for
Litigations as a key audit matter.

Bt RIS FARB SEREZER-

FAREZEE (E)

Our procedures in relation to management’s assessment

of the Provision for Litigations included:

WaﬁﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁZ%ﬁ'ﬁﬁﬂ THRFELRE:
Discussing with management and the Company's
legal advisors to understand the updated status
of the Litigations and the possible outcome of the
Litigations;

- HEEEER ﬁ@?%%@@ﬁﬁﬁﬂﬁﬂ%?
R RFIE N NFRATEHENGER

— Reviewing the related correspondences between
the Group and its legal advisors as well as
correspondence with the courts (including but not
limited to obtain and review legal opinions from its
legal advisors);

- B BEEEHEAZZBEMHZMEBEEREGEHIAR
BLK B 60 12 2R 15 ok (B 358 R 70 JE BRI 25 B 2R
BEAERBEEMEERER)

— Performing legal search to ensure the completeness
of the legal cases involved by the Group as at 31
December 2021;

- EMEERAEUBRITA EEER_ZT_—F
TZA=T—HRESHRBERREN:

— Understanding and observing in practice the
actions that management has taken in response to
the Litigations; and

- ERTHIEREEBYHFAKNNTE: &

— Challenging and recalculating the amount of
the Provision for Litigations and assessing the
sufficiency of the Provision for Litigations as at 31
December 2021.

- RLMEMFEFLABHBSR LHFER_F

—$+ A=Z+—BHHFHFLBEESEH-
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s EZEE (8)

(iv) Determination of the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL

(VVRATFTEZEBRESIRZEHEEZQATVFEERE

Reference is made to notes 4(i) and 5(f) to the consolidated
financial statements for the disclosures of the related
accounting policies, judgements and estimates and note
24 to the consolidated financial statements for further
information.

B2 HEE MR B¢ AR A BE - #
b R a2 BB KR e M mAM 242 E— T ER -
As at 31 December 2021, included in the carrying amount
of the Group's financial assets at FVTPL, out of which
approximately HK$82,220,000 were unlisted equity
investments and derivative financial instruments.
RZEZ—F+ZA=+—H' EB5BRATEER
BRIEzermEEREEE S 482,220,000/ 7T &
FLETRARERITESR I A -

The fair value measurement of these financial assets are
determined by an independent qualified professional
valuer not connected to the Group.
ZETRMEEL ATFEFEHE
BYABRBEXMERMERE -

We identified the determination of the fair value of
financial assets at FVTPL is a key audit matter due to
a higher degree of complexity and the significance of
management judgment that unobservable inputs involves
in the fair value measurement.
BARIZEATEERERIIRZERMEEZRATEERE
JIRAREZEE RARAEHEEERREEERE
BT RAAEBERGARBE AP EAESEEERY
e o

EXBUEBAEY

Our procedures in relation to the determination of the
fair value of the financial assets at FVTPL included:
REAFEEBERIIECeREEL A TEERE
BPRITHREFERE:

ERREBRZERERAAE | —T——FF#R

Discussing with management and the independent
valuer to understand the basis of valuation
approach and methodology;
HERENB Y AEMNRA T BEET AR
TG HyEL2E

Evaluating the independence and expertise of the
independent valuer;
EREEAACKEIESE AR E - 5T
Challenging the management and the independent
valuer on the reasonableness of the assumptions
and estimations in the valuation;
REETRANRILETREAERMERE
& AVALE=LEIE

Checking and challenging the independent valuer
the relevance of the comparable publicly listed
companies;
EZREERBEHEMIELBRAR LM AT
MR

Working with the auditor’s valuation specialists to
review the valuation methodology, approach, the
accuracy of the calculations in the valuation model
and inputs used in the fair value measurements;
and

EZHBMeEEERAE EHAEGLER L &
C HERUPAEFEZERLER R ETE
PER AR 2 B A BUE &2

Reviewing the appropriateness of the disclosure in
the consolidated financial statements.
BEEGEMBRRMERERSEE -
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FAREZEE (E)

(v) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment relating to the provision of hospitality and

related services in Australia

(v) BERBENREBEREBREEFANYE  BERREZBENE

Reference is made to notes 4(z) and 5(a) to the
consolidated financial statements for the disclosures of
the related accounting policies, judgements and estimates
and note 14 to the consolidated financial statements for
further information.

F2HERE M EHRERN T2 Ko@) BB K- #
R st 2 BB RERE M BEREM T 142 E—TER -
Included in the carrying amount of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment of approximately HK$159,699,000
as at 31 December 2021 were freehold land and buildings
with carrying amount of approximately HK$91,770,000 for
the provision of hospitality and related services in Australia
(collectively, the “Estate Resorts”).
RZZEZ—F+ZA=+—H' EBESEWE - KBEXK
i 2 BRE{E 49159,699,0007 7T+ & HF B B FORIM 12 4
BEREERBAAZKARELHRET (5l B
wEERN]) ZEREEL91,770,000/% 7T °
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Our procedures in relation to management’s
impairment assessment of the Estate Resorts included:

#
=

EREHEEE RN ZMER G HMARMITHE
BLIE
Discussing with management and the independent
valuer to understand the basis of valuation
approach and methodology;
EERERB I AEMNRATBEETERRK
T HyELZE
Challenging the management and the independent
valuer on the adoption of the assumptions and
estimations in the valuation;
REETRANBRRLGEABREETRERE LB
EAM
Challenging the independent valuer to ensure
proper comparables were used;
REBY GEMARRRBEZNATELRER
Evaluating the independence and expertise of the
independent valuer;

AT (il 8 3 fik (B AP B9 8 321 M B R FRRE
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PR EZEE (E)

(v) Impairment assessment for property, plant and equipment relating to the provision of hospitality and

related services in Australia (cont’d)

(v) BERBENRABEREBREEFANYE  BERREZBEFME (HF)

For the purpose of assessing the recoverable amount
of the Estate Resorts, the management engaged an
independent professional valuer to perform a valuation
(the “"Properties Valuation”) regarding the Estate
Resorts based on management’s assumptions. Significant
management judgement was used to determine the key
assumptions underlying the Properties Valuation, including
(i) recent market prices of the Estate Resorts, (i) locations
of the Estate Resorts; and (iii) types of the Estate Resorts,
such assumptions and the valuation technique involves
significant unobservable inputs.
RAGBEHWEEBRN AR E EEELERE — %
BYUREGEM RETEEZRIMEMEERITE
THRE(TYEAE]) EEBFEHERHBUNEEY R
HEMAZEERE B FHERERN 2T HHE:
(ii) B3 EE B AR 2 AL B R (iii) B E R AT Z 88 AL - 5%
FRR MM ERMY R EXRT AT E R A BUR -

For this reason, we have identified the determination of
the recoverable amount of the Estate Resorts as a key
audit matter.

gEmMs BABEFHEERN 2AIKREEEEINR
BREZEE-

ERREBRZERERAAE | —T——FF#R

Checking with the comparable data through
internal or external sources, on a sample basis, the
relevance of (i) the recent market price of the Estate
Resorts; (i) locations of the Estate Resorts; and (iii)
types of the Estate Resorts; and

R E RS R B A3k N ED BY bb B EUE B ()
P E R BN 2 ™ IE : (i) B HER RN 2L
B R(iEHEERN ZHALAERNL: &
Recalculating the amount of the impairment on the
Estate Resorts and assessing the sufficiency of the
impairment as at 31 December 2021.
BHNAERMERBRN ZRESERTHER_E
—_—Ft+_A=t+—BZREREME-
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BREZEE (A

(vi) Impairment assessment of goodwill
(vi) B &R E L

Reference is made to notes 4(z) and 5(b) to the
consolidated financial statements for the disclosures of
the related accounting policies, judgements and estimates
and note 16 to the consolidated financial statements for
further information.

2R E M IE MK M 5E4(2) K50b) EEEg s - #
b R hEt 2 BB KRR e M mEMT16 2 E— T ER -
As of 31 December 2021, the Group had goodwill with
carrying amount of approximately HK$13,339,000 arose
from acquisitions of subsidiaries during the year. For the
financial reporting purpose, the management engaged an
independent professional valuer to perform an impairment
test using market approach and value-in-use model to
estimate the recoverable amount of the goodwill at the
end of the reporting period.
RZEZ_—F+A=+—RH EB5EBEEFAKEN
BARMEEREMBELI3,339,0008T2EHE - E1EE
R BHREREBLEXEEMRABTISERERER
BRETRERS WAAEERNREARZATRE S
BH o

We have identified the impairment of goodwill as a key
audit matter because which requires estimates concerning
the methods and assumptions to be applied in determining
the recoverable amount. The selection of valuation model,
adoption of key assumptions and input data may be
subject to management bias and significant judgements.
Changes in these assumptions and input to valuation
model may result in significant financial impact.
BHPEREEREIN REAREREE REREF2YH
EEAWESBERMRAN T ERRRIEL GG EE
HEREY RABRBRRLBABBAEEXEEER
RREBRHAGHAZE ZERXNEERAPTERA @
ABENSES A RERERMBEE -
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FAREZEE (E)

Our procedures in relation to management’s for
assessment of the goodwill included:

HMEEEEEN AR ENEF R

Discussing with management and the independent
valuer to understand the basis of valuation
approach and methodology;
HERBERBIGEME TR UERGEES
BRI TG A LE

Evaluating the independence and competence of
the valuer,

G (R ERD 2 B M K B

Challenging the assumptions and estimations used
in the valuation;

AL E R SR AR YRR S A 5t HE &
Challenging the appropriateness of the key
assumption adopted in the cash flow forecasts
underlying the value-in-use, with reference to
historical performance of the acquirees and our
knowledge of the relevant industry;

DERWE T 2 BERT LR MEBBITENE
fHEenRERAMRKAZHEEREEH
RERBEEROERE:

Assessing the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the fair value less costs of
disposal calculation (including book value multiple,
marketability discount and control premium); and
AEAERATFERODEXNAAEIE2RR (B
FREERZS mERBUETEREGERE) 2
B Rk

Engaging a valuation specialist to assist us to review
the appropriateness of the valuation approach
and methodology, the accuracy of the calculations
in the valuation model and key inputs used on a
sample basis.
ZELGEZERBPHHAMKRREGHETERKD
BEE M HEERPGENERERARAD
78 52 ) A B -
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the Other Information. The
Other Information comprises all of the information included
in the Company’s annual report other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the Other Information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the Other Information
and, in doing so, consider whether the Other Information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears
to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of
the Other Information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for
such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee assists the directors in discharging their
responsibilities for overseeing the Group's financial reporting
process.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
B 2R R E S

H A &

EXRABHEMENBRE - EMEREBRE BEX
RIEHMEMNMAER (RAMB oK IR
P8 AR BBD R ERRIN) o

BZHHEEMBERENBERL T REEME
B BATMAEEMEREREAEANER
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:ﬁ\\EIFlFFE °

IEREEHBHRERME  RANKEREE
HpER RiaiEs EEEMEN SR HE
REMBHRRIBPRNEZBET BN
BABEAEE XIRHAEAERRM -
ERBMEATO TR WERMABSEMESR
BEAREREG ZMARSZEE - RIS
| RFPRBEAHRE -

EENSRAVBRRBAELZE
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EXRRERBRALESHMASRHZIER
s REERNREFE QAR K ERER
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RAREGEEVHEREIMEBLEZERAA
ERE TR ARIEAR & M B R N £ RN EREE
SRR M BB 2 BAFE R -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our
opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance with section 90 of
the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

e Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

B AD BB 2 A B B A ok R
EZEMT

HPMERRAEEERBRAVBTHRERE
BN FEARAFFRERMEBMNEMEKR
BEERFRAL W HE A RMFIE R 80 BED 3R
o HFIRBAFRE NN —FRADEFI0MK
Zm ET(ERER)ERBRMANER K
gz o RRETEEMAE - BT ERA
HENABREFEMA LR ESIAFEEMA
Aife

BEETESERZE BETRERRESS
HRERETHNER T FERERMETE
B B K § RR R AL - 5 BR PRt T JR I BRFF s iR
W ER K ERRNSERMER N R E(E
AERBHGEAVBRERFLNEERER - 8
AR A E KRR

RIEFBZBCERETERS RMAERER
A NEEEZEETREZXRREE -
AP 7% -

o BRI NFHEARS MBS HREREKFFHIERM
HIRE KR REE A R - B F R R
Rt MBITERER ESRARLEER
ZBRERBANE R R HER - A EKE
BREREE FE WEER REMR
A OB A ERIE B F I R BE IR M L&
PR B K 5 AR R L PR BOR BE B IR 0 88
RIMEBNERFERBLERE S °

o THEBRZABBMANIMIES  URFTRE
MEZEF BXFEEY SXERR
ZHIKRBERER -
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONT'D)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

ERMEEZRERAA | — T - —FFW
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONT'D)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these
matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

McMillan Woods (Hong Kong) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Lo Ka Ki
Audit Engagement Director
Practising Certificate Number — P06633

24/F., Siu On Centre
188 Lockhart Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong

Hong Kong, 20 April 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

mreEEmkEMEmRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021

AP T -——Ff_HA=4+—HIFE
2021 2020
=B —-F —E_THF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B & FHET FHET
Revenue WA 7 1,799,501 1,050,847
Cost of sales HEMA (1,618,739) (940,881)
Other income and gains H AU A Rz 7 61,912 16,990
Administrative expenses THRAX (294,472) (189,768)
Reversal of impairment loss on BB EZBEEERE
contract assets 21 - 536
Reversal of impairment FEUAR R - BB X &
loss/(impairment loss) on accounts MEZREEE
receivable, loan and interest #E CREBRE)
receivables 22(c) 292 (1,691)
Impairment loss on deposits and Be R H M EWRIE 2B E
other receivables B8 23 - (99)
Impairment loss on property, M BB R E 2 REEE
plant and equipment - (8,512)
Gain/(loss) on disposals of property, ﬁ%%% B KEE
plant and equipment =/ (E8) 2,844 (162)
Written off of property, plant and Wﬁﬁi@% ]
equipment (278) (12,854)
Net gain on disposals of subsidiaries HEWB AR 2 W55 76,699
Loss on disposals of financial assets HERAFEEREBERYE
at fair value through profit ([BRAFEEBERIIER])
and loss (“FVTPL") ZEMEAEZER (9,034) -
Fair value gain/(loss) on ERAFEBBERYIERZ
financial assets at FVTPL CREECATERE
(E518) 345 (2,409)
Share of results of associates PaK (SR AN E 18 21,425 5,013
Finance costs mﬂéf@i$ 9 (28,428) (20,068)
Profit/(loss) before tax BB AR T, (E518) 8 12,067 (103,058)
Income tax expense PG X 10 (1,226) (1,378)
Profit/(loss) for the year RELmF, (EBE) 10,841 (104,436)
Other comprehensive income, Hih2mE - HRHE
net of tax
Items that may be reclassified HERBEEEATEEEF
subsequently to profit or loss THEEBERZER
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences arising on B"EFINEE AR
translation of financial statements of MR REEZ
overseas subsidiaries bE =58 1,422 (5,276)
Reclassification of translation reserve 7 E B A Rl
upon disposals of subsidiaries B HEELFEE 5,682 -
Item that will not be reclassified BT EEF P EEE®mZ
to profit or loss: HE :
Fair value (loss)/gain on financial assets ZRAFEFBEMEE Y=
at fair value through other PIRR (R AFEEBHM
comprehensive income (“FVTOCI") 2EHKEIER] ) cEREE
ZAFE(BER) e (37,506) 1,660
Other comprehensive income AFEFEMPEWE -
for the year, net of tax HBRTIE (30,402) (3,616)
Total comprehensive income for the year 784 € 2 [ W 25 42 58 (19,561) (108,052)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Ara 1B MEM R W S
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

2021 2020
—EB-—-F —T-THF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B & FHET FHET
Profit/(loss) for the year THALTEEERFE
attributable to: wHL (EE) ¢
The shareholders of the Company NN 12 55,699 (72,697)
Non-controlling interests FEFE IR HE A (44,858) (31,739)
10,841 (104,436)
Total comprehensive income for THATEEEREFERZE
the year attributable to: W sk 4 5E
The shareholders of the Company ZiNNET 1§23 25,937 (73,478)
Non-controlling interests FEVERR R 2 (45,498) (34,574)
(19,561) (108,052)
Earnings/(loss) per share BREF, (&FB)
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —BEARNEE (BN 12 1.04 (1.36)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e MBI R
At 31 December 2021
RZFEZ—F+=-—H=4+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —EIETF
Note HKS$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FExT FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FREBEE
Property, plant and equipment M RE MR 14 159,699 182,368
Right-of-use assets FHEEE 15(a) 11,898 66,688
Goodwill Bk 16 13,339 -
Other intangible assets HihmpEE 17 - 272
Investments in associates REE QR Z2®RE 18 126,885 85,417
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRATEZEAEMMEHE
WP Rz & E 19 6,759 13,244
Financial assets at FVTPL BEATEEBRERIEZ
TREE 24 79,456 -
Deferred tax assets EERIBEE 29 1,245 1,314
Total non-current assets ERBEELE 399,281 349,303
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories & 20 6,023 7,974
Contract assets BHEE 21(@a) - 133,530
Accounts receivable, FEUMER SR~ IR E X R FI B
loan and interest receivables 22 56,877 284,519
Prepayments, deposits and TERT IR - 1R e R H At
other receivables JE U SRIB 23 37,301 36,241
Financial assets at FVTOCI BRATEZEAREMEHE
W Rz /& E 19 137,978 164,484
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAVEEBERIEZ
TREE 24 9,595 55,519
Pledged time deposit B E TR 25(b) = 13,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekERREEH 25 10,839 89,480
Total current assets MEEERE 258,613 784,747
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Contract liabilities BHEE 21(b) 7,467 6,241
Trade and other payables, B 5 I e A 5RI8 -
accruals and provision JEETE A REBE 26 114,798 449,989
Lease liabilities HERE 15(b) 3,406 27,008
Interest-bearing bank and FERITEREMEE
other borrowings 27 86,827 277,205
Derivative financial liabilities MTEEMAE 28 438 -
Tax payable JERT IR 64,364 60,439
Total current liabilities mMEBEERE 277,300 820,882
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFEHR (18,687) (36,135)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EELERRBEE
LIABILITIES 380,594 313,168
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

ARE MR LR

At 31 December 2021

R-ZE-—FF+—H=+—H

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
B 7T TFHET FHET
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FknRBEE
Other payables HAth F& 15 5B 26 - 4,020
Interest-bearing bank and SERITREMEE
other borrowings 27 48,048 2,782
Convertible loans AR B K 28 6,584 -
Lease liabilities HEBE 15(b) 8,151 46,321
Total non-current liabilities ERE B ERRE 62,783 53,123
NET ASSETS BEEFRE 317,811 260,045
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BARRE
Share capital il 30 53,362 53,362
Reserves Gk 32 269,364 245,496
EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE BRERELERS
SHAREHOLDERS 322,726 298,858
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS FEIERE R (4,915) (38,813)
TOTAL EQUITY R 317,811 260,045

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors (the
"Directors”) of the Company (the “Board”) on 20 April 2022

and signed on its behalf by:

Ng Ting Ho
REH
Director

EF

RARAMES (BB g (B8R =-F
T TFMA-tRAERRETE  WH TS
ALTRERE:

Lam Ching Yee
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
AR BB

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

Attributable to the Shareholders of the Company

ARERRERL
Fair value
reserve of
financial assets Non-
Share Share Contributed Translation Other at FVTOCl Accumulated controlling Total
capital premium* surplus* reserve* reserve*  (non-recycling)* losses* Total interests equity
RAVE
EREMRE
Ue-4} 2
tHEEL
ATERE
BE RHEE E4EH EifE Rfthide (FAIBE)* itEEr @it FERER BEE
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK$'000
Fian T Fian TR Fian TR TR FaL TR Tin
At 1 January 2020 53,362 510,233 693,308 (11,176) 7,304 (191,615) (689,080) 372,336 (4,239) 368,097
Loss for the year - - - - - - (72,697) (72,697) (31,739) (104,436)
Disposal of investments in unlisted equity
securities at FVTOCI - - - - - 14,905 (14,905) - - -
Other comprehensive income for the year: FEEEMRENEG:
Exchange differences related to overseas ybla) NG
subsidiaries - - - (2,441) - - - (2,441) (2,835) (5,276)
Fair value gain on financial assets at FVTOCI
- - - - - 1,660 - 1,660 - 1,660
Total comprehensive income for the year TEERENREE - - - (2,441) - 16,565 (87,602) (73478) (34,574) (108,052)
At31 December 2020 and it 3:3 gy =
1 January 2021 | 53,362 510,233 693,308 (13,617) 7,304 (175,050) (776,682) 298,858 (38,813) 260,045
Profit for the year - - - - - - 55,699 55,699 (44,858) 10,841
Other comprehensive income for the year: - - - - - - - - - -
Exchange differences related to overseas
subsidiaries - - - 2,062 - - - 2,062 (640) 1422
Disposals of subsidiaries - - - 5,682 - - - 5,682 - 5,682
Fair value loss on financial assets at FVTOCI
- - - - - (37,506) - (37,506) - (37,506)
Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 7,744 - (37,506) 55,699 25,937 (45,498) (19,561)
Acquisitions of subsidiaries {: - - - - - - - - (5,310) (5,310)
Change in ownership interest in a subsidiary —FAHBL
that does not result in a loss of control BREZ - - - - 502 - - 502 4,499 5,001
Disposals of subsidiares HEHBAR - - - - (@51 - - (@51 80,207 71,636
At 31 December 2021 RZZ--F+-fA=+-R 53,362 510,233 693,308 (5.873) 5235 (212,556) (720,983) 30,126 (4,915 317,811
*  These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * ZERBREESESMBRRAT A
approximately HK$269,364,000 (2020: HK$245,496,000) in the 4R A FEE#9269,364,0008 L (— T - T 4F:

consolidated statement of financial position.

245,496,000/ 7T, ) ©
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
,\/T\ Eﬁﬁ/}lbi%

For the year ended 31 December 2021

AP —F-—Ff_HA=4+—HIFE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E T
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B FHET T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REKEXBZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Profit/(loss) before tax BB ATRA, (E8) 12,067 (103,058)
Adjustments for: IS EELAE:
Bank interest income |ITH B A 7 (198) (2,331)
Finance costs A& B AR 9 28,428 20,068
Amortisation of other intangible Hihf & E#H
assets 17 264 487
Depreciation of property, Y BEREREITE
plant and equipment 14 25,204 17,026
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CRAEEENE 8, 15(a) 36,292 24,336
Share of results of associates DIEEEE R RIEE (21,425) (5,013)
Loss on disposals of HEZRAFEER
financial assets of FVTPL BmiR2
TREEER 9,034 -
Fair value (gain)/loss on BAFESBEZR
financial assets at FVTPL 757|JEEZi MEEZ
RNEE(Kw) EiE (345) 2,409
Impairment loss on property, ME- -WEREZHZ
plant and equipment BIEEBE 8, 14 - 8,512
Reversal of impairment on BREEZRERE
contract assets 21(a) - (536)
(Reversal of impairment loss)/ FEMER S - R E R &
impairment loss MEZ CREEBE
on accounts receivable, loan o) REEE
and interest receivables 8,22 (292) 1,691
Impairment loss on deposits and e REMEWFRIEZ
other receivables BB E 1B 8,23 - 99
Reversal of provision for litigations IR/ 8, 26,
38(c)&(d) - (2,777)
(Gain)/loss on disposals of property, HEWE BEREZHEZ
plant and equipment (M=) BE 8 (2,844) 162
Written off of property, WY % - BB KRB
plant and equipment 8, 14 278 12,854
Write-down of inventories 17 S MUR - 171
Net gain on disposals of subsidiaries HEMRBARZ
Was Faa 34(b) (76,699) =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

,\/\ Eﬁui/)lbiﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FETT
Operating cash flows before LEESEHEIZ
working capital changes KREREME 9,764 (25,900)
Decrease/(increase) in inventories FEERL, () 2,845 (369)
Increase in contract assets A% ﬁ@iﬂﬂ (134,194) (9,540)
Decrease/(increase) in accounts fEWBR X - IR E K
receivables, loan and FLE /Ui L/ (i*DD)
interest receivables 35,040 (218,666)
Increase in prepayments, TR FRIE - B B YR IE K
other receivables and other assets H At & E LN (77,659) (15,449)
Increase/(decrease) in contract AHAaREN OBd)
liabilities 1,724 (454)
Increase in trade and other payables, B 5 K Eth &~ RRIE -
accruals and provision EET &M &%éﬁi in 39,076 193,310
Purchase of financial assets at FVTPL BEERATEEBERIIE
ZEBMEE (78,962) (16,639)
Proceeds from disposal of HEZRAFEZBERYIE
financial assets at FVTPL 2 EREEFSRIEA 22,889 -
Cash used in operations LEBEFMAZE® (179,477) (93,707)
Income tax: FriSH1 -
— Overseas tax refunded —R[EBINTIE 2,699 3,541
NET CASH FLOW USED IN RETBHFARSRERE
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (176,778) (90,166)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REREZTBZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Purchases of items of property, BEYWE BELKEEHR
plant and equipment 14 (88,374) (31,921)
Bank interest received B URITHIE 7 198 2,331
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits REREERRITER 13,000 -
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME BERZEEZ
plant and equipment Fr {5 3k 18 23,714 19,105
Proceeds from disposal of financial s Efﬂ/\iﬁ}_ﬂﬁi\ﬁﬁiﬁ
assets at FVTOCI WHIRZEeMEEL
Fri§ 58 - 2,595
Capital injection to investments [ HE & A TTX,\/E,éf
in associates (18,305) -
Net cash outflow from acquisitions WEMB AR
of subsidiaries RE M FRE 34(a) (7,460) =
Net cash outflow from disposals HEMBARIZ
of subsidiaries RE R FEE 34(b) (42,967) -
NET CASH FLOW USED IN RETEMAREREFHE
INVESTING ACTIVITIES (120,194) (7,890)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

MEREeRER
For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE—FT-_—F+_-_A=+—HIFFE
2021 2020
—E-—F —E-THF
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FAT
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMETBH2HERE
ACTIVITIES
Repayment of interest-bearing bank BRI EBRITREMEE
and other borrowings 34(c) (61,705) (52,482)
Interest paid ENEAES) 34(c) (22,490) (3,059)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENHEcERE S 34(c) (40,386) (19,450)
Interest element of lease rentals paid ENEEZNEHD 34(c) (4,338) (2,820)
New interest-bearing bank and TIEE R RITREMEE
other borrowings obtained 34(c) 339,253 95,178
Proceeds from issue of convertible loans 2577 A] #2 jR & FX P15 2B 28 7,000 -
NET CASH FLOW FROM RMEITHMEEEREFH
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 217,334 17,367
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND ReRkERESERD ZED
CASH EQUIVALENTS g (79,638) (80,689)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RENZRERER
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR HEIEH 89,480 180,516
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXSFH s TE
RATE CHANGES 997 (10,347)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZRERER
AT END OF YEAR HE&EH 10,839 89,480
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF HERERELEHR
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EeR D
Cash and bank balances B MIRITHE S 25 10,839 89,480
10,839 89,480
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL INFORMATION

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands and was redomiciled and
continued on 1 December 2015 in Bermuda with limited
liability. The registered office of the Company is located
at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11,
Bermuda. The principal place of business is 9/F, HKHC Tower,
No. 241-243 Nathan Road, Jordan, Kowloon, Hong Kong.
The Company's shares are listed on GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 45 to
the consolidated financial statements.

. BASIS OF PREPARATION

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"). HKFRSs comprise Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRS"); Hong Kong
Accounting Standards ("HKAS"); and Interpretations. These
consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM
Listing Rules”) and with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws
of Hong Kong). Significant accounting policies adopted by
the Group are discussed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs
that are first effective or available for early adoption for the
current accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides
information on any changes in accounting policies resulting
from initial application of these developments to the extent
that they are relevant to the Company and its subsidiaries
(“Group”) for the current and prior accounting periods
reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Ara I IE RN
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

— AR

ERHEBEERBRAA ([RAF])
ARASHEAMKIIR T —RF
T+ A—HEMZERELRBRFET
BZERRAR -ARA 2 EREH
it A& Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda ® & Z & % ith 2%
REBNEEBBBE241-2437F 588
BEPE LI - ARARNEBRBBHERS
FrERAR ([BERFT]) GEM e

ARAREERER AR HNBRRZE
REBEMNER S M IERRMTE4S -

. MR EE

AEEMBERRTIBEESSHHAS
([BERARTMAE ) BH 2B Y BR
EHREA([ERMBREEL ] RE -HE
P mEELBIE (GBEYBREEL) -
(BACTER) (RS EA)X&
(B AR AEVBEBRRNFTEB AT
GEMZE# LR A ([GEM EHRA]) 2
BRBEGEXREE RGN (FEED
FORE)ZWERT -AEERMNEE
GETBURR T XA

FAEGIMASERME TRAKELRS
atEAR B R AR AT IR R R 2 FTR] MR
ERTBRBMBRELER -MEIHIAE
RERBERRBREKBAT ([4EMH])
BRARFN AT RIS RT 2 RIFT 5 20E A MB
e HRNEM ST BRRESNER
EASE [N Py Bl
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e I IE RN R

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

2.

154

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONT'D)

Material uncertainty related to going concern

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$18,687,000. This condition indicates the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
Notwithstanding the above, these consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on the basis that the Group
will continue to operate as a going concern.

The Directors of the Company ("“Directors”) are of the
opinion that the Group is able to continue as a going
concern and to meet in full their financial obligations
as: (i) the Group has been actively negotiating with its
creditors to extend the repayment terms of its indebtedness;
and (ii) continuing financial support has been provided
by a substantial shareholder of the Company, who has
confirmed his willingness to provide funding for financing
the operations of the Group to meet its future obligations.
In light of all the measures adopted and arrangements
implemented, the Directors are of the opinion that the Group
will have sufficient cash resources to satisfy its future working
capital and other financial requirements and it is reasonable
to expect the Group to remain as a commercially viable
concern.

Based on the cash flow projections of the Group and
having taken into account the available financial resources
of the Group with the above measures, the Directors have
concluded that the Group is able to continue as going
concern and to meet their financial obligations as and when
they fall due for the next twelve months.

Should the Group be unable to continue as a going concern,
adjustments would have to be made to the consolidated
financial statements to adjust the value of the Group’s assets
to their recoverable amounts, to provide for any further
liabilities which might arise and to reclassify non-current
assets and liabilities as current assets and current liabilities
respectively. The effects of these potential adjustments have
not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

2.

B ()
EMRESE ZEATRERE

R-E-_—F+_-_A=+—H8 KEEH
MB B EFEEL AE18,687,0008 Lo % 1B
METNFEEATHAREZR e ARE
ERECEZRENBRERARM - BER
FELEER WEGRERBHRRDIREAE
EEEFECE C HERR -

ARAESR ([EFRAB AEBREHRF
BRE2Y2EBETEMBEEL RE ARG
AEBE-—BERGELGEARR LT
EHNERHR: R ARR] —BEER
RERHBEMBE R ROERBEER
AEBZEBRHES UBTHARAKEE-
ERACHRDMERREERN L
EERRAKEKARBERENREERN
mEHBRNEEES REMTHH KA
EEBHAREEREFAE LATIEE -

REASENRSRERILREERAE
B ANMEERN EMEEE EF
RR/EEEBRENFERLERBETERK
K+ _—EARHNSMIEEE-

MAREEEGELE MAHRA WK
BERFLPE BAEBEEBERNEE
HeEl &5 sial e EL 2 EE—F
BEFELEE XKERBDEEREBED
BEHDBARBEENRRBEE ZF
BEAENZEIARNBFHRS VB REK
AR o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(a) Application of new and revised HKFRSs

The Group has applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual period beginning
on or after 1 January 2021 for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, - Phase 2
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 Related Rent Concessions

The application of all new amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year had no material impact on the Group's
financial positions and performance for the current and
prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these
consolidated financial statements.

Ara I IE RN
For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE_F—_—F+_A=+—HIFE

W] MERT B BT
ol

[ e A

(a) ZRART REERTERMIRELER

74 B L B4R AR A B 7 3R 5% 2 0
AT &G aI A S B M HN=
TomF—f—BRRNANER
H R34 ) A R BB B I R A R I s
i

BAMBREERFE MR B A
BAGRHERF395 -E-KR

BAMBREERETH
BRMBRE LSRR
BRMBRELAF16% 287
BEMBREENF IR LT  HUBRRS
RIERH
HERR

RAFERRB LB EBMBRE
EUZHETHANRERANEE KB
EFENFBERRRKE R A&
EUBHRRABNEBELBEEARE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

i\’T\

EREsE T

For the year ended 31 December 2021
BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

3.

156

effective

ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONT'D)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments of HKFRSs that may be relevant to the

Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 COVID-19

Related Rent Concession
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Business
Combination - Reference to the
Conceptual Framework

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant
and Equipment - Proceeds before
Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous
contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018 -
2020 Cycle

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of
Liabilities as Current or Non-current

Amendments to HKAS 1 Presentation
of Financial Statements and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements — Disclosure of
Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Accounting
Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Error - Definition of
Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Income Taxes
- Deferred Tax Related to Assets
and Liabilities Arising from a Single
Transaction

Effective for

accounting periods
beginning on or after

1 April 2021

1 January 2022

1 January 2022

1 January 2022

1 January 2022
1 January 2023

1 January 2023

1 January 2023

1 January 2023

3.

AT AT (5 2T BB
5 &5 28 ()

(b) EEMEEHRERNHIT REBTE
78 Bt H 5 2E A

K 4 B3 448 B A T i A
B4R 0 37 5] RAG 1S 5T B BB FS S
8-

RT5BH
g2EHRN
R EES

BRMBREERE 165 B3] k- S5
[ZZZ-§RA=THKZ mA—A
THERRSRERERLER]

BRMBREENEIR 2B “E--
[ZBaf-BoERSIA] —A—A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3. ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONT'D)

(b) New and revised HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Cont'd)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of what the impact of these amendments and new
standards is expected to be in the period of initial
application. So far it has concluded that the adoption
of them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the
consolidated financial statements.

. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, unless mentioned
otherwise in the accounting policies below (e.g. certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair value).

The preparation of financial statements in conformity
with HKFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its
judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting
policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant to the consolidated financial statements are
disclosed in note 5.

The significant accounting policies applied in the preparation
of these consolidated financial statements are set out below.

(a) Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
made up to 31 December. Subsidiaries are entities
over which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
entity. The Group has power over an entity when the
Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to
direct the relevant activities, i.e. activities that significantly
affect the entity’s returns.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(a) Consolidation (Cont'd)

158

When assessing control, the Group considers its potential
voting rights as well as potential voting rights held by
other parties. A potential voting right is considered only if
the holder has the practical ability to exercise that right.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which
control is transferred to the Group. They are de-
consolidated from the date the control ceases.

The gain or loss on the disposal of a subsidiary that
results in a loss of control represents the difference
between (i) the fair value of the consideration of the
sale plus the fair value of any investment retained in that
subsidiary and (ii) the Company’s share of the net assets
of that subsidiary plus any remaining goodwill and any
accumulated foreign currency translation reserve relating
to that subsidiary.

Intragroup transactions, balances and unrealised profits
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated
unless the transaction provides evidence of an
impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to
ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.

Non-controlling interests represent the equity in
subsidiaries not attributable, directly or indirectly, to
the Company. Non-controlling interests are presented
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of changes in equity within
equity. Non-controlling interests are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income as an allocation of profit or loss and total
comprehensive income for the year between the non-
controlling shareholders and owners of the Company.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling shareholders
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having
a deficit balance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(a)

(b)

Consolidation (Cont’d)

Changes in the Company’s ownership interest in a
subsidiary that do not result in a loss of control are
accounted for as equity transactions (i.e. transactions
with owners in their capacity as owners). The carrying
amounts of the controlling and non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between
the amount by which the non-controlling interests are
adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to
the owners of the Company.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
an investment in a subsidiary is stated at cost less
impairment loss, unless the investment is classified as
held for sale (or included in a disposal group that is
classified as held for sale).

Business combination and goodwill

The acquisition method is used to account for the
acquisition of a subsidiary in a business combination.
The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at the acquisition-date fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued, liabilities incurred
and any contingent consideration. Acquisition-related
costs are recognised as expenses in the periods in which
the costs are incurred and the services are received.
Identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiary in the
acquisition are measured at their acquisition-date fair
values.

The excess of the sum of the consideration transferred
over the Group's share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net
fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over
the sum of the consideration transferred is recognised in
consolidated profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase
which is attributed to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(b) Business combination and goodwill (Cont’'d)

(9]

160

In a business combination achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest in the subsidiary is
remeasured at its acquisition-date fair value and the
resulting gain or loss is recognised in consolidated
profit or loss. The fair value is added to the sum of the
consideration transferred in a business combination to
calculate the goodwill.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary are
initially measured at the non-controlling shareholders’
proportionate share of the net fair value of the
subsidiary’s identifiable assets and liabilities at the
acquisition date.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost
less accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business
combination is allocated to each of the cash-generating
units (“CGUs") or groups of CGUs that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination. Each
unit or group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the Group at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes.
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate a potential impairment. The carrying value of
the CGU containing the goodwill is compared to its
recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use
and the fair value less costs of disposal. Any impairment
is recognised immediately as an expense and is not
subsequently reversed.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of an entity but is not control or joint control
over those policies. The existence and effect of potential
voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible,
including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has
significant influence. In assessing whether a potential
voting right contributes to significant influence, the
holder’s intention and financial ability to exercise or
convert that right are not considered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(c) Associates (Cont'd)

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements by the equity method
and is initially recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and
liabilities of the associate in an acquisition are measured
at their fair values as at the acquisition date. The excess
of the cost of the investment over the Group’s share of
the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is recorded as goodwill which is included
in the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of
the Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable
assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective evidence
that the interest in an associate may be impaired. When
any objective evidence exists, the entire carrying amount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset
by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in
use and fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying
amount. Any impairment loss recognised is not allocated
to any asset, including goodwill, that forms part of the
carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that
impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the
investment subsequently increases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(c) Associates (Cont'd)

162

The Group's share of an associate’s post-acquisition
profits or losses and other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. When the Group’s share of
losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate), the Group does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate. If the associate subsequently
reports profits, the Group resumes recognising its share
of those profits only after its share of the profits equals
the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that
results in a loss of significant influence represents the
difference between (i) the fair value of the consideration
of the sale plus the fair value of any investment retained
in that associate and (ii) the Group’s entire carrying
amount of that associate (including goodwill) and any
related accumulated foreign currency translation reserve.
If an investment in an associate becomes an investment
in a joint venture, the Group continues to apply the
equity method and does not remeasure the retained
interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group’s interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are
also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting
policies of associates have been changed where necessary
to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(d) Foreign currency translation

(i)

(ii)

Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in the financial statements of each of
the Group's entities are measured using the currency
of the primary economic environment in which the
entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the Company’s
functional and presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in each entity’s
financial statements

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into
the functional currency on initial recognition using
the exchange rates prevailing on the transaction
dates. Monetary assets and liabilities in foreign
currencies are translated at the exchange rates at
the end of each reporting period. Gains and losses
resulting from this translation policy are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in foreign currencies are translated using the
exchange rates at the dates when the fair values are
determined.

When a gain or loss on a non-monetary item
is recognised in other comprehensive income,
any exchange component of that gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income. When a
gain or loss on a non-monetary item is recognised in
profit or loss, any exchange component of that gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(d) Foreign currency translation (Cont’'d)

164

(iii) Translation on consolidation

The results and financial position of all the Group
entities that have a functional currency different from
the Company’s presentation currency are translated
into the Company's presentation currency as follows:

— Assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the date of that statement of
financial position;

— Income and expenses are translated at average
exchange rates for the period (unless this
average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on
the transaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are translated at the exchange rates on
the transaction dates); and

— All resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the foreign currency translation reserve.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from
the translation of monetary items that form part of
the net investment in foreign entities are recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in the foreign currency translation reserve. When a
foreign operation is sold, such exchange differences
are reclassified to consolidated profit or loss as part
of the gain or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated at
the closing rate.

\

4, T E=

g

i
g

TR (88

(d) S E (&)
(i) FEARFEE

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2021

D EBEARFZ2IEE T
E’Jﬁ’ilﬁ‘ﬁ"l—ﬁﬁfﬁ’]%f*&ﬁﬁ‘*
ARG IRIAT T ABE /AR
M58 :

- REMBRRAKRZIINEENR
BERMBINE B HNKT

PERMBE

- WA R IR E Rk
B (RIFFHERLIFFHER
%*EEffﬁﬁ,%%E’]é\ﬁ%’ﬂ
BoEZBRAT WARMX
BERRXZEANERBRE)
K&

- MAEBEEEMELEZENE

i 22 TE e 2k R AR 6 X O B AR
BRER-

RERE AR BB E BRI
f%Z&A@ﬁ—ﬂ EONSE el
Eﬁ?i%@ﬁ%%%ﬁ@%ﬁ

WHER WRINEBREREZR
AeEBHEBIINERE ZFER

ZBRENOBEEFRAET EAL
WS EEN— 2D

WEBIEBMELENEERR
FEARORSBINERNEE
kBE TRETHEXRBKRE-



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESFTHE ()

(CONT'D)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (e) ME-BERRZE

Property, plant and equipment are held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes. Property, plant and
equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost, less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other
repairs and maintenance are recognised in profit or loss
during the period in which they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated at rates sufficient to write off their cost less
their residual value over its estimated useful life on a
straight-line basis. The principal annual rates are as
follows:

Freehold land Not depreciated
Buildings 40 years
Leasehold improvements The shorter of remaining
lease term and
useful life
Plant, machinery and 3 to 10 years
equipment
Office and other equipment 3 to 8 years
Furniture and fixtures 4 to 10 years

Motor vehicles and yachts 5 to 6 years
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Cont’d)

(f)

166

The residual values, useful lives and depreciation method
are reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset,
and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether
the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time
in exchange for consideration. Control is conveyed where
the customer has both the right to direct the use of the
identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

(i) The Group as a lessee

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and
non-lease component(s), the Group has elected not
to separate non-lease components and accounts
for each lease component and any associated non-
lease components as a single lease component for all
leases.

At the lease commencement date, the Group
recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability,
except for short-term leases that have a lease term
of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets.
When the Group enters into a lease in respect of
a low-value asset, the Group decides whether to
capitalise the lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The
lease payments associated with those leases which
are not capitalised are recognised as an expense on a
systematic basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara I IE RN

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESFTHE ()
(CONT'D)
(f) Leases (Cont’d) (f) A& (&)

(i) The Group as a lessee (Cont’d) (i) XEBERERHBEA ()

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is
initially recognised at the present value of the lease
payments payable over the lease term, discounted
using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that
rate cannot be readily determined, using a relevant
incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition,
the lease liability is measured at amortised cost and
interest expense is calculated using the effective
interest method. Variable lease payments that do
not depend on an index or rate are not included in
the measurement of the lease liability and hence are
charged to profit or loss in the accounting period in
which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease
is capitalised is initially measured at cost, which
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability
plus any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, and any initial direct costs
incurred. Where applicable, the cost of the right-
of-use assets also includes an estimate of costs to
dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it
is located, discounted to their present value, less
any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset
is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably
certain to obtain ownership of the underlying leased
assets at the end of the lease term are depreciated
from commencement date to the end of the useful
life. Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated
useful life and the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(f) Leases (Cont'd)

168

(i) The Group as a lessee (Cont’d)

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted
under HKFRS 9 and initially measured at fair value.
Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included
in the cost of right-of-use assets.

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a
change in future lease payments arising from a
change in an index or rate, or there is a change in
the Group's estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or
there is a change arising from the reassessment of
whether the Group will be reasonably certain to
exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

The lease liability is also remeasured when there is a
change in the scope of a lease or the consideration
for a lease that is not originally provided for in the
lease contract (“lease modification”) that is not
accounted for as a separate lease. In this case the
lease liability is remeasured based on the revised lease
payments and lease term using a revised discount
rate at the effective date of the modification. The
only exceptions are any rent concessions which
arose as a direct consequence of the COVID-19
pandemic and which satisfied the conditions set out
in paragraph 46B of HKFRS 16. In such cases, the
group took advantage of the practical expedient set
out in paragraph 46A of HKFRS 16 and recognised
the change in consideration as if it were not a lease
modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(f) Leases (Cont'd)
(ii) The Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at
lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease
or an operating lease. A lease is classified as a finance
lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to the ownership of an underlying
assets to the lessee. If this is not the case, the lease is
classified as an operating lease.

(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets
are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible
assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over
the useful economic life and assessed for impairment
whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.
The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are
amortised from the date they are available for use and
their useful lives are as follows:

Wine membership 5 years
Copyright 10 years
Domain name 15 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the
cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are
not amortised. The useful life of an intangible asset
with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to
be supportable. If not, the change in the useful life
assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a
prospective basis.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(h) Inventories

()

170

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-
out basis. Net realisable value is based on estimated
selling prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to
completion and disposal.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

Contract asset is recognised when the Group recognises
revenue before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the
contract. Contract assets are assessed for expected credit
losses (“ECL") in accordance with the policy set out in
note 4(aa) and are reclassified to receivables when the
right to the consideration has become unconditional.

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the Group recognises the related
revenue. A contract liability would also be recognised
if the group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration before the Group recognizes the related
revenue. In such cases, a corresponding receivable would
also be recognised.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net
contract asset or a net contract liability is presented. For
multiple contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities
of unrelated contracts are not presented on a net basis.

When the contract includes a significant financing
component, the contract balance includes interest
accrued under the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara I IE RN

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, TESATHE (B)

(CONT'D)
(j) Recognition and derecognition of financial () BRARAKLBEIAEWMIA
instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position when
the Group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets and
financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss
("FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets
or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire,
or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to
another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership and
continues to control the transferred asset, the Group
recognises its retained interest in the asset and an
associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If
the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards
of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also
recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds
received.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)
(j) Recognition and derecognition of financial

(k)

172

instruments (Cont’d)

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable, including any
non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis.
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of
financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace. All recognised financial assets are measured
subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or
fair value, depending on the classification of the financial
assets.

Debt investments

Debt investments held by the Group are classified into
one of the following measurement categories:

— amortised cost, if the investment is held for the
collection of contractual cash flows which represent
solely payments of principal and interest. Interest
income from the investment is calculated using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara I IE RN

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESFTHE ()

(CONT'D)

(k) Financial assets (Cont'd)

(k) ERMEE (&)

Debt investments (Cont’d)

— fair value through other comprehensive income
("FVTOCI") - recycling, if the contractual cash
flows of the investment comprise solely payments
of principal and interest and the investment is held
within a business model whose objective is achieved
by both the collection of contractual cash flows and
sale. Changes in fair value are recognised in other
comprehensive income, except for the recognition
in profit or loss of expected credit losses, interest
income (calculated using the effective interest
method) and foreign exchange gains and losses.
When the investment is derecognised, the amount
accumulated in other comprehensive income is
recycled from equity to profit or loss.

— FVTPL if the investment does not meet the criteria
for being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI
(recycling). Changes in the fair value of the
investment (including interest) are recognised in profit
or loss.

Equity investments

An investment in equity securities is classified as FVTPL
unless the equity investment is not held for trading
purposes and on initial recognition of the investment the
Group makes an election to designate the investment at
FVTOCI (non-recycling) such that subsequent changes in
fair value are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Such elections are made on an instrument-by-instrument
basis, but may only be made if the investment meets the
definition of equity from the issuer’s perspective. Where
such an election is made, the amount accumulated in
other comprehensive income remains in the fair value
reserve (non-recycling) until the investment is disposed
of. At the time of disposal, the amount accumulated
in the fair value reserve (non-recycling) is transferred to
retained earnings. It is not recycled through profit or
loss. Dividends from an investment in equity securities,
irrespective of whether classified as at FVTPL or FVTOCI,
are recognised in profit or loss as other income.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

)

Accounts receivable and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the Group has an
unconditional right to receive consideration. A right to
receive consideration is unconditional if only the passage
of time is required before payment of that consideration
is due. If revenue has been recognised before the group
has an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset.

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less allowance for credit losses.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

(n)

(o)

174

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on
hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value, having been within three months of maturity
at acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group's cash
management are also included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the consolidated
statement of cash flow. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECL.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified
according to the substance of the contractual
arrangements entered into and the definitions of a
financial liability and an equity instrument under HKFRSs.
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. The accounting policies
adopted for specific financial liabilities and equity
instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

Hang Tai Yue Group Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2021

\

4, T E=

() BYERE

g

i
g

TR (88

R B L th B WX

PN &2 B 8 75 WA A (B A B R 1T A2 A
By - T 8 B USRI = fisd 11 2 BB s ) 1
7 B & 5 73 5 58 A + B R £ 8
B SEGRSE -WMEARNEE A E
R R BERAEMEE#ER A
BEINRAENEE-

& U 3R TR 5K B IR R ORI B G A R
BB BB A -

mMBRERERFLTIER

RehkERE2EEBRRITEFE
ReE FHRRIBITREMES BEED
EEIERC AR AIRER E RS E A
e BEEZHEREUMEBEA
E=EARNIBENEHRREERE -
mExeBHeRERME BekEH
ReBENBEAEREREEREK
AEBREEE—HoMRITESZ
RekERBE2BERBHEESSE
TR -

(n) ERBEERKRATA

TREBERERANTANREBEMAEIZA
MRBEZ AR R BB HREERIR
Térﬂ%ﬁ&ﬁxzﬁl,ﬁZm% DR
$IE7%E§HHEA$EIZ‘“TW#EH
ERNEETHBRHERNTWN

/\%’] METEeBREEMRATARK
MEZETBUERE N T X o
(o) BE

BENSRATEMRFELNZ S
B AR RE R E AR PR SR R KR
BRAEE

RIEREEERIEGENGEBENLS
FEEERESHEEZD12EA - A
1ﬁ4§/\*ﬁ7\é\i’7mb§j}ﬁfﬁ °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(p) Convertible loans

Convertible loans which entitle the holder to convert
the loans into equity instruments, other than into a
fixed number of equity instruments at a fixed conversion
price, are regarded as combined instruments consisting
of a liability and derivative components. At the date
of issue, the fair value of the derivative components
are determined by using an option pricing model;
this amount is carried as derivative liability that is
subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss until extinguished on conversion or redemption. The
remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the liability
component and is carried as a liability at amortised cost
using the effective interest method until extinguished on
conversion or redemption.

Transaction costs, if any, are apportioned between the
liability and derivative components of the convertible
loans based on the allocation of proceeds to the liability
and derivative components on initial recognition. The
portion related to the derivative component is expensed
immediately.

(q) Trade and other payables

(r)

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at their
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method unless the effect of
discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are
stated at cost.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidence a
residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the
Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of
direct issue costs.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(s) Derivative financial instruments and hedge

176

accounting

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date
a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each
reporting period.

An embedded derivative is a component of a hybrid
contract that also includes a non-derivative host — with
the effect that some of the cash flows of the combined
instrument vary in a way similar to a stand-alone
derivative.

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts with a
financial asset host within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not
separated. The entire hybrid contract is classified and
subsequently measured as either amortised cost or fair
value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts with hosts
that are not financial assets within the scope of HKFRS 9
are treated as separate derivatives when they meet the
definition of a derivative, their risks characteristics are not
closely related to those of the host contracts and the host
contracts are not measured at FVTPL.

If the hybrid contract is a quoted financial liability, instead
of separating the embedded derivative, the Group
generally designates the whole hybrid contract at FVTPL.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara I IE RN

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESFTHE ()

(CONT'D)

(t) Revenue recognition (t) WARER

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the promised
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group a significant financial benefit for more than one
year, revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability under
the effective interest method. For a contract where the
period between the payment by the customer and the
transfer of the promised goods or services is one year or
less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Mobile internet cultural business and provision of IT
services and maintenance services

Provision of IT services

Revenue from rendering of IT services is recognised
over time using an input method to measure progress
towards complete performance of the services,
measured by reference to the proportion of work
completed to date to the estimated total work of the
relevant contract.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(t) Revenue recognition (Cont'd)

178

Re

(a)

(b)

venue from contracts with customers (Cont’d)

Mobile internet cultural business and provision of IT
services and maintenance services (Cont’d)

Maintenance services

Revenue from provision of maintenance services
is recognised over the maintenance period
on a straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group. Advances are normally
required before rendering the services.

Retail commerce through network media

Revenue from retail commerce through network
media is recognised at a point in time when control
of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the promised consideration to
which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.

Provision of hospitality and related services in
Australia

Revenue from hotel accommodation and other
ancillary services is recognised over time in the
accounting period in which the control of the
products or the services are transferred to the
customer because the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the
Group's performance as it performs.

Revenue from sales of hotel supplies and food
and beverage in hotel business and food and
restaurants operation is recognised at a point in time
when the control of the products or the services
is transferred to the customers, being when the
products are delivered to the customers, there is no
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customers'’
acceptance of the products and the customer has
obtained the physical possession or the legal title
of the products and the Group has present right to
payment and the collection of the consideration is
probable. The Group controls the products in these
transactions and, therefore, the Group is the principal
and revenue is recognised on a gross basis.

4. TR EFTHCR (8)
(1) BWARER (8
EEEHBA (&)

(a)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(t)

(u)

Revenue recognition (Cont’'d)
Revenue from other sources
Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised at the time when the
shareholders’ right to receive the dividend have been
established.

Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the
effective interest method. For credit-impaired financial
assets, the effective interest rate is applied to the
amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset.

Employee benefits
Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave and long service
leave are recognised when they accrue to employees. A
provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave
and long service leave as a result of services rendered by
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Pension scheme

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for
all of its employees in Hong Kong. Contributions are
made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions
vest fully with the employees when it made contribution
to the MPF Scheme. No forfeited contribution is available
to reduce the contribution payable in future years.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(u) Employee benefits (Cont’'d)

180

Pension scheme (Cont’d)

The employees of the Company's subsidiaries which operate
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") are required
to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the
local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to
the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance
with the rules of the central pension scheme. No forfeited
contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable
in future years.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries in
Australia are entitled to benefit from the employee’s
complying superannuation plan on retirement, disability
or death. These subsidiaries are responsible for making
contributions to the plan at a certain percentage of
employees’ wages or salaries. The subsidiaries’ legal or
constructive obligation is limited to these contributions,
which are recognised as an expense as they become
payable. No forfeited contribution is available to reduce
the contribution payable in future years.

The Company’s subsidiary in Indonesia provides defined
post-employment benefits to its employees in accordance
with Indonesia’s local labour law No. 11 of 2020 on Job
Creation. The liability recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position in respect of the defined
benefit pension plans is the present value of the defined
benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period less
the fair value of plan assets (if any). The defined benefit
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries
using the projected unit credit method. The present
value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using
interest rates of government bonds that are denominated
in the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and
that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms
of the related pension obligation. Actuarial gains and
losses arising from experience adjustments and changes
in actuarial assumptions charged or credited to equity
in other comprehensive income in the period in which
they arise and will not be reclassified to profit or loss.
Past-service costs and net interest on the defined benefit
liability are recognised immediately in profit or loss. Gains
or losses on the curtailment or settlement of a defined
benefit plan are recognised in profit or loss when the
curtailment or settlement occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(u) Employee benefits (Cont’d)

(v)

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
the dates when the Group can no longer withdraw the
offer of those benefits, and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs and involves the payment of
termination benefits.

Share-based payments

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments
to certain employees. Equity-settled share-based
payments are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non-market based vesting conditions.

The Group issues equity-settled share-based payments to
certain directors, employees and consultants.

Equity-settled share-based payments to directors and
employees are measured at the fair value (excluding the
effect of non-market based vesting conditions) of the
equity instruments at the date of grant. The fair value
determined at the grant date of the equity-settled share-
based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over
the vesting period, based on the Group’s estimate of
shares that will eventually vest and adjusted for the effect
of non-market based vesting conditions.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(v)

Share-based payments (Cont’d)

Equity-settled share-based payments to consultants are
measured at the fair value of the services rendered or, if
the fair value of the services rendered cannot be reliably
measured, at the fair value of the equity instruments
granted. The fair value is measured at the date the Group
receives the services and is recognised as an expense.

(w) Government grants

(x)

182

A government grant is recognised when there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to it and that the grant will be
received.

Government grants relating to income are deferred and
recognised in profit or loss over the period to match
them with the costs they are intended to compensate.

Government grants that become receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to
the Group with no future related costs are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they become
receivable.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which
are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets, until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. Investment income earned on the
temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from
the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESFTHE ()

(CONT'D)

(x) Borrowing costs (Cont’d)

(x) EEKA (&)

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and
used for the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset,
the amount of borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation
is determined by applying a capitalisation rate to the
expenditures on that asset. The capitalisation rate is the
weighted average of the borrowing costs applicable to
the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding during
the period, other than borrowings made specifically for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asses. Any specific
borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset
is ready for its intended use or sale is included in the
general borrowing pool for calculation of capitalisation
rate on general borrowings.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

(y) Taxation

Income tax represents the sum of the current tax and
deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for
the year. Taxable profit differs from profit recognised
in profit or loss because of items of income or expense
that are taxable or deductible in other years and items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(y) Taxation (Cont'd)

184

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding
tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all
taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which deductible
temporary differences, unused tax losses or unused tax
credits can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises from
goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a
business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is
able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to the
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to
be recovered.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period when the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, TESATHE (B)

(CONT'D)

(y) Taxation (Cont'd) (y) B8 (&)

The measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the
manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount
of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-
use assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable
to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies
HKAS 12 requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis.
Excess of depreciation on right-of-use assets over the
lease payments for the principal portion of lease liabilities
resulting in net deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and
liabilities on a net basis.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(z) Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life
or that are not yet available for use are reviewed for
impairment annually and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be
recoverable.

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are
reviewed at each reporting date for indications of
impairment and where an asset is impaired, it is written
down as an expense through the consolidated statement
of profit or loss to its estimated recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that
are largely independent of those from other assets or
groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount
is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs. Recoverable amount is the higher of value
in use and the fair value less costs of disposal of the
individual asset or the cash-generating unit.

Value in use is the present value of the estimated future
cash flows of the asset/cash-generating unit. Present
values are computed using pre-tax discount rates that
reflect the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset/cash-generating unit whose impairment is being
measured.

Impairment losses for cash-generating units are allocated
first against the goodwill of the unit and then pro rata
amongst the other assets of the cash-generating unit.
Subsequent increases in the recoverable amount caused
by changes in estimates are credited to profit or loss to
the extent that they reverse the impairment.

(aa)Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

186

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected
credit losses on investments in debt instruments that
are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease
receivables, trade receivables and contract assets. The
amount of expected credit losses is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara I IE RN

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESFTHE ()

(CONT'D)
(aERMEERSNEERE (&)

(aa)Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(Cont’d)

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables, contract assets and lease receivables. The
expected credit losses on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group's
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that
are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current as well as the
forecast direction of conditions at the reporting date,
including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL when there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition (stage 2) or credit-
impaired (stage 3). However, if the credit risk on the
financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance
for that financial instrument at an amount equal to
12-month ECL (stage 1).

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that
will result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL represents the portion of lifetime ECL that
is expected to result from default events on a financial
instrument that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

188

(CONT'D)

(aa)Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(Cont'd)
Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial
instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. Forward-looking information considered
includes the future prospects of the industries in which
the Group’s debtors operate, obtained from economic
expert reports, financial analysts, governmental bodies,
relevant think-tanks and other similar organisations, as
well as consideration of various external sources of actual
and forecast economic information that relate to the
Group's core operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal
credit rating;

— significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk for a particular financial instrument;

— existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to
meet its debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara I IE RN

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. TESFTHE ()

(CONT'D)

(aa)Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

(aERMEERSNEERE (&)

(Cont’d)
Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

— an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same debtor; and

— an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial
asset has increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable
information that demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to
have low credit risk if:

(i) the financial instrument has a low risk of default,

(i) the debtor has a strong capacity to meet its
contractual cash flow obligations in the near term,
and

(iii) adverse changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(aa)Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

190

(Cont’d)
Significant increase in credit risk (Cont’d)

The Group considers a financial asset to have low
credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of
“investment grade” in accordance with the globally
understood definition or if an external rating is not
available, the asset has an internal rating of “performing”.
Performing means that the counterparty has a strong
financial position and there is no past due amounts.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the
Group becomes a party to the irrevocable commitment
is considered to be the date of initial recognition for
the purposes of assessing the financial instrument
for impairment. In assessing whether there has been
a significant increase in the credit risk since initial
recognition of a financial guarantee contracts, the Group
considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor
will default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara I IE RN

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, TESATHE (B)

(CONT'D)
(aa)Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets (a)eMEERSNEERME (&)
(Cont'd)

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an
event of default for internal credit risk management
purposes as historical experience indicates that
receivables that meet either of the following criteria are
generally not recoverable:

— when there is a breach of financial covenants by the
counterparty; or

— information developed internally or obtained from
external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely
to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full
(without taking into account any collaterals held by
the Group).

Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate that a more
lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

— significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
counterparty;

— a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

— the lender(s) of the counterparty, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the counterparty’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the counterparty
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider;
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(aa)Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets

192

(Cont’d)
Credit-impaired financial assets (Cont’d)

— it is becoming probable that the counterparty will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

— the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, including when the debtor has been placed
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when the
amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs
sooner. Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice where
appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit
or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of expected credit losses is a function
of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and the
exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data
adjusted by forward looking information as described
above. As for the exposure at default, for financial assets,
this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount
at the reporting date; for financial guarantee contracts,
the exposure includes the amount drawn down as at the
reporting date, together with any additional amounts
expected to be drawn down in the future by default
date determined based on historical trend, the Group's
understanding of the specific future financing needs
of the debtors, and other relevant forward-looking
information.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ara I IE RN

For the year ended 31 December 2021

BE _F_—F+_H=1—HIFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4, TESATHE (B)

(CONT'D)
(aa)Impairment of financial assets and contracts assets (AtMEERESHNEERME (&)
(Cont'd)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Cont’d)

For financial assets, the expected credit loss is estimated
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that
are due to the Group in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the original effective interest rate. For a
lease receivable, the cash flows used for determining the
expected credit losses is consistent with the cash flows
used in measuring the lease receivable in accordance
with HKFRS 16.

For a financial guarantee contract, as the Group is
required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of
the instrument that is guaranteed, the expected loss
allowance is the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts
that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the
debtor or any other party.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a
financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL
in the previous reporting period, but determines at the
current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime
ECL are no longer met, the Group measures the loss
allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at
the current reporting date, except for assets for which
simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss
allowance account, except for investments in debt
instruments that are measured at FVTOCI, for which
the loss allowance is recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the investment revaluation
reserve, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the
financial asset in the statement of financial position.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONT'D)

(bb) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a present legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable
estimate can be made. Where the time value of money is
material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow is
remote. Possible obligations, whose existence will only be
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one
or more future events are also disclosed as contingent
liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.

(cc) Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the
reporting period are adjusting events and are reflected
in the consolidated financial statements. Events after
the reporting period that are not adjusting events are
disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial
statements when material.

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

In the process of applying the accounting policies, the
directors have made the following judgements that have the
most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements (apart from those involving
estimations, which are dealt with below).

(a) Going concern

194

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis, the validity of
which depends upon the successful outcomes of the
Group's plans and measures to strengthen its capital
base and liquidity. Details are explained in note 2 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY
ESTIMATES (CONT'D)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Cont’d)

(b) Significant increase in credit risk

As explained in note 4(aa), ECL are measured as an
allowance equal to 12-month ECL for stage 1 assets, or
lifetime ECL for stage 2 or stage 3 assets. An asset moves
to stage 2 when its credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition. HKFRS 9 does not define what
constitutes a significant increase in credit risk. In assessing
whether the credit risk of an asset has significantly
increased the Group takes into account qualitative and
guantitative reasonable and supportable forward looking
information.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are discussed below.

(a) Impairment of property plant and equipment, other
non-financial assets and rights-of-use assets

Determining whether property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and other non-current assets are
impaired requires an estimation of the value in use and
fair value less cost of disposal of the cash-generating
units to which the property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and other non-current assets have been
allocated. The calculation of value in use requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the cash-generating units and a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value.

Furthermore, the estimated future cash flows and
discount rate are subject to higher degree of estimation
uncertainties in current year due to uncertainties on how
the COVID-19 pandemic may progress and evolve and
volatility in financial market.
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5. CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS AND KEY

ESTIMATES (CONT'D)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Cont’d)

(a) Impairment of property plant and equipment, other

(b) Impairment of goodwill

196

non-financial assets and rights-of-use assets (Cont’d)

Calculation of fair value by market approach requires
valuation techniques which used prices and other relevant
information generated by market transactions involving
identical and comparable group of assets and liabilities
or business, a suitable discount rate and marketability
discount rate.

The carrying amounts of property plant and equipment,
rights-of-use assets and other non-financial assets as at
31 December 2021 were approximately HK$159,699,000
(2020: HK$182,368,000), HK$11,898,000 (2020:
HK$66,688,000), and HK$126,885,000 (2020:
HK$85,689,000) respectively.

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the business value under value in use and
fair value less cost of disposal of the cash-generating
unit to which goodwill has been allocated. The value in
use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating
unit and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the
present value. Where the actual future cash flows are less
than the expected or change in facts and circumstances
which results in d